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Europe Arab Bank plc
Strategic Report

Cautionary Statement

This Strategic Report has been prepared solely to pravide information to the shareholder to assess how the
Directors have performed their duty to promote the success of Europe Arab Bank ple. The Strategic Report
contains certain forward-looking statements. These statements are muade by the Directors in good faith
based on the information available to them up to the time of their approval of this report and such
statements should be treated with caution due to the inherent uncertainties, including both economic and
business risk factors, underlying such forward-looking information.

Overview

Europe Arab Bank plc (“EAB”, “EAB plc” or “the Bank”) provides as its core businesses Corporate &
Institutional Banking (“CIB”), Private Banking and Treasury services to its clients, focusing on business
transacted between the UK, Europe & North America and the Middle East & North Africa {“MENA").

EAB plc is a wholly-owned subsidiary of Arab Bank pic [“the parent”), through which it has access to an
extensive banking network in the MENA region. Arab Bank is the largest Arab banking network, with over
600 branches spanning five continents through Arab Bank plc branches, subsidiaries, its sister company and
associates.

During 2020, as part of EAB plc’s preparations far the exit of the UK from the European Union {(EU}, the
assets and liabilities of the European branches of €EAB plc located in Paris, Cannes, Frankfurt and Milan
were transferred to a newly established wholly owned EU banking subsidiary of EAB pic, Europe Arab Bank
SA (“EAB SA”)1. EAB SA is authorised and regulated by the French banking regulator, the Autorité de
Contrdle Prudentiel et de Résolution (ACPR). The EAB group comprising EAB plc and EAB SA operates
through six offices in four European countries, focusing on business transacted between Europe & North
America and the Middle East & North Africa (“MENA”).Strategy and objectives

EAB's strategic objectives remain focused on the “Bridge to MENA” proposition. Our strategic goal is to
remain a lean, customer focussed, niche bank that presents a seamless interface to the Arab Bank Group
for customers in the UK, Europe, North America and MENA.

We act as an integral part of the Arab Bank Group and complemaenit the Graup’s footprint by extending
coverage to and for European & North American clients into MENA and vice versa.

We are a niche bank, focused on delivering excellence and value to our clients and business partners, and
generating sustainable profits for the sharenholder.

Vision and values

We aim to be recognised as a preferred bank of choice for clients active in the UK, Europe & North America
and the MENA.

Our business is founded on a rich international heritage and experience, which we proactively share to the
benefit of our clients. We use our local knowledge, expertise and understanding of the economic, political,
social and commercial environments in our key markets to support the needs of our clients. Qur clients
come first; we are dedicated to working with them to build long term relationships and achieve lasting
success.

Business Model

Woe operate a simple business model founded on three main business units, offering high service levels and
building long-term relationships with clients and other stakeholders. We, inclusive of our subsidiary in

1 Incorporated in France as a Société Anonyme with registered no, 844 842 278 R.C.S. Paris. Due to French legal requirements, one
share in EAB SA is owned by another member of the Arab Bank Group, AB Consclidated Investments Limited.
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France, Europe Arab Bank SA, have offices in key strategic European centres: Landen, Paris, Frankfurt, and
Milan.

The key activities of the three main business units are:
Corporate and institutional Banking

Corporate and Institutional Banking provides banking services to European, North American and MENA
based companies and financial institutions. Our knowledge, expertise and coverage in MENA enables us to
add value te our European and North American clients doing business in the Arab world. Similarly, our
presence in and access to key financial centres in kurope allows us to serve our MENA based clients in
Europe.

Country and product focussed teams work together to support clients across a wide range of markets and
industry sectors. We also assist our clients in Trade Finance and Project Finance. Clients benefit from a
comprehensive suite of products and services including short and medium term advances, Export Credit
Agency (ECA) backed financings, guarantees, letters of credit, treasury products and bespoke solutions
designed to meet specific business and industry needs.

Private Banking

Private Banking’s key function is to provide banking services to high net worth individual clients through
our offices in London and Paris (EAB SA}. Our team of international professionals, with Arab world and
European experience, pravide a service based on financial expertise, respect, trust and cultural
understanding.

In addition to access to a range of current and saving accounts and deposits, we provide real estate
lending, Non-UK/EEA resident mortgages, securities dealing, foreign exchange dealing and safe deposit box
services. Our preducts are tailored to meet the needs of our clients.

Treasury

Treasury is responsible for the day-to-day management of assets and liabilities, interest rate risk, foreign
exchange risk and liquidity management. In additien, Treasury provides a range of financial products in
money markets, capital markets, foreign exchange and derivative markets which can be tailored to meet
the needs of the private and corporate clients and assist them in managing their risks.
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Financial Review

EAB’s net profit after taxation for 2021 was €0.8mn (2020: €0.5mn). The 2021 Income Statement below
summarises the results of CAB’s UK operations.

Operating Profit (€mn) 2021 2020
Net interest & similar income 223 22,5
Net fee & commission income 6.3 7.1
Other income (net) 5.0 44
Net Operating Income 33.6 34
Total Operating Expenses (31.6) (29)
Operating profit before impairment loss expense and tax expense as 2.0 5

reported in the Income Statement

impairment loss expense (1.6} (4.5}
Tax (charge)/credit 0.4 -
Underlying Opearating Profit for the year 0.8 0.5

Net interest & similar income (“NII”) and net fee & commission income for 2021 have been slightly lower
with reduced business activity amidst COVID-19 pandemic and low interest rates.

Operating expenses have been impacted by strengthening of Sterling in addition te increased employee
costs.

Impairment related charges at have been significantly lower compared to prior year reflecting on quality of
assets despite economic uncertainty witnessed during the year
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Statement of Financial Position {€mn) 2021 2020
Cash and balances with banks and sister companies 577 746
Securities 615 586
Loans and advances to customers 920 890
Other assets 152 133
Total assets 2,264 2,355
Deposits by and due to banks and sister companies 669 835
Deposits by customers 1,165 1,089
Other liabilities 27 54
Total liabilities less Tier 2 capital 1,861 1,978
Tier 2 capital 110 102
Shareholder’s equity 293 275
Total capital and liabilities 2,264 2,355
Customer related contingent liabilities and commitments 622 738

Cash and balances with banks and securities principally relate to Treasury’s assets and are primarily for
liquidity purposes as well as generating a return on surplus liquidity. The securities balance largely
comprises highly rated sovereign and multilateral institutional holdings for liguidity purposes and highly
rated financial institutions.

Cash and balances with banks and sister companies

m Central Banks = Central Banks
mFnancal instrutions m Financial institutions

w Arat Bank Group entities ® Arab Bank Group entities
8 Subtidiares # Subsidiaries
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Securities

mAAAL TO A- w §38+To B- B AAA+TO A- mBBS8+ToB- wmUnrated

Loans and advances to customers largely comprises of corporate lending to MENA active clients, project
financing, real estate lending {residential and commercial) for prime UK properties and short-term trade
related discounting and financing facilities.

Loans and advances to customers by sector

m Real exxate and hotels % Real estate and hotels
o Industry and mnng ® Industry and mining
w Transportation # Transportation

# Other # Other

Loans and advances to customers by geography

- UK & Furope exc. UK

s UK wmEurope exc UK wmArab Countries B Arab Countries s Others
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Deposits by customers remain diversified between corporates, sovereign institutions, small and medium
enterprises and high net-worth individuals having strong relationships with EAB. The Bank maintained
significant focus on maintaining strong liquidity during the year resulting an increase in deposits.

Depaosits by customers

w iIndaiduals # Individuais

w Corporate & othars m Corporate & others

® Government & public seCtor % Government & public sector

Capital of the Company comprises equity and USS$ denominated perpetual subordinated notes (Tier 2
capital}. The Company maintains healthy capital ratio as discussed further later.

Customer related contingent liabilities and commitments largely comprise unfunded assets arising out of
our Trade Finance business, and include letters of credit and guarantees and undrawn commitments.
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Other Key Perfarmance Indicators

EAB uses other Key Performance Indicators {“KPIs”) to identify and manitor trends in the performance of

the strategies employed. These KPIs are reviewed on a regular basis and form an integral part of the

decision making process. The KPIs generally reflect an improvement in EAB’s performance compared to

2020,

KPI

Loan to customer
deposit ratic

Capital adequacy ratio

Commaon equity tier 1
capital ratio

Coverage ratio

Adjusted cost to
Incorne Ratio

Return on opening
equity

Return on assets

Description

Represents EAB’s ability to fund its lending from
core deposits generated

Measures EAB’s financial strength, expressed as a
ratio of total capital to risk weighted assets

Measures EAB’s financial strength, expressed as a
ratio of common equity tier 1 capital to risk
weighted assets

Reflects EAB's provisians against classified
assets* (excluding collateral)

Measures operational efficiency of the business
and the returns generated

Measures EAB's return generated on
shareholder's equity

Measures return generated on total assets

* Classified assets are the lowest internally rated exposures.

2021
79%

22%

16%

34%

94%

0.26%

0.03%

2020
82%

22%

15%

32%

75%

0.19%

0.02%



Europe Arab Bank plc
Strategic Report (continued)

Principal Risks and Uncertainties

EAB’s risk appetite is articulated in the Board of Directars’ approved Risk Appetite Statements:

EAB's appetite is for doing business that is primarily aligned to the core ‘Bridge to MENA’ strategy and

vision;

EAB takes a conservative approach to credit risk and will not sacrifice credit quality in order to make

short-term gains;

EAB takes a conservative approach to market risk and will not take unnecessary risks in order to make

short-term gains;

EAB closely manages and controls all liquidity and funding risks in order to strangly protect our

depositors;

EAB maintains healthy capital ratios, with headroom over any regulatory constraints;

EAB has limited appetite for operational losses that may arise from doing business;

EAB has no tolerance for regulatory breaches or delays in regufatory reporting;

The Bank has zero appetite for unfair customer outcomes arising from any part of the customer
lifecycle, including product design, sales, service and strategy and culture; and

The Bank has no tolerance for ineffective financial crime systems and controls and no appetite for any
relationship with parties that do not comply with our Financial Crime policies and controls.

For each type of risk, there are also measures of the preferred or target amount of that risk, and/or the
maximum capacity that can be borne by EAB.

The principal risks are discussed further below including the techniques applied to manage and mitigate
those risks.

Risk
Credit

EAB faces credit and counterparty risk across its
business units, particularly in CIB and Private
Banking. EAB advances loans and off balance sheet
facilities to a range of corporate and individual
borrowers. In addition, surplus funds are placed
with, or invasted in, securities issued by other
financial institutions, sovereign or multilateral
institutions. A limited number of derivative
contracts are also executed to hedge interest rate
and foreign exchange risks through the Treasury
business.

Risk Mitigation and Management

EAB has a policy of dealing with counterparties
considered creditworthy in its assessment and
obtaining sufficient collateral, where appropriate, to
mitigate the risk of financial loss from default.

EAB normally concentrates its lending efforts in areas
in which it has competitive advantage, knowledge of
the particular market and good understanding of the
commercial and political risks involved within those
markets.

Credit risk is managed by establishing limits for
individual counterparty, country, industry and
transactions with related parties. Limit monitoring is
undertaken on a regular basis.

EAB has also adopted a credit grading system to
facilitate monitoring the quality of the overall portfolio
and individual exposures, and changes therein over
time. Credit exposures are also stressed regularly. The
Bank’s policy is to recognise an impairment allowance
based on the credit losses expected to arise over the
life of the asset (the lifetime expected credit loss),
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Risk

Liquidity

The risk that EAB does nat have sufficient financial
resources to meet its obligations as they fall due
ofr EAB's business model develops in a way that
causes difficulty in attracting adeguate funding on
reasonable terms. This also includes the risk that
EAB experiences unexpected and/or acute
liquidity shocks.

Risk Mitigation and Management

untess there has been no significant increase in credit
risk since origination, in which case the allowance is
based on the 12 months’ expected credit loss. The
Bank assesses when a significant increase in credit risk
has octurred based on quantitative and qualitative
assessments.

Expected Credit losses {"ECL") have reduced in the
year to 31 December 2021, although uncertainty
remains and we continue to closely monitor COVID-19
impacts. Forbearance levels have decreased from
those observed at the peak of the pandemic.

The economic outlook has improved but the trajectory
in the short to medium terms remains uncertain with
inflationary pressures and potential rising interast
rates.

Further details on loans and advances to customers
and debt securities held are set out in notes 14 and 15
of the financial statements.

Qur approach to credit risk management and
manitoring is outlined in more detail in note 34.

EAB follows a conservative approach to liquidity risk.
EAB manages liquidity risk by maintaining adequate
reserves, a liquidity portfolio, banking facilities and
reserve borrowing facilities and by continuously
monitoring and reviewing actual and forecast cash
flows (both stressed and unstressed).

An assessment of liquidity needs, known as the
Internal Liquidity Adequacy Assessment Process
("ILAAP”), is undertaken at least annually and is
presented to various governance committees for
review, challenge and approval. The ILAAP describes
how liguidity risks are assessed, controlled,
monitored, mitigated and reported and heips the
management determine what might be required to
maintain liquidity assuming certain stressed
conditions. In addition, reverse stress testing is also
performed.

Funding and liquidity risks are reviewed regularly at
each meeting of the Assets and Liabilities Committee
(ALCG).Elevated levels of liquidity have been
maintained during this peried of uncertainty. During
2021, EAB has also expanded the range of funding
sources available.

The minimum amount of regulatory liquidity required
is determined in accardance with the relevant rules

10
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Risk

Market

EAB is exposed to market movements primarily
due to changes in interest rales, foreign currency
exchange rates and also to re-pricing of certain
portfolios of financial instruments other than due
to interest rate risk.

Interest rate risk can pose a threat to EAB’s
earnings, values of its assets and liabilities and
thus its Profit and loss and capital base.

Most of EAB’s activities primarily fall into one of
the three major currencies: Euro, Sterling and US
Dollar. However, there are limited interestsin a
number of other foreign currencies.

Risk Mitigation and Management

and the Individual Liquidity Guidance (“ILG") received
from the regulator. At 31 December 2021, and
throughout the year, EAB's liquidity exceeded the
regulatory requirements.

Market risk is actively managed and monitored
through use of various limits.

EAB is generally averse to market risk and restricts
proprietary market risk positions (other than cashfiow
or position hedges) to outright long bond positions,
small trading foreign exchange positions and limited
interest rate positioning on the yield curve. All other
product types (for example option products,
structured products, etc.) are dealt on a back-to-back,
fully hedged basis and only to satisfy customer
requests.

The traded market risk environment has also been
affected by COVID-19 and its impact on the economy
and driving elevated volatility.

The sensitivity analysis on interest rate exposures
shown in note 35 demonstrates the limited level of
exposure to interest rate and foreign exchange
movements.

11
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Operational

EAB is exposed to various operational risks
through its day-to-day operations, all of which
have the patentiafl to result in financiaf loss or
adverse impact,

Losses typically crystallise as a result of inadequate
or failed internal processes, people, models and
systems, or as a result of external factors.

Impacts to the business, customers, third parties
and the markets in which we operate are
considered within a maturing framework for
resilient end-to-end delivery of critical business
services.

EAB seeks to maintain its operational resilience
through effective management of operational risks,
including by:

sustaining robust eperational risk
management processes, governance and
management information;

identifying key systems, third party
relationships, processes and staff;

appropriate oversight of outsourced systems
and services to other entities including within
Arab Bank Group;

investing in technology to provide reliable
customer service offerings;

attracting, retaining and developing high-
quality staff through the operation of
competitive remuneration and benefit
structures and an inclusive environment that
embraces diversity and recognises behaviours
aligned to our cultural attributes;

investing in cyber security including expertise,
tools and staff engagement;

maintaining focus on personal data
protection;

adopting fraud prevention and detection
capabilities aligned with our risk profile; and

planning strategic and operationai responses
to severe but plausible stress scenarios.

Existing incident and crisis management
capabilities were mabilised upon the
emergence of COVID-19, enabling the business
to sustain operations whilst adjusting to new
ways of working.

Improvements are continuing across the
operational risk framework including further
enhancement of information security
management and strengthening of the Bank’s
operational resilience.

12
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Capital

This is the risk of having insufficient or inadequate
economic or regulatory capital to support EAB’s
risk-taking activities. The risk may also arise from
inadequacies in assessing the overall and future
risks to which EAB may be exposed toon a
stressed basis, leading potentially to a failure to
plan, maintain and raise capital as appropriate.

Also included therein is the risk of insufficient or
inadequate capital to support EAB’s pension
obligations.

Regulatory

EAB operates in a highly regulated environment.
Regulatory and legislative changes or non-
compliance with them have the petential to
significantly impact the financial performance
and/or reputation of EAB. The continuing
regulatory and paolitical focus on the financial
services industry further increases the potential of
material impact from regulatory risk.

EAB maintains an actively managed capital base to
cover risks inherent in the business. The primary
objectives of capital management are to ensure that
EAB complies with regulatory capitaf requirements
and maintains healthy capital ratios in order to
support its business and maximise shareholder’s
value.

EAB manages its capital structure and makes
adjustments to it in light of changes in economic
conditions, regulatory requirements and risk
characteristics of its activities.

An internal assessment of capital needs, {“the
ICAAP™), is undertaken at least annually and is
presented to the various governance committees for
review, challenge and approval. The ICAAP describes
how risks are assessed, controlled, monitored,
mitigated and reported, and helps management
determine what might be required to maintain EAB's
solvency assuming certain stressed conditions. In
addition, reverse stress testing is also performed.

EAB has operated with more than adequate capital
resources to withstand the effects of a severe
economic downturn.

The minimum amount of regulatory capital required is
determined in accordance with the relevant rules and
the Individual Capital Guidance {“ICG") received from
the regulator. At 31 December 2020, and throughout
the year, EAB’s capital exceeded the regulatory
requirements.

EAB actively monitors regulatory and legal compliance
and new developments whilst maintaining a regular
dialogue with relevant regulatory authorities. A
number of projects are underway to meet regulatory
requirements.

EAB believes its simple business model, robust
governance and controls, strang liquidity and capital
position means that it is well placed to adapt to
regulatory changes

I3
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Financial Crime
Financial crime risk is the risk of:

+ Failing to establish systems and controls that
meet [egal and regulatory obligations in
relation to financial crime;

* Becoming involved with criminal or terrorist
property, or entering into arrangements to
facilitate the laundering of criminal or terrorist
property; or

* Falling victim to criminals who exploit EAB’s
products and services.

Climate Risk

The risk to the strategy, viability and financial
soundness of EAB caused by physica! and
transitional impacts resulting from Climate Change
and associated regulatory and societal change.

EAB has ho tolerance for regulatory breaches nor any
relationships with parties that do not comply with our
financial crime policies, procedures, and controls,

We are committed to maintain effective financial
crime systems and controls and continue to look for
ways to enhance our financial crime risk management
framewaork and strengthen the governance processes,
including: developing enhanced risk monitoring and
management capabilities, establishment and
communication of appropriate policies and
procedures, and delivering risk-based training to
employees.

EAB recognises both the transitional and physical
¢limate risks to its portfolic. EAB will assess its
exposure to the following Climate Risks:

*  Transitional Risks: (i) Business model, {ii}
Technalogy, {iii} Regulatory / Policy, (iv}
Market / industry & (v) Medium & Long Term
Strategy to climate neutral.

*  Physical Risks: (i) heat, (i} water, {iii) flood,
(iv) hurricanes, (v) wildfires & (vi) sea level
rise.

EAB recognises the need to reduce the use of fossil
fuels and to support the transition to a low carbon
economy and as such will not enter inte coal business.

Notes 33 to 38 of the financial statements provide further information, the committees with responsibility
for and the policies to manage the key risks including the derivative instruments used. Further details of
EAB’s regulatory capital ratios required under Pillar 3 are published on EAB’s website. The total regulatory
capital reported therein, prepared on a solo-consolidated basis, differs slightfy from the balances shown in
the Statement of Financial Position in light of adjustments in respect of certain reserves.

Regular management information is produced for various EAB committees and for the Board of Directors
to report the risk profife. The Directors are confident that the current risk management structure is
sufficient for identification, monitoring and management of significant financial risks to the business.

Employee Remuneration Policy

EAB’s Remuneration Policy aligns with its husiness strategy, objectives, values and long-term interests and
is in accordance with the regulatory Remuneration Code, being applied in an appropriate proportionate
manner. The Policy promotes sound risk management and requires an appropriate ratio between fixed and

variable remuneration.
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The purpose of the Policy is to:

s  Attract and retain people with the appropriate experience, competencies {technical and behavioural),
knowledge and skills to deliver the strategy and plans;

¢ Incentivise employees to deliver sustained performance consistent with the strategy and objectives
and effective risk management;

* Encourage behaviour consistent with the culture, values and principles of good governance; and

e Deliver remuneration that is affordable and appropriate being in line with market practices and rates,
employment market conditions and EAB’s performance and ability to pay.

Operate a fair and objective pay system, free from gender or other discriminatory bias in line with
Equality Act 2010.

The general principles of the Policy include:

s  Performance will be assessed using pre-determined measures which may be both financial and nen-
financial;

* Performance measures can change year on year to reflect evolving business strategy, objectives and
long-term interests of the firm; and

= The Risk, Compliance and Internal Audit functions will have input into the performance assessment of
Senior Managers, 1o include where these functions have concerns about the behaviour of the
individual(s) in relation to appropriate risk appetite and decisions and actions taken, or the riskiness of
the business undertaken.

Climate Change

EAB recognises that financial services companies have an important part to play in supporting the
transition to a carbon neutral economy and addressing the risks posed by climate change. EAB has been a
leading provider of finance to the renewable energy sector in the MENA region for a number of years,
supporting projects for wind, solar and hydro power developments. EAB is also aware of its responsibility
to protect natural resources and act sustainably and continues to monitor ways to lower energy
consumption, reduce emissions and increase recycling. Risk of financial loss resulting from the physical or
transitional impacts of climate change on the business model is also an emerging risk.

Our climate risk forum now meets regularly to assess and determine our responses to the risks,
opportunities and regulatory developments related to climate change, with oversight from the Chief Risk
Officer and ultimately the Board.

In 2021 the Bank prioritised the establishment of a Climate Risk Framework, in line with the regulatory
expectations on climate risk, as set out in the PRA Supervisary Statement 553/19 'Enhancing banks’ and
insurers’ approaches to rmanaging the financial risks from climate change’. During the year the Board made
the following four strategic high-level commitments:

+ Continue to champion renewable and sustainable finance

« Embed climate into our culture and decision making

= Make our own operations Climate Neutral

e Identify harmful activity and reduce over agreed timeframe

These commitments are underpinned by specific actions, which will continue to be implemented in 2022.
Going forward in 2022 and beyond, EAB will build on these commitments and also establish a commercial
strategy incorporating Climate Financial Risk, which will consider both the threats and opportunities arising
from this risk.

The Bank has an existing portfolio of renewable energy assets and continues to seek similar assets from the
market.

A more detailed disclosure will be incorporated with in the 2021 Pillar 3 disclosure.

IBOR reform

15
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Following the decision by global regulators to phase out LIBORs and replace them with alternative
reference rates, the Bank has established a project to manage the transition for any of its existing and new
contracts that could be affected. The Bank continues to make good progress in making relevant changes to
move away from the use of LIBOR and, where necessary, has upgraded the processing systems. We remain
on track to effect necessary changes in line with regulatory milestones. Further details are included in Note
35 of the financial statements.

Section 172 Statement

In performing their duty to act in the way they consider, in good faith, would be most likely to promote the
success of the Bank for the benefit of its shareholder, the Directors have had regard to the matters set out
in 5172 {a-f) of the Companies Act 2006. In particular:

a) the likely conseguences of any decision in the long term

The Board regularly reviews and approves the three-year strategic plan and monitors its
implementation. As part of the review process, the Directors consider the long-term consequences of
the Plan. During 2021, as in 2020, in light of COVID-13, the Board’s focus has continued to be on
ensuring the Bank’'s operational and financial resilience and prudent management of capital and
liguidity in line with the Bank’s conservative risk appetite. In taking key principal decisions, some
examples of which are set out under ‘principal decisions — examples’ below, the Board is cansistently
focussed on the long term consequences of such decisions for the success of the Bank.

b) the interests of the company’s employees

The Board understands that the Bank’s employees are fundamental to the lang-term success of the
Bank, and the Bank aims to be a responsible employer in its approach to pay and benefits. The health,
safety and well-being of the Bank’s employees are primary considerations for the way in which the
Bank conducts its business. Such matters are regularly discussed and considered by the Board and the
Nomination and Remuneration Committee, with particular consideration being given in 2021 to issues
relating to remote working during the COVID-19 lockdown, as in the preceding financial year. Regular
engagement with staff has been maintained in a variety of ways throughout the year, including a well-
attended virtual Town Hall meeting held on 16 December 2021.

c) the need to foster the company’s business relationships with suppliers, customers and others

The Bank’s customers are at the heart of what it does and examples of the Board’s customer-centric
focus in its principal decision-making are included in the tahie below. The Board recognises that, for the
Bank to be successful over the long term, it is important to build and maintain successful relationships
with a wide range of stakeholders and for the Board to understand the views of key stakeholders.
When taking decisions, the Board considers the interests of, and impact on, key stakeholders, including
the Bank’s shareholder, customers, regulators, employees and suppliers. Engagement with suppliers
has been maintained in accordance with the Bank’s Third Party Management and Qutsourcing Policy, a
Board-approved document, with particular emphasis on the Bank’s providers of cutsourced services.
Examples of ways in which other key stakeholder interests have been considered by the Board in
making principal decisions are noted below.

d} the impact of the company’s operations on the community and the environment

While the operations of the Bank by their nature have a limited direct impact on the envirenment, the
Directors are aware of the need to work to minimise such impacts. In terms of its lending activities, the
Bank has been a leading provider of finance to the renewable energy sector in the MENA region for a
number of years, supporting projects for wind, solar and hydro power developments. Further details
about the actions being undertaken to support the environment have been included under the Climate
Change section above.

e) the desirability of the company maintaining a reputation for high standards of business conduct
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As is reflected in EAB’s Corporate Governance Code, the Board sets the tone for the Bank's culture,
including maintaining the highest standards of integrity in the Bank’s dealings with its customers and
other stakeholders. A number of the Bank’s Policies regularly reviewed and approved by the Board are
relevant to the maintenance of such standards. These are supported by regular management reporting
to the Board on matters including conduct training, customer complaints and breaches.

the need to act fairly as between members of the company.

The Bank is owned by a sole shareholder. The Board ensures that matters are referred to the sole
shareholder in line with each company’s Articles of Association and relevant statutory requirements.
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Principal decisions —~ examples

Below are two major examples of how stakehalder interests have been considered in principal decisions

taken by the Board:

Decision

Key affected stakeholders

How stakeholder interests were
considered

Relocation planning for move to a

single site

The Bank sold its Moorgate office
in September 2021 with a view to
accommodating all of the Bank’s

staff on a single leased office site
on Park Lane, Mayfair in 2022.

COVID 1S

With the full support of the
Board, EAB was able to
seamlessly switch to remote
working for the majority of staff
following the introduction of
lockdown. The Board was kept
regularly informed and updated
on the impacts of COVID-18 and
mitigations undertaken.
Investments were made to
achieve continuity of operations.

In appropriate cases, affected
customers were further
supported by the Bank with
extended payment holidays.

Employees

Customers

Suppliers

Management and the Board considered
that the move to a single office site
would deliver significant benefits in
terms of integrating the Bank’s
waorkforce within an attractive and
modern working environment. This was
a key driver for the decision.

The positive benefits for customers were
also an important consideration.

Affected suppliers of relevant services
were have been closely engaged with
throughout.

Customers

Employees

Regulators

The Bank’s customers have continued to
be its principal focus during the ongaing
pandemic.

The Board wishes ta thank EAB’s
employeas for their continuing
commitment, energy and hard work
during the pandemic, which have played
a huge role in the success of the
measures taken to ensure seamless
continuity of the Bank’s operations
during lockdown conditions. The Board
has received regular updates on the risk
assessments, social distancing and
hygiene measures, and re-configuration
of the workspace undertaken for the
safety of staff attending, and on mental
welfare communications with staff.

The Bank’s regulators have been
regularly updated on COVID-19 related
impacts and mitigations.

Going Concern Basis
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The business activities together with the performance and position, the principal risks and uncertainties
and factors likely to affect EAB’s future development are set out in this Report. In addition, notes to the
financial statements include the objectives, policies and processes for managing the capital; financial risk
management objectives; details of financial instruments and hedging activities; and the exposure to credit,
market, liquidity and other risks.

EAB continues to have a strong, proven and conservative business model. Whilst the impact of COVID-19
has affected profitability during the year, EAB remains well positioned in each of its core businesses and is
strongly capitalised, soundly funded and has access to the required levels of liquidity.

As part of the Directors’ consideration of the appropriateness of adopting the going concern basis in
preparing the Annual Report, a range of forward-laoking severe, but plausible, scenario analyses have been
considered. The scenarios modelled are based on a range of economic assumptions. The Bank in all such
scenarios is expected to continue to operate with sufficient levels of liquidity and capital for next twelve
months, with the capital ratios and capital resources in excess of regulatory requirements. In making this
assessment, the Directors have also considered the operational resilience of the Bank, noting that the
business has successfully adapted to new ways of working and that operational and system performance
have been maintained, and are expected to continue to be.

In conclusion, the Directors have determined that there is no material uncertainty that casts doubt over
the Bank’s ability to continue as a going concern for the next 12 months from the date of the approval of
these financial statements. Accardingly, the Directors continue to adopt the going concern basis in
preparing the Annual Report.
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Future Outlook

EAR expects to build on its results in the upcoming periods through execution of the clearly defined
strategic objectives, with the aim of generating sustainable returns for the shareholder. The Bank will
continue with its plans of cioser alignment with the parent, Arab Bank plc.

The key risks have been noted above with the following potential challenges reiterated as they may affect
the operating results in the upcoming periods:

COVID-19 has significantly impacted global economic activity. Whilst the near-term outlook has
improved, there remains on going uncertainty regarding future economic trajectory with inflationary
pressures and potentially rising interest rate environment. We continue to focus on supporting our
clients, whilst maintaining our prudent lending and investment standards and ensuring sufficient
resources and operational capability through this period;

Continued geopolitical instability in the MENA region and the impact of volatile oil prices may affect
key markets and clients including new business and existing exposures;

Existing incident and erisis management capabilities were maobilised upon the emergence of COVID-19,
enabling the business to sustain operations whilst adjusting to new ways of working. Notwithstanding,
the pandemic has led to increased risks associated with pecople, operational process execution, third
party management, information security and fraud. The Bank continues to utilise its operational risk
management framework to manage these risks with oversight by relevant committees. Improvements
are continuing across the operational risk framework including further enhancement of information
security management and strengthening of the Bank’s operational resilience; and

Further significant changes to the regulatory or legislative environment could have a bearing on how
the business operates.

Approved by the Board and signed on its behalf by:

ZD Af//\

Andrew Wilson
Company Secretary
13 -15 Moorgate
London

EC2R 6AD

Date: 05 April 2022
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The Board of Directors of EAB (“the Board”} is responsible for the overall governance of the Company. The
Board is committed to ensuring that the Company maintains high standards of corporate governance. In
2021 the Board approved the latest revision of the Europe Arab Bank ple Corporate Governance Code
which incorporates the Principles set out in the latest revision of the UK Corporate Governance Code (the
‘UK Code’), modified as considered appropriate for an organisation of the Company’s size and type. The
UK Code is not itself directly applicable to the Company.

The key objectives of the Board are to ensure that the business of the Company is conducted in an efficient
and effective manner in order to promote the success of the Company within an established framework of
effective systems of internal control, risk management and compliance, in accordance with regulatory
reguirements.

The primary responsibilities of the Board include:
s Setting the Company’s strategy taking into account stakeholder interests;

e Ensuring that the husiness has an effective system of internal control and management of business
risks and is conducted in accordance with the FCA’s and PRA’s Principles for Business;

*  Monitoring financial information and reviewing the overall financial condition of the Company and its
position as a going concern;

s Reviewing major developments in business lines and support units;
e Reviewing the priorities for allocating capital and operating resources;
*  Monitoring of regulatory compliance and financial crime oversight and reputational issues;

e Reviewing the market, credit and liquidity risks and exposures with additional oversight and control
over credit risk management; and

* Reviewing the application of stress tests and appropriateness of the Company’s stress testing policy.

The Directors who served during the period are listed in the Directors’ Report. As at the end of the year,
two of the serving Non-Executive Directors are independent from Arab Bank plc.

The Board has compiled a list of matters reserved for which the Board’s approval is required and has
delegated authority and responsibility for day-to-day management of the Company to the Chief Executive
Officer, who is supported by the Executive Committee.

To help carry out its responsibilities, the Board has also established the following committees with terms of
reference setting out matters relevant to the committee’s composition, responstbilities and administration:

e« Board Audit & Risk Committee

* Nomination & Remuneration Committee
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Board Audit & Risk Committee
The Board Audit & Risk Committee’s primary responsibilities are to:
» Review and provide challenge to the Company’s financial reporting;

* Review the Company’s key internal cantrol policies, processes and procedures and assess and maonitor
the effectiveness of those internal controls and accompanying internal and external audit and risk
assurance processes;

*  Review the Company’s overall approach to regulatory compliance and financial crime oversight and
associated procedures and processes;

* Consider the appointment and independence of the external auditors, and review regularly the findings
of their work; and

¢ Review the Company’s overall approach to risk, its management and reporting line frameworks, including
(1) reviewing and monitoring the effectiveness, integrity and quality of risk identification, assessment and
management processes and risk strategies; {2) overseeing risk management accountability, reporting and
compliance with risk management policies; and (3} ensuring all material risks are brought to the attention
of the Committee and Board in a timely manner,

*  Assist in the provision of parent oversight of EAB SA, induding in relation to Risk, Compliance and Internal
Audit.

The membership of the Committee comprises three Non-Executive Directors, two of whom {Mr Quentin
Aylward and Mr John Kerr} are independent. Mr Quentin Aylward is the Chairman of the Committee. The
other Comrnittee member is Mr Saleem Shadeed. At the invitation of the Chairman of the Committee, the
Chief Executive Officer, the Chief Operating Officer (who also perfarms the combined function of Chief
Financial Officer), the Head of Finance, the Head of Internal Audit, the Chief Risk Officer, Money Laundering
Reporting Officer, Head of Regulatory Compliance, and the External Auditors regularly attend meetings.

Key activities of the Committee for the year ended 31 December 2021 included:

*  Met regularly to review quarterly reports received from the Executive Risk & Compliance Committee,
Head of Internal Audit and the Money Laundering Reparting Officer and Head af Regulatory Compliance.
Seven meetings took place during the year;

¢ Reviewed and recommended for approval the Company’s Annual Report 2020 and Financial Statements;

* Received quarterly updates from the Company’s Senior Statutory Auditor and reviewed the Auditor
independence and Non-Audit Services Policy; reviewed and discussed risks associated with EAB Defined
Benefit Pension Scheme; received regular updates from the subsidiary EAB SA (including on Risk and
Compliance and Internal Audit);

*  Reviewed the Company’s ICAAP and associated Board decision-making processes as well as the
Company’s ILAAP, and the Company’s approach to reverse stress testing; and the Company’s Recovery
Plan and KRis;

s Reviewed the Company’s Risk Management Framework and Risk Map; monitored compliance with Risk
Appetite Statements and Measures along with corresponding Values of Appetite and Overarching Risk
Appetite Summary;

s Reviewed the Company’s Risk Dashboards and critical risks reported to the Board by the Chief Risk Officer
and reviewed Risk Activities 2022; the Committee was updated on the steps the Bank was taking in
addressing the risks posed by Climate Change and to meet relevant regulatory requirements, and
reviewed the Climate Risk Strategy.

Board Audit & Risk Committee {continued)

s Reviewed the Internal Audit Plan for 2022, the Internal Audit Charter, and the adequacy of the Internal
Audit Function. Following the Committee’s approval of the Internal Audit Budget in cansultation with
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Executive Management, the Board confirmed that they were satisfied that Internal Audit has appropriate
resources to deliver the Internal Audit Plan for 2022;

s Reviewed various compliance and financial crime prevention, anti-bribery and corruption and anti-tax
evasion related policies, the Financial Crime Risk Appetite as well as various Treasury related policies;
reviewed the Company’s Client Assets Sourcebook {CASS) Management Framework and associated
policies and terms of reference; and reviewed the Company’s Maney Laundering Reporting Officer’s
repart.

¢ Reviewed the Company’s Whistleblowing Systems and Controls; 2022 Compliance Monitoring Plan;
Vulnerable Customer Policy, Complaints Handling Policy; Conduct Risk Policy, and the Company’s
Responsibilities Map;

s  Reviewed Regulatory Priorities, PRA Statements and Dear CEQ Letters and work being undertaken
towards strengthening Operational Resilience and Qutsourcing Third Party Management; reviewed Cyber
Security Strategy;

s Conducted an evaluation of External Auditors; Conducted an annual self-assessment by way of a
comprehensive performance effectiveness evaluation questionnaire covering all aspects of the workings
of the Committee; and the results of the evaluation of the effectiveness of the external auditors was
considered;

Nomination & Remuneration Committee

The Nomination & Remuneration Committee’s primary responsibilities are to:

¢ Consider and recommend candidates for appointment to the Board of Directors and Board Committees;
* Appoint the Executive Committee;

*  Regularly review succession planning;

*  Set the remuneration packages of the Directors and the Executive Committee;

¢ Recommend the terms of the Company’s Remuneration Policy and undertake the annual review of the
Remuneration Policy Statement in line with regulatory rules and expectations on remuneration;

*» Recommend Key Performance indicators for Senior Management, review their performance assessments,
bonuses and salary proposals taking into consideration input from risk management functions.

The membership of the Committee comprises Non-Executive Directors, two of whom are independent. The
members of the Committee are Mr Nemeh Sabbagh (Chairman of the Committee), Mr Quentin Aylward and
Mr John Kerr.

Key routine activities for the year ended 31 December 2021 included:

* Reviewed Senior Management’s KPIs and performance assessments, bonus and salary proposals taking
into consideration input from risk management functions;

+ Reviewed and approved the Cempany’s Remuneration Policy and Remuneration Policy Statement;
¢ Reviewed the Succession Plan for Senior Management; and

¢ Reviewed Committee's Terms of Reference

Nomination & Remuneration Committee (continued}

A summary of the Company's employee Remuneration Policy is contained in the Strategic Report.

Executive Committee

The Executive Committee represents the principal forum for conducting the business of the Company and
takes day-to-day responsibility for the efficient running of the business. Whilst retaining the overall
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responsibility for the matters within its remit, the Executive Committee has delegated certain responsibilities
to the following standing sub-committees:

s Asset & Liability Committee (ALCO)

s  Executive Risk & Compliance Committee (ERCC)

s  Executive Credit Committee (ECC)

s  EAB Projects Oversight Committee (EPOC)

» T Service, Security & Governance Committee (ITS5G)

*» EAB plc and EAB SA Outsourcing Governance Committee
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Directors’ Report

The Directors present their annual report on the affairs of Europe Arab Bank plc (“EAB” or “the Bank”),
together with the Strategic Report, Corporate Governance Report, Financial Statements and Auditer’s
Report, for the year ended 31 December 2021. EAB is registered in England and Wales with number
5575857 and is authorised by the PRA and regulated by the FCA and the PRA.

Results

The profit after taxation for the year amounts to €0.8m {2020: €0.5m). The Directors do not propose any
dividend to be paid for 2021 (2020:€nil).

Financial risk management objectives and policies

The Bank’s objectives and policies with regard to tinancial and other risks are discussed in the Strategic
Report and also set out in Note 33 to Note 38 to the financial statements, together with an indication of
the exposure to financial risk.

Going concern and future developments

These Financial Statements have been prepared on a going concern basis as the Directors are satisfied that
the Bank has the resources to continue in business for the foreseeable future. This is discussed further in
the Strategic Report alongside the assessment of future outlook for the Bank.

Changes in Accounting Policies
Changes in accounting policies during the year are included in Note 1 of the financial statements.
Consolidated Financial Statements

The Bank has availed itself of the exemption under Section 401 of the Companies Act 2006 and has not
published consolidated financial statements for the Bank and its subsidiaries. Far further details refer to
note 1{w).

Post-balance Sheet Events

There are no unadjusted or reportable events subsequent to the statement of financial position date.
Directors

The Directors who served during the year were as follows:

Mr. Nemeh Sabbagh — Chairman

Mr. Haytham Kambhiyah {Chief Executive Officer} - Executive Director

Mr. Mohammad Shoaib Memon (Chief Operating Officer) — Executive Director
Mr. Quentin Aylward — Independent Non-Executive Director

Mr John Kerr — independent Non-Executive Director {appointed 03.04.2021)
Mr. Eric Modave — Non-Executive Director

Mr Saleem Shadeed — Non-Executive Director {appointed 13.10.2021)

Sir Edward Leigh — Independent Non-Executive Director (resigned 03.04.2021)
Mr. Ghassan Tarazi — Non-Executive Director (resigned 29.07.2021)

None of the Directors holds or has held shares in the Bank or any of its subsidiaries.
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Directors’ indemnities

The Articles of Association of EAB provide that, subject to the Companies Act 2006, Directors and other
officers are entitled to be indemnified out of the assets of the Bank against all costs, charges, expenses,
iosses or (iabifities arising in connection with the performance of their functions. Such indemnity provisions
have been in place during the period and remain in force at the date of this report; appropriate insurance
cover in respect of such liability is maintained.

Energy and emissions report

2021 2020
Energy consumption used to calculate emissions {kwh)* 1.06m kWh 1.06m kWh
Emissions in metric tonnes CO2 equivalent 21137 tCO2e 224.96 tCO2e
Intensity ratio
Emissions per average number of permanent employeg in the UK 1.85 196 |

*This energy consumption includes gas and electricity only. The Bank is currently formulating a process to
reasonably collect information on other energy consumptions including transportation.

The Bank has followed the 2019 HM Government Environmental Reporting Guidelines. We have also used
the GHG Reporting Protocol — Corporate Standard and have used the 2021 and 2020 UK Government's
Conversion Factors for Company Reporting, respectively. The chasen intensity measurement ratio is total
gross emissions in metric tonnes CO2e per average number of permanent employee in the UK, The Bank
has upgraded to a more energy efficient boilers in 2020, No additional measures have been taken in 2021,

Auditors
Each of the persons who is a Director at the date of approval of this report confirms that:

e 50 far as the Director is aware, there is no relevant audit information of which the Bank’s auditor is
unaware; and

¢ The Director has taken all the steps that he ought to have taken as a Director in order to make himself
aware of any relevant audit information and to establish that the Bank’s auditor is aware of that
information.

This confirmation is given and should be interpreted in accordance with the provisions of s418 of the
Companies Act 2006.

Ernst & Young LLP have expressed their willingness to continue in office as auditor and a resolution to
reappoint them will be propased at the forthcoming Annual General Meeting.

The Bank has a policy governing the appointment of the external auditor for non-audit engagements, which
allows monitoring of independence of the external auditor.

Finally, the Directors would like to extend their gratitude to all the staff for their admirable dedication and
commitment to EAB, even in the face of maost challenging circumstances during 2021.

Approved by the Board and signed on its behalf by:

/4;3-49/;

Andrew Wilson
Company Secretary
13 -15 Moorgate
London

EC2R 6AD

Date: 05 April 2022
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Directors’ Responsibilities Statement

The Directors are responsible for preparing the Annual Report and the financial statements in accordance with
applicable UK law and regulations.

Company law requires the Directors ta prepare such financial statements for each financial year. Under that law the
Directors have elected to prepare the Company financial statements in accordance with UK-adopted international
accounting standards {“IFRSs”). Under company law the Directors must not approve the financial statements unless they
are satisfied that they give a true and fair view of the state of affairs of the Company and of the profit or loss of the
Company for that period.

In preparing these financial statements, the Directors are required to:

s Select suitable accounting policies in accordance with I1AS 8 Accounting Policies, Changes in Accounting Estimates and
Errors and then apply them consistently;

s Make judgments and accounting estimates that are reasonable and prudent;

. Present information, including accounting policies, in a manner that provides relevant, reliable, comparable and
understandable information;

e  Provide additional disclosures when compliance with the specific requirements in IFRSs is insufficient to enable users
to understand the impact of particular transactions, other events and conditions on the company financial position
and financial performance;

. In respect of the parent company financial statements, state whether UK-adopted international accounting
standards, have been followed, subject to any material departures disclosed and explained in the financial
statements; and

e  Prepare the financial statements on the going concern basis unless it is appropriate to presume that the

company and/ or the group will not continue in business.
The Directors are responsible for keeping adequate accounting records that are sufficient to show and explain the
Company's transactions and disclose with reasonable accuracy at any time the financiat position of the Company and
enable them to ensure that the financial statements comply with the Companies Act 2006. They are also responsible for
safeguarding the assets of the Company and hence for taking reasonable steps for the prevention and detection of fraud
and other irregularities.
Under applicable law and regulations, the Directors are alse responsible for preparing a strategic report, directors’ report,
and corporate governance statement that comply with that law and thase regulations. The directors are responsible for
the maintenance and integrity of the corporate and financial information included on the company’s website.

We confirm that to the best of our knowledge:

e the financial statements, prepared in accordance with UK-adopted international accounting standards, give a true
and fair view of the assets, liabilities, financial position and profit of the Company;

e that the annual report, including the strategic report, includes a fair review of the development and performance of
the business and the position of the company and undertakings included in the consolidation taken as a whole,
together with a description of the principal risks and uncertainties that they face; and

. that we consider the annual report, taken as a whole, is fair, balanced and understandable and provides the
information necessary for shareholders to assess the company’s position, performance, business model and strategy.

Approved by the Board and signed on its behalf by:

éﬁ-d?"-\

Andrew Wilson
Company Secretary
13 -15 Moorgate
London, EC2R 6AD

Date: 05 April 2022
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Independent auditor’s report to the members of
Europe Arab Bank plc

Opinion

We have audited the financial statements of Europe Arab Bank Plc {“the Bank”) for the year ended 31
December 2021 which comprise the Income Statement, Statement of Comprehensive Income, the Balance
Sheet, the Statement of Changes in Equity, the Cash Flow Statement and the related notes 1 to 38,
including a surnmary of significant accounting policies. The financial reporting framework that has been
applied in their preparation is applicable law, and UK adopted international accounting standards.

In our opinion, the financial statements:

s give a true and fair view of the Bank's affairs as at 31 December 2021 and of its profit for the year then
ended;

® have been properly prepared in accordance with UK adopted international accounting standards; and

» have been prepared in accordance with the requirements of the Companies Act 2006.

Basis for opinion

We conducted our audit in accordance with international Standards on Auditing (UK) (15As {UK)} and
applicable law. Our responsibilities under those standards are further described in the Auditor's
responsibilities for the audit of the financial statements secticn of ocur report. We are independent of the
Bank in accordance with the ethical requirements that are relevant to our audit of the financial statements
in the UK, including the FRC's Ethical Standard as applied to public interest entities, and we have fulfilled
our other ethical responsibilities in accordance with these requirements.

We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for
our opinion.

Conclusions relating to going concern

In auditing the financial statements, we have concluded that the directors’ use of the going concern basis
of accounting in the preparation of the financial statements is appropriate. Our evaluation of the directors
assessment of the Bank's ability to continue to adopt the going concern basis of accounting included the
following:

»

* Woe obtained an understanding of management’s going concern assessment process and engaged with
management early ta ensure that all key factors were considered in their assessment;

* We developed an understanding of how the Bank managed liquidity and capital during 2021;

* We obtained management’s going concern assessment for the period up to 30 April 2023. This
assessment includes liquidity and capital adequacy analyses and a reverse stress scenario. We
evaluated the risks included in the assessment as well as those included in management’s reverse stress
test and downside sensitivity analyses;

* We read the ICAAP and ILAAP and considered the different stress scenarios and management’s actions
set out to manage any stresses;

* We performed a benchmarking analysis against peer banks for regulatory ratios;

¢ We have checked the reasonableness of the assumptions included within management’s profit
forecasts;

* We have assessed the historical accuracy of management’s profit forecasts through comparing prior
years budgeted financial information with historical actual results;

* We performed inquiries with the group auditors of the Bank’s parent, Arab Bank Plc, relating to their
going concern procedures and results of their assessment, in order to identify any matters that may
impact the Bank’s going concern assumption as the Bank benefits from many business opportunities via
the Arab Bank group network;
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s We reviewed all FCA and PRA correspondence and minutes of all Board of Directors meetings, to check
for any information that might impact the going concern assumption; and

* We assessed the Bank’s going concern disclosures in the Annual Report and Accounts to determine
whether they were appropriate and in conformity with the reporting standards.

s The results of the above procedures did not identify any changes to the management’s going concern
assessment.

Based an the work we have performed, we have not identified any material uncertainties relating to events
or conditions that, individually or collectively, may cast significant doubt on the Bank’s ability to continue
as a going concern for a period up to 30 April 2023 being more than 12 months from when the financial
statements are authorised for 1ssue.

Our responsibilities and the responsibilities of the directors with respect to going concern are described in
the relevant sections of this report. However, because not all future events or conditions can be predicted,
this statement is not a guarantee as to the Bank’s ability to continue as a going concern. .

Overview of the audit approach

Key Audit Matters e Allowance for expected credit losses (ECL)
* Improper recognition of fee and commission income

Materiality o Overall materiality of €5.68 million which represents 2%
of the Bank’s total equity.
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An overview of the scope of our audit
Tailoring the scope

Our assessment of audit risk, cur evaluation of materiality and our allocation of performance materiality
determine our audit scope for the Bank. This enables us to form an opinion on the financial statements.
We take into account size, risk profile, the organisation of the Bank and effectiveness of controls, including
controls and changes in the business environment when assessing the level of work to be performed. All
audit work was performed directly by the audit engagement team with the exception of {i) specific audit
work on T systems which are centrally managed by Arab Bank Group, which was performed by EY Jordan
under our instruction and (i) specific audit work on contrals performed by to Arab Bank Group’s subsidiary,
Arab Company for Shared Services in United Arab Emirates during the year, which was performed by EY
Dubai under our instruction and supervision.

Climate risk

There has been increasing interest from stakeholders as to how climate change will impact the Bank. The
Bank has performed a climate-related risk assessment which is explained on page 14 in the principal risks
and uncertainties and on page 15 in the Climate Change section, which form part of the ‘Other
information’ rather than the audited financial statements. Our procedures on these disclosures consisted
solely of considering whether they are materially inconsistent with the financial statements, or our
knowledge obtained in the course of the audit, or otherwise appear to be materially misstated.

The Bank has determined that the climate risk would have immaterial impact on their financial statements
in the short term but work on considering the longer-term risks and opportunities is ongoing as explained
in note risk management palicies (note 33) on page 93. Our audit effort in considering climate change was

focused on assessing whether the effects of potential climate risks have been appropriately reflected by
management in determining that the impact on the financial statements would be immaterial.

Key audit matters

Key audit matters are those matters that, in our professional judgment, were of most significance in our
audit of the financial statements of the current period and include the most significant assessed risks of
material misstatement {whether or not due to fraudj that we identified. These matters inciuded those
which had the greatest effect on: the overall audit strategy, the allocation of resqurces in the audit; and
directing the efforts of the engagement team. These matters were addressed in the context of our audit of
the financial statements as a whole, and in our opinion thereon, and we do not provide a separate opinion

on these matters.

Risk

Our response to the risk

Key ohservations communicated
to the Board Audit and Risk
Committee

Allowance for expected credit
losses

Loans and advances to customers
amount to €919.8 million (2020:
€890.3 million} net of allowances
for expected credit losses of
€54.6 million {2020: €48.3
miilion}. Off balance sheet
{“OBS”) credit exposures
amounted to €623.0 million

We took the foliowing approach in

response to the risk:

=  Walked through and understood any
changes to the ECL calculation process
since the prior year.

s Assessed the design effectiveness of
key controls within the relevant
processes and tested the operating
effectiveness of those controls on
which we placed reliance.

*  We engaged EY specialists to:

Based on our assessment of the
design and operating
effectiveness of key controls
within the relevant processes, we
deemed the controls to be
effective.

Based on our assessment of the
ECL model, the inputs and
macroecenomic factors applied
and outputs, we deemed the
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Risk

Our response to the risk

Key observations communicated
to the Board Audit and Risk
Committee

(2020: €737.1 millicn), net of
allowances for expected credit
losses of €0.38 million (2020:
€1.40 million).

Refer to the Strategic Report
{page 2); Accounting policies
(note 1); and Notes 12, 14 and 29
of the Financial Statements.

The process for estimating
impairment in accordance with
IFRS 9 is significant and complex.
Given the subjective nature of
the calculation of ECL, the level of
estimation involved and the size
of the loan portfolio there is a
greater risk of material
misstatement in these balances.

There is a risk that the calculated
expected credit loss {ECL) or
staging assessments are
inaccurate due to inappropriate
or incorrect data, assumptions
and calculations in the ECL
model. This includes the historical
default data (both internal and
external) and risk attributes used
to build and run the models,
which may be incomplete,
inaccurate or non-representative
of the portfolio. Further, forward
locking elements relevant to the
portfolio might not be
incorporated in the ECL
appropriately. For stage 3
exposures, there is the risk that
assumptions used in the
individual provisioning models
and the rationale applied within
the scenarios are not
appropriate.

Overall, the risk has not changed
from prior year.

- carry out an assessment of the ECL
model and review the parameters
used to calculate the ECL allowance
for stage 1 and stage 2 loans.

-assess the reasonableness of the
staging logic used by management to
check whether it is in linc with the
definition of significant increase in
credit risk;

- perform a sensitivity analysis which
included assessment of the potential
impact on ECL output across the
different macro scenarios; and

- perform benchmarking to peers on
the outputs produced (Probability of
Default {PDs), Loss Given Default
(LGDs}, ECL).

+ Tested the data inputs into the ECL
model for completeness and accuracy.

e Assessed and challenged management
on the scenarios and probability
weightings assigned to the
macroeconomic factors included in
the ECL model.

e Evaluated the ECL model’s
macroeconomic variable factors and
narratives for reasonableness.

s Performed a check for publicly
available informatien on all material
credit exposures, and in additien, for
Middle Eastern exposures, inquired
with individuals in EY’'s Middle East
network, in order to identify any
significant increase in credit risk
factors that had not been identified by
management.

* Performed an assessment for a
sample of loans and Off-Balance Sheet
credit exposures allocated as stage 1,
and all material exposures in stage 2
and 3, to determine the
reasonableness of the staging
allocation and sought to identify any
significant increase in credit risk or
indicators of impairment not
identified by the Bank.

s For all material assets in stage 3, we
performed a credit file review, tested
the individual impairment models and

modelled ECL and staging to be
materially appropriate.

We challenged management on:

e the appropriateness of
scenarios, probabilities and
post model adjustments
applied;

« whether significant increase in
credit risk occurred for a
sample of credit expasures;

» whether the staging assigned
to a number of credit
exposures was appropriate;
and

* the adequacy of ECL booked
against stage 2 and 3 non
modelled credit exposures.

We concluded that the ECL
expense is not materially
misstated.
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Risk

Our response to the risk

Key observations communicated
to the Board Audit and Risk
Committee

the evidence supporting the
assumptions made by the Bank and
challenged management where
appropriate.

With the help of EY specialists we
challenged assumptions in the
valuations provided by management’s
external specialists on the underlying
collateral values for relevant stage 3
expasures.

We also obtained from EY specialists
corroborative audit evidence for
certain of management’s assumptions
included in stage 3 impairment
models.

Improper recognition of Fee and
Commission Income

Fee and commission income from
off balance sheet cradit
exposures amounted to €4.8
miltion {2020: €4.7 million).

Refer to the accounting policies
{note 1} and note 3 of the
financial statements.

The key risks of improper
recognition of fee and
commission income arises from
those refated to off-balance sheet
expasures as they are subject to
manual accounting inputs and to
judgements on the amount and
timing of recognition.

The risk is the same as in 2020.

B

We took the fallowing approach in
response to the risk:

Assessed, with the assistance of EY IT
audit professionals, the design
effectiveness and tested the operating
effectivenass of key controls over fee
and commission income;

We agreed a sample of fees and
commissions to source data and the
underlying contracts;

Using that source data, we
recalculated the fees and commission
income recognised for the year across
the full population to test that the
fees and commissions have been
recognised or deferred appropriately;
We agreed to supporting evidence any
adjustments to the accounting records
that have characteristics that we have
identified that could indicate unusual
or inappropriate adjustments; and
Performed year end cut off testing to
check that fee and commissiaon
income is recognised in the correct
period.

As a result of the procedures
perfarmed, we did not identify
any evidence of material
misstatement in the recording of
fees and commission income
from off-balance sheet exposures.

Our application of materiality

We apply the concept of materiality in planning and performing the audit, in evaluating the effect of
identified misstatements on the audit and in forming our audit opinion.
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Materiality

The magnitude of an omission or misstatement that, individually or in the aggregate, could reasonably be
expected to influence the economic decisions of the users of the financial statements. Materiality provides
a basis for determining the nature and extent of our audit procedures.

We determined materiality for the Bank to be £5.68 million (2020: €5.51 million), which is 2% (2020: 2%} of
the Bank’s equity. We determined our materiality based on equity rather than income-based measures
since the Bank’s profitability is low relative to the balance sheet size, and also our expectation is that the
main users of the financial statements, such as the Prudential Regulatory Authority and Arab Bank group,
view capital preservation as a key consideration.

Performance materiality

The application of materiality at the individual account or balance level. It is set at an amount to reduce to
an appropriately low level the probability that the aggregate of uncorrected and undetected
misstatements exceeds materiality.

On the basis of our risk assessments, together with our assessment of the Bank’s overall control
environment, our judgement was that performance materiality was 50% (2020: 50%) of our planning
materiality, namely €2.8m (2020: €2.7m).

Reporting threshold
An amount below which identified misstatements are considered as being clearly trivial.

We have agreed with the Board Audit & Risk Cornmittee that we would report to them all uncorrected
audit differences in excess of €0.28m (2020: £€0.27m}, which is set at 5% of materiality, as well as
differences below that threshold that, in our view, warranted reporting on qualitative grounds.

We evaluate any uncorrected misstatements against both the quantitative measures of materiality
discussed above and in light of other relevant qualitative considerations in forming our opinion.

Other information

The other information comprises the information included in the annual report, other than the financial
statements and our auditor’s report thereon. The directors are responsible for the other information
contained within the annual report.

Our opinion on the financial statements does not cover the other information and, except to the extent
otherwise explicitly stated in this report, we do not express any form of assurance conclusion thereon.

Our responsibility is to read the other information and, in doing so, consider whether the other
information is materially inconsistent with the financial statements or our knowledge obtained in the
course of the audit or otherwise appears to be materially misstated. If we identify such material
inconsistencies or apparent material misstatements, we are required to determine whether this gives rise
toa material misstatement in the financial statements themselves or a material misstatement of the other
information. If, based on the work we have performed, we conclude that there is a material misstatement
of the other information, we are required to report that fact.

We have nothing to report in this regard.

Opinions on other matters prescribed by the Companies Act 2006

In our opinion, based on the work undertaken in the course of the audit:

» the information given in the strategic report and the directors’ report for the financial year for which
the financial statements are prepared is consistent with the financial statements; and the strategic
report and directors’ report have been prepared in accordance with applicable legal requirements.
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Matters on which we are required to report by exception

In the light of the knowledge and understanding of the Bank and its enviranment obtained in the course of
the audit, we have not identified material misstatements in the strategic report or directors’ report.

We have nothing to report in respect of the following matters in relation to which the Companies Act 2006

requires us to report to you if, in our opinion:

e adequate accounting records have not been kept, or returns adeguate for our audit have not been
received from branches not visited by us; or

+ the financial statements are not in agreement with the accounting records and returns; or

* certain disclosures of directors’ remuneration specified by law are not made; or

* we have not received all the infermation and explanations we require for our audit.

Respansibilities of directors

As explained mare fully in the directors” responsibilities statement set out on page 27, the directors are
respansible for the preparation of the financial statements and for being satisfied that they give a true and
fair view, and far such internal control as the directors determine is necessary to enable the preparation of
financial statements that are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error.

In preparing the financial statements, the directors are responsible for assessing the Bank's ability to continue
as a going concern, disclosing, as applicable, matters related to going concern and using the going concern
basis of accounting unless the directors either intend to liquidate the Bank or to cease operations, or have
no realistic alternative but to do so.

Auditor’s responsibilities for the audit of the financial statements

Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the financial statements as a whole are
free from material misstatemant, whether due to fraud or erroy, and to issue an auditor’s report that includes
our opinion. Reasanable assurance is a high level of assurance, butis not a guarantee that an audit conducted
in accordance with ISAs {UK) will always detect a material misstatement when it exists. Misstatements can
arise from fraud ar errar and are considered material if, individually orin the aggregate, they could reasonably
be expected to influence the economic decisions of users taken on the basis of these financial statements.

Expianation as to what extent the audit was considered capable of detecting irregularities, including fraud

Irregularities, including fraud, are instances of non-compliance with faws and regulations. We design
procedures in line with our responsibilities, outfined above, to detect irregularities, including fraud. The risk
of not detecting a materia) misstatement due to fraud is higher than the risk of not detecting one resulting
from error, as fraud may involve deliberate concealment by, for example, forgery or intentional
misrepresentations, or through collusion. The extent to which our procedures are capable of detecting
irregularities, including fraud is detailed below.

However, the primary responsibility for the prevention and detection of fraud rests with both those charged
with governance of the company and management.

¢ We obtained an understanding of the legal and regulatory frameworks that are applicable to the Bank

and determined that the most significant are Companies Act 2006, Financial Services and Markets Act
2000, Financial Services Act 2012, Capital Reguirements Regulation, Markets in Financial Instruments
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Directives (MifID 1 and 2), and relevant Prudential Regulation Authority and Financial Conduct
Authority regulations.

We understood how the Bank complies with those frameworks by making enquiries of management,
including the risk department, and those responsible for legal and compliance matters. We also
reviewed minutes of the Board, the Board Audit & Risk Committee, and the Executive Committee, and
gained an understanding of the Bank’s approach to governance demonstrated by the Board’s approval
of the Bank’s risk management framework and the internal controls processes. Furthermore, we
reviewed all internal audit reports and correspondence with the regulators.

We assessed the susceptibility of the Bank’s financial statements to material misstatement, including
how fraud might occur by considering the controls that the Bank has established to address risks
identified by the Bank, or that otherwise seek to prevent, deter, or detect fraud. We also considered
performance incentives and their potential to influence management to manage earnings.

Based on this understanding we designed our audit procedures to identify non-compliance with such
laws and regulations. Our procedures involved inquiries of management, internal audit, and those
responsible for legal and compliance matters; as well as focused testing as referred to in the Key Audit
Matters section above. In addition, we performed procedures to identify significant items
inappropriately held in suspense and tested journal entries with a focus on manual journals and
journals indicating large or unusual transactions based on our understanding of the business.

As the audit of a bank requires specialised audit skills, the senior statutory auditor considered the
experience and expertise of the audit team to ensure that the team had the appropriate competence
and capabilities and included the use of specialists.

A further description of our responsibilities for the audit of the financial statements is located on the
Financial Reporting Council's website at https://www frc.org.uk/auditorsresponsibifities. This description
forms part of our auditor’s report.

Other matters we are required to address

*

We were appointed by the company on 17 February 2017 to audit the financial statements for the year
ending 21 December 2017 and subsequent financial periods. The period of total uninterrupted
engagement including previous renewals and reappointments is five years, covering the years ending
31 December 2017 to 31 December 2021.

The non-audit services prohibited by the FRC's Ethical Standard were not provided to the Bank and we
remain independent of the company in conducting the audit.

The audit opinion is consistent with the additional report to the Board Audit & Risk Committee.
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Use of aur report

This report is made solely to the company’s members, as a body, in accordance with Chapter 3 of Part 16 of
the Companies Act 2006. Our audit work has been undertaken so that we might state to the company’s
members those matters we are required to state to them in an auditor’s report and for no other purpose.
To the fullest extent permitted by law, we do not accept or assume responsibility to anyone other than the
company and the company’s members as a body, for our audit work, for this report, or for the opinions we
have formed.

MA%@ Lo f

Kenneth Eglinton {Senior statutory auditor)

For and on behalf of Ernst & Young LLP, Statutory Auditor
London

08 April 2022
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Europe Arab Bank plc
Income Statement for
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Continuing operations

Interest income using the effective interest method
Other interest and similar income

Interest and similar expense

Other interest and similar expense

Net interest and similar income

Fee and commission income
Fee and commission expense
Net trading gains/losses
Other operating income

Net operating income

Arnortisation of intangible assets

Depreciation of property, plant and equipment and right-of-use
assets

Other operating expenses

Total operating expenses before impairment losses

Operating profit before impairment loss expense and tax expense

Impairment loss expense

Profit before tax
Tax charge
Profit for the year

Attributable to:
Owners of the Company

Notes

N NN N

TR W W

18

19&20

Year ended Year ended
31 December 31 December
2021 2020
€000 €000
32,406 44,028
1,763 4,065
{5,033} {20,201}
(6,868} {5,358}
22,270 22,534
6,873 7,670
(605) (546)
1,301 (291)
3,705 4,686
33,544 34,053
- {103)
{2,588) (2,656}
(28,987) (26,292}
(31,575) (29,051}
1,969 5,002
(1,567) {(4,482)
402 520
359 -
761 520
761 520
761 520
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Profit far the year

ltems that will not be reclassified

subsequently to the Income Statement:

Re-measurement of net defined benefit pension

Liability

Fair value gain/{loss} taken to equity on investment in subsidiaries

Items that may be reclassified
subsequently to profit or loss:
Fair value through other comprehensive income assets:

Fair value gain/{loss) taken to equity on financial investments - debt
Fair value gain/(loss) taken to equity on derivatives — cash flow hedge
Exchange differences on translation of non-Euro denominated operations

Other comprehensive income/(loss) for the year

Total comprehensive income/(loss) for the year

Attributable to:
Cwners of the Company

Year ended 31
December
2021

€000

761

8,076

9,773

{804}
107

17,156

17,917

17,917

Year ended 31
December
2020

€'000

520

(6,778)

{1,605)

(4)
(8,387)

(7,867)

—_—

(7,867}

—_——————
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Europe Arab Bank ple
Statement of Financial Position
as at 31 December 2021

Assets

Cash and halances at central banks

Due from banks

Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss

Financial assets at fair value through other comprehensive income
or loss

Loans and advances to customers

Financial investments at amortised cost

Derivative financial assets

Investment in subsidiaries

Property, plant and equipment

Right-of-use assets

QOther assets

Deferred tax assets

Total assets
Liabilities and Equity

Liabilities

Deposits by banks

Deposits by customers

Derivative financial liabilities

Other liabilities

Lease Liabilities

Retirement benefit liabilities — defined benefit scheme
Subordinated liabilities

Total liabilities

Equity

Called up share capital
Retained earnings
Foreign exchange reserve
Fair value reserve

Cash flow hedge reserve

Total equity

Total liabilities and equity

These financial statements have been approved by the Board of Directors and authorised for issue.

Signed on behalf of the Board of Directors:

Notes

11
12
13
15

14
15
16
17
19
20
21
10

23
24
16
25
26
22
27

28

’ E
S e e
. -

Haytham Kamhiyah
Chief Executive Officer

—

Mohammad Shoaib Memon
Chief Operating Officer

Date: 05 April 2022 Date: 05 April 2022

Company Registration No. 5575857

2021 2020
€000 €000
174,174 135,518
402,958 610,330
30,911 174,601
86,082 -
910,844 890,273
497,729 411,518
5,648 3,204
113,081 103,308
3,985 4,717
2,828 2,475
20,647 14,083
5,768 5,409
2,263,655 2,355,436
668,654 835,032
1,164,504 1,089,462
9,542 27,603
8,616 8,319
2,963 2,635
6,161 14,873
109,977 102,191
1,970,417 2,080,115
569,998 569,998
(276,880) (285,717}
(13} {17)

26 {8,943)

107 .
293,238 275,321
2,263,655 2,355,436

39



Europe Arab Bank plc
Statement of Changes in Equity for
Year ended 31 December 2021

ordi sh fair value Cash flow Foreign Retained Total

inary . are Reserve Hedge Reserve Exchange Earnings Shareholders’
Capital .
Reserve Equity
€00 €000

0 €000 €000 €000 €000

As at 31 December 2019 565,958 {7,338} - {13) {279,459} 283,188
Profit for the year - - - - 520 520
Other comprehensive income/{loss) - {1,605) - {4) (6,778) {8,387)
As at 31 December 2020 569,958 {8,943) - {17) (285,717) 275,321
Profit far the year - 761 761
Other comprehensive income/(loss) - (804) 107 4 8,076 7,383
Changes in fair value - 5,773 - - - 5,773
As at 31 December 2021 569,998 26 107 {13) {276,880} 293,238
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Cash Flow Statement for
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Cash flows from operating activities
Profit/{Loss) before tax, adjusted for:
- Depreciation
- Amortisation
- Impairment loss expense
- Loss on disposal/write-off of fixed assets
-Net foreign exchange loss/(gain} on subordinated liability
- Interest expense on lease liabilities

Decreasef{Increase) in operating and other assets
Loans advanced to customers

Loans advanced to banks

Fair value through profit or loss and derivatives
Fair value through other comprehensive income
Financial investments at amortised cost

Other assets

{Decrease}/Increase in operating and other liabilities
Customer deposits

Funds received from banks

Other liabilities and retirement benefit liabilities

Income taxes paid
Interest paid on Lease labilities

Net cash (outflows)/inflows from operating activities

Cash flows from investing activities
Acquisition of property, plant and equipment
Investment in subsidiaries

Net cash outflows frem investing activities

Cash flows from financing activities
Payment of lease liabilities

Net cash outflows from financing activities
Net (decrease)/increase in cash and cash equivalents
Cash and cash equivalents at 1 January

Cash and cash equivalents at 31 December

Operational cash flows from interest and dividends

Interest Paid
Interest received
Dividend received

200 2020

€'000 €000

402 520

1,361 1,343

- 103

1,567 4,482

1,056 -

7,784 {9,138)

a6 49

12,216 {2,641)

(31,138) 272,465

207,372 {439,250)

123,184 62,856

(86,081) .

(86,211) 141,562

{6,137) 13,310

120,989 50,943

75,042 (757,059)

{166,377) 84,745

(1539) {21,792)

(91,494) {694,106)

{46) (49)

41,665 {645,853)

{1,674) {2,005)

- {69,963}

{1,674} {71,968)

{1,335) (1,272}

{1,335) (1,272)

38,656 {719,093}

135,518 854,611

174,174 135,518
(7,137) {34,328)
29,592 46,266
206 307
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Europe Arab Bank plc
Notes to the Financial Statements for
Year ended 31 December 2021

1.

Accounting policies
Corporate information

Europe Arab Bank plc is incorporated and registered in England and Wales and provides a wide range of
banking and financial services including Corporate & Institutional Banking, Private Banking and Treasury
services. The registered office is at 13-15 Moorgate, London EC2R 6AD.

Basis of preparation

The financial statements of Europe Arab Bank plc {"the Bank’) have been prepared in accordance with UK-
adopted International Accounting Standards {“IFRSs”) in conformity with the reguirements of the Companies
Act 2006. IFRS comprise accounting standards issued by the International Accounting Standards Board (IASB).

The financial statements are presented in Euros (€), which is the functional currency of the Bank. The financial .
statements have been prepared under a going concern basis as set out in the Strategic Report.

Accounting convention

The financial statements have been prepared on the historical cost basis, except for the revaluation of certain
financial instruments that are measured at revalued amounts or fair values at the end of each reporting
period, as explained in the accounting policies below. Historical cost is generally based on the fair value of the
consideration given in exchange for goods and services.

Adoption of new and revised standards

The following new and revised standards and interpretations have been adopted in the current year. The Bank
has not adopted early any other standard, interpretation or amendment that has been issued but is not yet
effective.

Interest Rate Benchmark Reform — Phase 2: Amendments to IFRS 9, I1AS 39, IFRS 7, IFRS 4 and
IFRS 16

The amendments provide temporary reliefs which address the financial reporting effects when an interbank
offered rate {IBOR} is replaced with an alternative nearly risk-free interest rate (RFR). The amendments
include the following practical expedients:

s A practical expedient to require contractual changes, or changes to cash flows that are directly required
by the reform, to be treated as changes to a floating interest rate, equivalent to a movement in a market
rate of interest

*  Permit changes required by IBOR reform to be made to hedge designations and hedge documentation
without the hedging relationship being discontinued

¢  Provide temporary relief to entities from having to meet the separately identifiable requirement when an
RFR instrument is designated as a hedge of a risk component

These amendments had no impact on the financial statements of the bank. The bank intends to use the
practical expedients in future periods if they become applicable.

COVID-19-Related Rent Concessions beyond 30 June 2021 Amendments to IFRS 16

On 28 May 2020, the 1A5B issued COVID-19-Related Rent Concessions - amendment to IFRS 16 Leases. The
amendments provide relief to lessees from applying IFRS 16 guidance on lease modification accounting for
rent concessions arising as a direct cansequence of the COVID-19 pandentic. As a practical expedient, a lessee
may elect not to assess whether a COVID-19 related rent concession from a lessor is a lease modification. A
lessee that makes this election accounts for any change in lease payments resulting from the COVID-1%
related rent concession the same way it would account for the change under IFRS 16, if the change were not a
lease modification.
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Accounting policies (continued)

The amendment was intended to apply until 30 June 2021, but as the impact of the COVID-139 pandemic is
continuing, on 31 March 2021, the IASB extended the period of application of the practical expedient to 30
June 2022 The amendment applies to annual reporting periods beginning on or after 1 April 2021. However,
the bank has not received COVID-19-related rent concessions, but plans to apply the practical expedient if it
becomes applicable within allowed period of application.

Standards and revisions effective for future periods:
Amendments to IAS 1: Classification of Liabilities as Current or Non-current

In January 2020, the IASB issued amendments to paragraphs 69 to 76 of |AS 1 to specify the requirements for
classifying liabilities as current or non-current. The amendments clarify:

* What is meant by a right to defer settlement

» That a right to defer must exist at the end of the reporting period

+ That classification is unaffected by the (ikelihood that an entity will exercise its deferral right

* That only if an embedded derivative in a convertible liability is itself an equity instrument would the terms of
a liability not impact its classification

The amendments are effective for annual reporting periods beginning on or after 1 January 2023 and must be
applied retrospectively. The bank is currently assessing the impact the amendments will have on current
practice and whether existing loan agreements may require renegotiation.

Reference to the Conceptual Framework — Amendments to IFRS 3

In May 2020, the IASB issued Amendments to IFRS 3 Business Combinations - Reference to the Conceptual
Framework. The amendments are intended to replace a reference to the Framework for the Preparation and
Presentation of Financial Statements, issued in 1989, with a reference to the Conceptual Framework for
Financial Reporting issued in March 2018 without significantly changing its requirements.

The Board also added an exception to the recognition principle of IFRS 3 to avoid the issue of potential ‘day 2’
gains or losses arising for liabilities and contingent liabilities that would be within the scope of |AS 37 or IFRIC

21 Levies, if incurred separately.

At the same time, the Board decided to clarify existing guidance in IFRS 3 for contingent assets that would not
be affected by replacing the reference to the Framework for the Preparation and Presentation of Financial
Statements. The amendments are effective for annual reporting periods beginning on or after 1 January 2022
and apply prospectively.

Property, Plant and Equipment: Proceeds before Intended Use — Amendments to IAS 16

In May 2020, the IASB issued Property, Plant and Equipment — Proceeds before Intended Use, which prohibits
entities deducting from the cost of an item of property, plant and equipment, any proceeds from selling items
produced while bringing that asset to the location and condition necessary for it to be capable of operating in
the manner intended by management. Instead, an entity recognises the proceeds from selling such items, and
the costs of producing those items, in profit or loss.

The amendment is effective for annual reporting periods beginning on or after 1 January 2022 and must be
applied retrospectively to items of property, plant and equipment made available for use on or after the

beginning of the earliest period presented when the entity first applies the amendment.

The amendments are not expected ta have a material impact on the bank.
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Onerous Contracts — Costs of Fulfilling a Contract — Amendments to LAS 37

In May 2020, the IASB issued amendments to 1AS 37 to specify which costs an entity needs to include when
assessing whether a contract is onerous or loss-making.

The amendments apply a “directly related cost approach”. The costs that relate directly o a contract to
provide goods or services include both incremental costs and an allocation of costs directly related to contract
activities. General and administrative costs do not relate directly to a contract and are excluded unless they
are explicitly chargeable ta the counterparty under the contract.

The amendments are effective for annual reporting periods heginning on or after 1 January 2022. The bank
will apply these amendments to contracts for which it has not yet fulfilled all its obligations at the beginning of
the annual reporting period in which it first applies the amendments.

IFRS 1 First-time Adoption of International Financial Reporting Standards - Subsidiary as a first-time
adopter

As part of its 2018-2020 annual improvements to IFRS standards process, the JASB issued an amendment to
IFRS 1 First-time Adoption of International Financial Reporting Standards. The amendment permits a
subsidiary that elects to apply paragraph D16({a} of IFRS 1 to measure cumulative translation differences using
the amounts reported by the parent, based on the parent’s date of transition to IFRS. This amendment is also
applied to an associate or joint venture that elects to apply paragraph D16(a) of IFRS 1.

The amendment is effective for annual reporting periods beginning on or after 1 January 2022 with earlier
adoption permitted.

IFRS 9 Financial Instruments — Fees in the '10 per cent’ test for derecognition of financial liabilities

As part of its 2018-2020 annual improvements to IFRS standards process the 1ASB issued amendment to |FRS
9. The amendment clarifies the fees that an entity includes when assessing whether the terms of a new or
maodified financial liability are substantially different frem the terms of the original financial liability. These
fees include only those paid or received between the borrower and the lender, including fees paid or received
by either the borrower or lender on the other's behalf. An entity applies the amendment to financial liabilities
that are modified or exchanged on or after the beginning of the annual reporting period in which the entity
first applies the amendment.

The amendment is effective for annual reporting periods beginning on or after 1 January 2022 with earlier
adoption permitted. The bank will apply the amendments to financial liabilities that are modified or
exchanged on or after the beginning of the annual reporting period in which the entity first applies the
amendment.

The amendments are not expected to have a material impact on the Bank.

Definition of Accounting Estimates - Amendments to IAS 8

In February 2021, the IASB issued amendments to IAS 8, in which it introduces a definition of ‘accounting
estimates’. The amendments clarify the distinction between changes in accounting estimates and changes in
accounting policies and the correction of errors. Also, they clarify how entities use measurement technigues
and inputs to develop accounting estimates.

The amendments are effective for annual reporting periods beginning on or after 1 January 2023 and apply to

changes in accounting policies and changes in accounting estimates that occur on or after the start of that
period. Earlier application is permitted as long as this fact is disclosed.
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The amendments are not expected to have a material impact on the Bank.

Disclosure of Accounting Policies - Amendments to IAS 1 and IFRS Practice Statement 2

In February 2021, the IASB issued amendments to IAS 1 and IFRS Practice Statement 2 Making Materiality
ludgements, in which it provides guidance and examples to help entities apply materiality judgements to
accounting policy disclosures, The amendments aim to help entities provide accounting policy disclosures that
are more useful by replacing the requirement for entities to disclose their ‘significant” accounting policies with
a requirement to disclose their ‘material’ accounting policies and adding guidance on how entities apply the
concept of materiality in making decisions about accounting policy disclosures.

The amendments to IAS 1 are applicable for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2023 with earlier
application permitted. Since the amendments to the Practice Statement 2 provide non-mandatory guidance
on the application of the definition of material to accounting policy information, an effective date for these
amendments is not necessary.

The Bank is currently assessing the impact of the amendments to determine the impact they will have on the
Bank’s accounting policy disclosures.

Significant accounting policies
{a) Interest and similar income and expense

Interest and similar income on financial assets that are classified as loans and advances to customers, financial
assets other than those measured at fair value through profit or loss and interest expense on financial
liabilities other than those at fair value through profit or loss, are recognised in the ‘Interest and similar
income’ and ‘Interest and similar expense’ sections of the inceme statement using the effective interest rates
of the financial assets ar financial liabilities to which they relate.

The effective interest rate is the rate that exactly discounts the expected future cash payments or receipts
through the expected life of the financial instrument, or when appropriate, a shorter period, to the net
carrying amount of the instrument. Calculation of the effective interest rate takes into account fees receivable
that are an integral part of the instrument’s yield, premiums or discounts on acquisition, early redemption
fees and transaction costs.

Other interest income includes interest on financial assets measured at fair value through profit or loss
(‘FVTPL) and Derivatives using the contractual interest rate.

(b) Non-interest income: Fee and commission income
Fee and commission income is accounted for depending on the services to which the income relates:

e Income earned on the execution of a significant item is recognised in ‘Fee income’ when the act is
completed;

* Income earned in respect of services is recognised in ‘Fee income’ as the services are provided; and

e Income which forms an integral part of the effective interest rate of a financial instrument is recognised
as an adjustment to the effective interest rate and recorded in ‘Interest and similar income’ (Note 1{a)).
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{(c) Net trading income

Net trading income comprises all gains and losses from changes in the fair value of financial assets and
financial liabilities held for trading and related dividends.

(d} Financial assets

The Bank classifies all of its financial assets based on the business model for managing the assets and the
asset’s contraciual cash flow characteristics (whether the cash flows represent ‘solely payments of principal
and interest (SPPI}}, measured at either:

e Amortised Cost; ‘
*  Fair Value through Other Comprehensive income (FVOCI); and

»  Fair Value through Profit or Loss {(FVTPL).

Management determines the classification of financial assets at initial recognition.

Financial assets at amortised cost (Due from banks, Loans & advances to customers, Financial investments
at amortised cost)

Financial assets that are held in a business model to collect the contractual cash flows and that contain

contractual terms that give rise on specified dates to cash flows that are SPPI, are measured at amortised cost. '
The carrying value of these finandial assets at initial recognition includes any directly attributable transactions

costs,

Financial assets at amortised cost (Due from banks, Loans & advances to customers, Financial investments
at amortised cost) (continued)

In determining whether the business mode! is a ‘hold to collect” model, the objective of the business model
must be to hold the financial asset to collect contractual cash flows rather than holding the financial asset for
trading or short-term profit taking purposes. While the objective of the business model must be to hold the
financial asset to collect contractual cash flows this does not mean the Bank is required to hold the financial
assets until maturity. When determining if the business model objective is to collect contractual cash flows the
Bank will consider past sales and expectations about future sales,

Financial assets (Debt and equity instruments} measured at fair value through other comprehensive income
(FvocI)

Financial assets that are debt instruments held in a business model that is achieved by both collecting
contractual cash flows and seliing and that contain contractual terms that give rise on specified dates to cash
flows that are SPPI are measured at FVOCL. They are subsequently remeasured at fair value and changes
therein {except for those relating to impairment, interest income and fereign currency exchange gains and
losses) are recognised in other comprehensive income until the assets are sold. Upon disposal, the cumulative
gains and losses in other comprehensive income are recognised in the income statement.

When determining if the business model is achieved by both collecting contractual cash flows and selling
financial assets, the Bank will consider past sales and expectations about future sales.

For equity instruments that are not held for trading, the Bank may make an irrevocahble election to present
subsequent changes in the fair value of the instrument in other comprehensive income {(except for dividend
income which is recognised in profit or loss).
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Gains or losses on the derecognition of these equity securities are not transferred to profit or loss. These
assets are also not subject to impairment requirements and therefore no amounts are recycled to the income
statement.

Where the Bank has not made the irrevocable election to present subsequent changes in the fair value of the
instrument in other comprehensive income, equity securities are measured at fair value through profit or loss.

Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss {(FVTPL)

Financial assets that are held for trading are recognised at fair value through profit or loss. In addition,
financial assets are held at fair value through profit or loss if they do not contain contractual terms that give
rise on specified dates to cash flows that are SPPI, or if the financial asset is not held in a business model that
is either (i) a business model to collect the contractual cash flows or {ii) a business model that is achieved by
both collecting contractual cash flows and selling. Subsequent changes in fair value are recognised in the
income statement.

{e) Impairment of financial assets

The Bank has been recording the allowance for expected credit losses for all loans and other debt financial
assets not held at FVTPL, together with loan commitments and guarantees given to third parties, in this
section all referred to as ‘financial instruments’. Equity instruments are not subject to impairment under IFRS
9.

Credit risk refers to the risk that a counterparty will default on its contractual obligations resulting in financial
loss to the Bank. The Bank has adopted a policy of dealing with creditworthy counterparties and obtaining
sufficient collateral where appropriate, as a means of mitigating the risk of financial loss from default. The ECL
allowance is based on the credit losses expected to arise over the life of the asset (the lifetime expected credit
loss or LTECL, unless there has been no significant increase in credit risk since origination, in which case, the
allowance is based on the 12 months’ expected credit loss {12mECL).

The Bank assesses when a significant increase in credit risk has occurred based on quantitative and qualitative
assessments. Exposures are considered to have resulted in a significant increase in credit risk and are moved
to Stage 2 when (i) there is a drop in credit rating which is mapped to the relevant PD as defined below
(Quantitative test), (i) Accounts meet the portfolio’s "high risk’ criteria and are subject to closer credit
monitoring {Qualitative test), (i} Accounts that are 30 calendar days or more past due.

The 12mECL is the portion of LTECLs that represent the ECLs that result from default events on a financial
instrument that are possible within the 12 months after the reporting date. ECLs are calculated mainly on an
individual basis with the exception of ECLs on guarantees given to third parties which are calculated on either
an individual or a collective basis.
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(e} Impairment of financial assets (continued)

The Bank has established a policy to perform an assessment, at the end of each reporting period, of whether a
financial instrument’s credit risk has increased significantly since initial recognition, by considering the change
in the risk of default occurring over the remaining life of the financial instrument. Based on the above process,
the Bank groups its financial instruments into Stage 1, Stage 2, Stage 3 and Purchased cr criginated credit
impaired assets {'POCI’), as des¢ribed below:

* Stage 1: When financial instruments are first recagnised, the Bank recognises an allowance based on
12mECLs. Stage 1 loans also include facilities where the credit risk has improved and the loan has been
reclassified from Stage 2.

» Stage 2: When a financial instrument has shown a significant increase in credit risk since origination, the
Bank records an allowance for the LTECLs. Stage 2 loans also include facilities, where the credit risk has
improved and the loan has been reclassified from Stage 3.

» Stage 3: Financial instruments considered credit-impaired. The bank records an allowance for the LTECLs. A
financial asset is credit-impaired when principal or interest remains unpaid for 90 after its due date and/or an
objective evidence that credit risk has increased to the point that it is considered non-performing.

» POCI: Purchased or coriginated credit impaired (POCI) assets are financial assets that are credit impaired on
initial recognition. POCI assets are recorded at fair value at original recognition and interest income is
subsequently recognised based on a credit-adjusted EIR. ECLs are only recognised or released to the extent
that there is a subsequent change in the expected credit losses.

For financial assets for which the Bank has ne reasonable expectations of recovering either the entire
outstanding amount, or a proportion thereof, the gross carrying amount of the financial asset is reduced. This
is considered a (partial) derecognition of the financial asset.

The calculation of ECLs

The Bank calculates ECLs based on probability-weighted scenarios ta measure the expected cash shortfalls,
discounted at an approximation to the E1R. A cash shortfall is the difference between the cash flows that are
due to an entity in accordance with the contract and the cash flows that the entity expects to receive.

The key elements of the ECL calculations are outlined below:

* PD: The Probability of Default is an estimate of the likelihood of default over a given time horizon. A default
may only happen at a certain time over the assessed period, if the facility has not been previously
derecognised and is still in the portfolio.

* EAD: The Exposure at Default is an estimate of the exposure at a future default date, taking into account
expected changes in the exposure after the reporting date, including repayments of principal and interest,
whether scheduled by contract or otherwise, expected drawdowns on committed facilities, and accrued
interest from missed payments.

s LGD: The Loss Given Default is an estimate of the loss arising in the case where a default occurs at a given
time. It is based on the difference between the contractual cash flows due and those that the lender would
expect to receive, including from the realisation of any collateral. It is usually expressed as a percentage of the
EAD.
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{e) Impairment of financial assets (continued)

The calculation of ECLs (continued)

The mechanics of the ECL method are summarised below:

*» Stage 1: The 12mECL is calculated as the portion of LTECLs that represent the ECLs that result from default
events on a financial instrument that are possible within the 12 months after the reporting date. The Bank
calculates the 12mECL allowance based on the expectation of a default occurring in the 12 months following
the reporting date.

These expected 12-month default probabilities are applied to a forecast EAD and multiplied by the expected
LGD and discounted by an approximation to the original EIR.

s Stage 2: When a loan has shown a significant increase in credit risk since origination, the Bank records an
allowance for the LTECLs. The mechanics are similar to those explained above, including the use of multiple
scenarios, but PDs and LGDs are estimated over the lifetime of the instrument. The expected cash shortfalls
are discounted by an approximation to the original EIR.

* Stage 3: For loans considered credit-impaired, the Bank recognises the lifetime expected credit losses for
these loans. The method is similar to that for Stage 2 assets, with the PD set at 100%.

» Loan commitments, letters of credit and guarantees given to third parties

Whenr estimating LTECLs far undrawn loan commitments, the Bank estimates the expected portion of the lean
commitment that will be drawn down over its expected life. The ECL is then based on the present value of the
expected shortfalls in cash flows if the loan is drawn down. The expected cash shortfalls are discounted at an
approximation to the expected EIR on the loan.

The Bank’s liability under each guarantee given to third parties is measured at the higher of the amount
initially recognised less cumulative amortisation recognised in the income statement, and the ECL provision.
For this purpose, the Bank estimates ECLs based on the present value of the expected payments to reimburse
the holder for a credit loss that it incurs. The shortfalls are discounted by the risk-adjusted interest rate
relevant to the exposure. The ECLs related to guarantees given to third parties are recognised within other
liabilities.

The premium received is recognized in the statement of income net of fees and commission income on a
straight line basis over the life of the guarantee.
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{e) Impairment of financial assets (continued)

Debt instruments measured at fair value through OCI

The ECLs for debt instruments measured at FYOCI do not reduce the carrying amount of these financial assets |
in the statement of financial position, which remains at fair value. Instead, an amount equa! to the allowance

that would arise if the assets were measured at amortised cost is recognised in OCl as an accumulated

impairment amount, with a corresponding charge to profit or loss. The accumulated loss recognised in OCl is

recycled to the profit and loss upon derecognition of the assets.

Forward looking information

In its ECL models, the Bank relies on a broad range of forward looking information as economic inputs in the
regions in which it operates, such as:

* GDP growth

* Commodity prices

* Unemployment rates

» Central Bank base rates

* House price and stock market indices

Write-offs

Financial assets are written off either partially or in their entirety only when the Bank has stopped pursuing
their recovery.

(f) Financial liabilities

The Bank classifies its financial liabilities in the following categories:

*  Financial liabilities designated at fair value through profit or loss; and

s Other financial liabilities.

Management determines the classification of all financial liabilities at initial recognition.
Financial liabilities at fair value through profit or loss

Financial liabilities at fair value through profit or loss comprise financial liabilities that are held fer trading, and
those desighated by management as being at fair value through profit or loss on initial recognition.

Financial liabilities are classified as held for trading if they are acquired principally for the purposes of
generating a profit from sheort-term fluctuations in price or dealers margin, or form part of a portfolic of
similar liabilities for which there is evidence of a recent actual pattern of short-term profit-taking, or they are
derivatives (not designated into a qualifying hedge relationship}.

Financial iabilities may be designated at fair value through profit or loss only if such a designation: (a)
eliminates or significantly reduces a measurement or recognition inconsistency; (b} applias to a group of
financial assets, financial liabilities, or both that the Bank manages and evaluates on a fair value basis; or (c)
relates to an instrument that contains an embedded derivative which is not evidently clesely related to the
host cantract.
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{f) Financial liabilities (continued)

Financial liabilities at fair value through profit or loss are recognised initially at fair value, with transaction
costs recognised in the income statement. Subsequently, gains and losses arising from changes in fair value
are recognised as they arise in the income statement.

Gther financial liabilities

Other financial liabilities are measured at amortised cost, using the effective interest rate method {note 1{a}}.
(g) Derecognition of financial assets and liabilities

Financial assets are derecognised when the right to receive cash flows from the assets has expired; or when
the Bank has transferred its contractual right to receive the cash flows of the financial assets, and substantially
all the risks and rewards of ownership; or where control is not retained.

Financial liabilities are derecognised when they are extinguished, that is when all obligations are discharged,
cancelled or have expired, Where an existing financial liability is replaced by another from the same lender on
substantially different terms, or the terms of an existing liability are substantially modified, such an exchange
or modification is treated as a derecognition of the original liability and the recognition of a new liability. The
difference between the carrying value of the original financial liability and the consideration paid is recognised
in profit or loss.

{h) Determining fair value

All financial instruments are recognised initially at fair value. The fair value of a financial instrument on initial
recognition is normally the transaction price. Subsequently, the fair vatue of financial instruments that are
quoted in an active market are based on bid price {for assets) and offer price {for liabilities). Where there is no
quoted market price in an active market, fair values are determined using valuation technigues which refer to
ohservable market data. These include comparison with similar market instruments where market observable
prices exist, discounted cash flow analysis, option pricing models and other valuation technigques commonly
used by market participants. Where the fair value cannot be reliably determined for an investment in an
equity instrument, the instrument is measured at cost.

(i} Derivatives

Derivatives are classified as held for trading at fair value through profit or loss and accounted for in
accordance with note 1{d}. Derivatives are classified as assets when their fair value is positive or as liabilities
when their fair value is negative. Derivative assets and liabilities arising from different transactions are only
offset in accordance with note 1(k) below.

Hedge accounting

The Bank makes use of derivative instruments to manage exposures to interest rate, foreign currency and
credit risks, including exposures arising from highly probable forecast transactions and firm commitments. In
order to manage particular risks, the Bank applies hedge accounting under IAS 39 for transactions which meet

specified criteria.

At inception of the hedge relationship, the Bank formally documents the refationship between the hedged
item and the hedging instrument, including the nature of the risk management objective and strategy for
undertaking the hedge and the method that will be used to assess the effectiveness of the hedge relationship
at inception and on an ongoing basis.
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At each hedge effectiveness assessment date, a hedge relationship must be expected to be highly effective on
a prospective basis and demonstrate that it was effective (retrospective effectiveness) for the designated
period in order to qualify for hedge accounting. A formal assessment is undertaken by comparing the hedging
instrument’s effectiveness in offsetting the changes in fair value attributable to the hedged risk in the hedged
item, at inception and on an engoing basis. A hedge is expected to be highly effective if the changes in fair
value attributable to the hedged risk during the period for which the hedge is designated were offset by the
hedging instrument in a range of 80% to 125% and were expected to achieve such offset in future periods.

Fair value hedges

The Bank applies fair value hedge accounting to keep interest rate sensitivities within its established limits.
Applying fair value hedge accounting enables the Bank to reduce fair value fluctuations of fixed rate financial
assets as if they were floating rate instruments linked to the attributable benchmark rates. Fram a hedge
accounting point of view, the Bank designates the hedged risk as the exposure to changes in the fair value of a
recognised financial asset or liability or an unrecognised firm commitment, or an identified porticn of such
financial assets, liabilities or firm commitments that is attributable to a particular risk and could affect profit or
loss. The Bank only hedges changes due to interest rates such as benchmark rates, which are typically the
most significant component of the overall fair value change. The Bank assesses hedge effectiveness by
comparing fair value movements of the hedging instruments and the hedged items attributable to changes in
these benchmark rates using the dollar offset method as set cut above. Within its risk management and
hedging strategies, the Bank differentiates between micro and macro fair value hedging strategies.

In accordance with its hedging strategy, the Bank matches the principal of the hedging instruments to the
principal of the hedged items, including prepayment expectations. The Bank uses pay fixed/receive floating
interest rate swaps to hedge its fixed rate debt instruments and loans and pay floating/receive fixed interest
rate swaps to hedge its fixed rate liabilities. ‘

Cash flow hedges

The Bank applies cash flow hedge accounting to minimize the impact from variability of exchange rate when
converting future sterling denominated cast and future USS denominated revenue streams converted
respectively in EUR as presentation currency of the bank. The bank uses forward currency contracts as hedges
of its exposure to foreign currency risk in forecast transactions. The Bank designates all element of forward
contracts as a hedging instrument. The Bank assesses hedge effectiveness by using Hypothetical derivatives
method. The ineffective portion relating to foreign currency contracts is recognised as Net Trading Income.
Refer to Note 16 for more details.

The effective portion of the gain or loss on the hedging instrument is recognised in OClin the cash flow hedge
reserve, while any ineffective portion is recognised immediately in the statement of profit or loss. The cash
flow hedge reserve is adjusted to the lower of the cumulative gain or loss an the hedging instrument and the
cumulative change in fair value of the hedged item.

Hedge ineffectiveness

Hedge ineffectiveness is recognised in the income statement in ‘Net trading income’. Meanwhile, the
cumulative change in the fair vaiue of the hedged item attributabile to the risk hedged is recorded as part of
the carrying value of the hedged item in the statement of financia! position and is also recognised in the
income statement in Net trading income.
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Hedge ineffectiveness can arise from:

» Differences in timing of cash flows of hedged items and hedging instruments

= Different interest rate curves applied to discount the hedged items and hedging instruments

=+ Derivatives used as hedging instruments having a non-nil fair value at the time of designation

+ The effect of changes in counterparties’ credit risk on the fair values of hedging instruments or hedged items
Embedded derivatives

Derivalives may be embedded in other financial instruments. Embedded derivatives are treated as separate
derivatives when their economic characteristics and risks are not clearly and closely related to those of the
host contract; the terms of the embedded derivative are the same as those of a stand-alone derivative; and
the combined contract is not held for trading or designated at fair value through profit or loss.

{j) Sale and repurchase agreements

Investment and other securities may be lent or sold subject to a commitment to repurchase them (a ‘repo’).
Such securities are retained on the statement of financial position when substantially all the risks and rewards
of ownership remain with the Bank, and the counterparty liability is included separately in depaosits by banks
on the statement of financial position as appropriate. Similarty, where the Bank borrows or purchases
securities subject to a commitment to resell them (a ‘reverse repo’) but does not acquire the risks and
rewards of ownership, the transactions are treated as collateralised loans, and the securities are not included
in the statement of financial position. The difference between sale and repurchase price is accrued over the
life of the agreements using the effective interest method (see note 1(a}}.

(k) Offset of financial assets and financial liabilities

Financial assets and financial liabilities are offset and the net amount reported in the statement of financial
position where there is a legal right to offset the recognised amounts and the parties intend to settle the cash
flows on a net basis, or realise the asset and settle the liability simultaneously.

{I} Investment in subsidiaries

Investment in equity instruments of subsidiaries is carried at fair value through other comprehensive income.
Movement in the value of the investment in subsidiaries will not be reclassified to the income statement.

{m} Property, plant and equipment

Property, plant and equipment are stated at cost less accumulated depreciation and any accumulated
impairment losses.

Property, plant and equipment are depreciated at their depreciable amounts according to the straight-line
method over the estimated useful life of each class of asset. Depreciable amount is the cost of an asset, or
other amount substituted for cost, less its residual value. The usefut life for each class of asset is as follows:

Freehold improvements 12 Years

Leasehold impravements Over the remaining life of the lease
Furniture, fixtures and fittings 6 years

Software related to hardware 5 years

Maotor vehicles 5 years

Computer and communication equipment 3 vears
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(m) Property, plant and equipment {continued)

At each statement of financial position date property, plant and equipment are assessed for indications of
impairment. If indications are present, these assets are subject to an impairment review. The impairment
review comprises a comparison of the carrying amount of the asset with its recoverable amount: the higher of
the asset’s net selling price and its value in use. Net selling price is calculated by reference to the amount at
which the asset could be disposed of in a binding sale agreement in an arm’s length transaction evidenced by
an active market or recent transactions for similar assets. Value in use is calculated by discounting the
expected future cash flows obtainable as a result of the asset’s continued use, including those resulting from
its ultimate disposal, at a market-based discount rate on a pre-tax basis.

The carrying values of fixed assets are written down by the amount of any impairment and this loss is
recognised in the income statement in the period in which it occurs. A previously recognised impairment loss
relating to a fixed asset may be reversed in part ar in full when a change in circumstances leads to a change in
the estimates used to determine the fixed asset’s recoverable amount.,

The carrying amount of the fixed asset will only be increased up to the amount that it would have been had
the original impairment not been recognised.

{n} Intangible assets acquired separately

Intangible assets with finite useful lives that are acquired separately are carried at cost less accumulated
amortisation and accumulated impairment losses. Amortisation is recognised on a straight-line basis over
their estimated useful lives. The estimated useful life and amortisation method are reviewed at the end of
each reporting period, with the effect of any changes in estimate being accounted for on a prospective basis.
The useful life for each class of intangible asset is as follows:

Software 5 years

Intangibte assets with indefinite useful lives that are acquired separately are carried at cost iess accumulated
impairment losses.

An intangible asset is derecognised on disposal, or when no future economic benefits are expected from use
or disposal. Gains or losses arising from derecognition of an intangible asset, measured as the difference
between the net disposal proceeds and the carrying amount of the asset, and are recognised in profit or loss
when the asset is derecognised.

At each statement of financial position date, the Bank reviews the carrying amounts of its intangible assets to
determine whether there is any indication that those assets have suffered an impairment loss. If any such
indication exists, the recoverable amount of the asset is estimated to determine the extent of the impairment
loss {if any}.

If the recoverable amount of an asset is estimated to be less than its carrying amount, the carrying amaunt of
the asset is reduced to its recoverable amount. Where an impairment loss subsequently reverses, the carrying
amount of the asset is increased to the revised estimate of its recoverable amount, but so that the increased
carrying amount does not exceed the carrying amount that would have been determined had no impairment
loss been recognised for the asset in prior years. A reversal of an impairment loss is recognised immediately in
profit ar lass, unless the relevant asset is carried at a revalued amount, in which case the reversal of the
impairment loss is treated as a revaluation increase.
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{0) Leases

The Bank assasses at inception whether a contract is, or contains, a lease. That is, if the contract conveys the
right to control the use of an identified asset for a period of time in exchange for consideration.

The Bank applied a single recognition and measurement approach for all leases. The Bank recognises lease
liabilities to make lease payments and right-of-use assets representing the right to use the underlying assets.

The Bank recognises right-of-use assets at the commencement date of the lease (i.e. the date the underlying
asset is available for use). Right-of-use assets are measured at cost, less any accumulated depreciation and
impairment losses, and adjusted for any remeasurement of lease liabilities. Right-of-use assets are
depreciated on a straight-line basis over the lease term. The Bank also recognises lease liabilities at the
cammencement date of the lease, measured at the present value of lease payments to be made over the
lease term. The lease payments include fixed payments and variable lease payments that depend on an
index/rate.

Lease liabilities are recognised based an the present value of the remaining lease payments, discounted using
the incremental borrowing rate at the date of initial recognition. After the commencement date, the amount
of lease liabilities is increased to reflect the accretion of interest and reduced for the lease payments made. In
addition, the earrying amount of lease liabilities is remeasured if there is a modification, a change in the lease
term, a change in the lease payments {e.g., changes to future payments resulting from a change in an index or
rate used to determine such lease payments) or a change in the assessment of an option to purchase the
underlying asset.

The Bank is not exposed to leases as a lessor.

{p} Employee benefits

Short-term employee benefits, such as salaries, paid absences and other benefits, are accounted for on an
accruals basis over the period which employees have provided services in the year. Bonuses are recognised to
the extent that the Bank has a present obligation to its employees that can be measured reliably. All expenses
related to employee benefits are recognised in the income statement in staff costs, which is included within
operating expenses. The Bank provides both defined benefit and defined contribution pension scheme for its
staff.

For the defined benefit retirement benefit scheme, the cost of providing benefits is determined using the
projected unit credit method with actuarial valuations being carried at the end of each reporting period.
Remeasurement comprising actuarial gains and losses, the effect of the asset ceiling (if applicable) and the
return on scheme assets (excluding interest} are recognised immediately in the statement of financial position
with a charge or credit to the statement of comprehensive income in the period in which they occur.
Remeasurement recorded in the statement of comprehensive income is not recycled. Past service cost is
recognised in the income statement in the period of scheme amendment. Net-interest is calculated by
applying a discount rate to the net defined benefit liability or asset.

The retirement benefit obligation recognised in the statement of financial position represents the deficit or
surplus in the Bank’s defined benefit scheme. Any surplus resulting from this calculation is limited to the
present value of any economic benefits available in the form of refunds from the scheme or reductions in the
future contributions to the scheme.
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For defined contribution schemes, the Bank recognises contributions due in respect of the accounting pericd
in the income statement. Any contributions unpaid at the statement of financial position date are included as
a liability.

(q) Provisions

Provisions are recognised when it is probable that an outfiow of economic benefits will be required to settle a
current legal or constructive obligation as a result of past events, and a refliable estimate can be made of the
amount of the obligation.

(r} Taxes

Income tax on the profit or loss for the year comprises current tax and deferred tax. Income tax is recognised
in the income statement except to the extent that it relates to items recognised directly in shareholders’
equity, in which case it is recognised in shareholders’ equity.

Current tax is the tax expected to be payable on the taxable profit for the year, calculated using tax rates
enacted or substantively enacted by the statement of financial position date, and any adjustment to tax
payable in respect of previous year.

Deferred tax is recognised on temporary differences between the carrying amounts of assets and liabilities in
the statement of financial position and the amounts attributed to such assets and liabilities for tax purposes.
Deferred tax liabilities are generally recognised for all taxable temporary differences and deferred tax assets
are recognised to the extent it is probable that future taxable profits will be available against which deductible
temporary differences can be utilised.

Deferred tax is determined using tax rates and legislation enacted, or substantively enacted, by the statement
of financia! position date and is expected to apply when the deferred tax asset is realised or the deferred tax
liability is settled.

Deferred and current tax assets and liabilities are only offset when they arise in the same tax reporting group
and where there is both the legal right and the intention to settle on a net basis or to realise the asset and
settle the liability simultaneously.

(s) Foreign currencies

Transactions in foreign currencies are translated into Euros at the foreign exchange rate ruling at the date of
the transaction. Monetary assets and liabilities denominated in foreign currencies are translated into Euros at
the rates of exchange ruling at the statement of financial position date. Foreign exchange differences arising
on translation are recognised in profit or loss except for differences arising on ¢ash flow hedges. Non-
mongtary items denominated in foreign currencies that are stated at fair value are translated into Euros at
foreign exchange rates ruling at the dates the values were determined. Translation differences arising on non-
monetary items measured at fair value are recognised in profit or loss except for differences arising on
financial instrument at FYOC) non-monetary financial assets, such as equity shares, which are included in the
financial instrument at FVOCI reserve in equity unless the asset is the hedged item in a fair value hedge.

(t) Capital instruments

The Bank classifies a financial instrument that it issues as a financial liabifity or an equity instrument in
accordance with the substance of the contractual arrangement. An instrument is classified as a liability if itis a
contractual obligation to deliver cash or another financial asset, or to exchange financial assets or financial
liabilities on potentially unfavourable terms. An instrument is classified as equity if it evidences a residual
interest in the assets of the Bank after the deduction of liabilities.
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1.

Accounting policies {continued)
Significant accounting policies {continued)

The components of a compound financial instrument issued by the Bank are classified and accounted for
separately as financial liabilities or equity as appropriate.

{u) Cash and cash equivalents
Cash and cash equivalents comprise cash and balances with central banks of a short-term nature.
(v) Segment reporting

The Bank’'s segmental reporting 1s based on the following strategic business units: Corporate & Institutional
Banking; Treasury; Private Banking and Others (which includes centralised functions).

(w) Company only financial statements

The Bank is a whaolly-owned subsidiary of Arab Bank ple, a company incorporated in Jordan and registered at
Shmeisani PO Box 144186, Amman 11814, Jordan, and in accordance with Section 401 of the Companies Act
2006, is not required to produce, and has not published, conselidated financial statements.

(x) Fair value of financial instruments

Where the fair values of financial assets and liabilities recorded on the statement of financial position cannot
be derived from active markets, they are determined using a variety of valuation techniques that include use
of mathematical models. The inputs to these models are |argely derived from observable market data, but
where observable market data is not available, judgement is required to establish fair values.

{y) Significant judgements and estimates

The preparation of the Bank’s financial statements requires management to make judgements, estimates and
assumptions that affect the reported amount of revenues, expenses, assets and liabilities, and the
accompanying disclosures, Uncertainty about these assumptions and estimates could result in outcomes that
require a material adjustment to the carrying amount of assets or liabilities affected in future periods. The
critical accounting judgements are noted below.

(ii) Impairment losses on financial assets

The measurement of impairment losses across all categories of financial assets requires judgment. In
particular, judgement by management is required in the assessment of a significant increase in credit risk and
in the estimation of the amount and timing of future cash flows when determining the impairment loss. In
estimating these cash flows, the Bank makes judgements about the borrowers’ financial situation and the net
realisable value of collateral. These estimates are based on assumptions about a number of factors and actual
results may differ, resulting in future changes to the impairment loss allowance,

The Bank’s ECL calculations are outputs of complex models with a number of underlying assumptions
regarding the choice of variabte inputs and their interdependencies. Elements of the ECL models that are
considered accounting judgments and estimates include:

e  The Bank’s internal credit rating model, which assigns PDs to the individual grades.

s  The Bank’s criteria for assessing if there has been a significant increase in credit risk.

s  Development of ECL models, including the various formulas and the choice of inputs.

. Determination of associations between macroeconemic scenarios and economic inputs.
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1

Accounting policies {continued)

Significant accounting policies {continued)

(i} Retirement benefit obligations

The cost of the defined benefit pension plan is determined using an actuarial valuation. The actuarial valuation
involves making assumptions about discount rates, expected rates of return on assets, future salary increases,
mortality rates and future pension increases. Due to the long-term nature of the plan, such estimates are
subject to uncertainty.

(iv) Recognition of deferred tax assets

The recognition of deferred tax assets is based upon whether it is more likely than not that sufficient and
suitable taxable profits will be available in the future against which the reversal of temporary differences can
be deducted therefore recognition involves judgment regarding the future financial performance of the Bank.
Significant items on which the Bank has exercised accounting judgment include recagnition of deferred tax
assets in respect of tax losses and capital allowances.
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2. interest and similar income and expense
Year ended 31 Year ended 31
December 2021 December
€000 2020
€000
Interest and similar income from financial assets at amortised
cost and OCl
Cash and funds held with central banks - 74
Due from banks 442 1,742
Loans and advances to customers* 22,585 30,009
Financial investments at amortised cost 9,355 12,203
Financial Investments through CCI 24 -
Total interest and similar income 32,406 44,028
Other interest and similar income
Financial investments measured at fair value through profit or 1,763 4,065
loss
Derivatives - -
1,763 4,065
34,169 48,093
Interest and similar expense
Deposits by banks {856) (3,445)
Cash and funds held with central banks {614) (1,989)
Customer accounts (2,619) (12,924}
Subordinated liabilities {734) {1,662)
Other {210) (177)
Total interest and similar expense (5,033) (20,201}
Other interest and similar expense
Derivatives (6,866) {5,358)
(11,899} (25,559)
Net interest and similar income 22,270 22,534

*interest income from loans and advances to customers is presented net of impaired interest amounting to €14.26m (2020: €7.55m).
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3. Fees and commission income and expense

Year ended 31 Year ended 31
December December 2020
2021 €000

€000
Banking and credit related fees and income 6,363 6,864
COther commissions and fee income 510 806
Fees and commission income 6,873 7,670
Fees and commission expense (605) (546)

Fees arising from trust and other fiduciary activities that result in the holding of assets on behalf of individuals,

trusts or other institutions amounted to €144,980 (2020:€102,870).

4, Net trading {losses)/gains
Year ended 31  Year ended 31
December 2021 December 2020
€000 €000
Foreign exchange dealing 198 934
Trading Secuyrities 1,103 {1,225)
1,301 (291)

Net interest income on held for trading financial instruments has been included in Interest and similar income

and expense (note 2}.

5. Other operating income
Year ended 31 Year ended 31
December 2021 December
€000 2020
€000
Revenue from services 55 58
Rental income 261 458
Income from subsidiaries including dividend 3,200 3,415
Other revenue i8¢ 755
3,705 4,686
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6. Other operating expenses
Year ended 31 Year ended
December 2021 31 December
€000 2020
€000
Staff costs (note 7) 18,060 14,543
Administrative expenses 5,575 6,690
Auditor’s remuneration {see below) 677 597
Other expenses 4,629 4,413
Interest expense on lease liabilitics 46 49
28,987 26,292

Auditor’s remuneration

Amounts paid and payable to the Bank’s principal auditor, Ernst & Young LLP and its affiliated firms were as

follows:
Year ended Year ended
31 December 31 December
2021 2020
€'000 €000
Fees payable to the Bank's auditor for the audit of the
annual financial statements 507 432
Total qudit fees 507 432
Other services:
- Audit related assurance services 165 143
- Other services 5 22
Total non-audit fees 170 165
677 597
7. Staff costs
Year ended Year ended
31 December 31 December
2021 2020
€000 €000
Salaries, wages and allowances 14,871 11,459
Social security costs 1,956 1,879
Pension costs — defined contribution scheme 1,233 1,205
18,060 14,543

The average number of permanent persons employed by the Bank in 2021 was 114 (2020: 115). Of these, 38
(2020: 40) were employed in the strategic business units and credit administration, 55 (2020: 55) were
employed in the support units, and 21 (2020: 20) were employed in contral and risk functions. The total

number of persons employed at the end of 2021 was 110 (2020: 114).
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8. Impairment loss expense

In €000

2021

Due from banks

Loans and advances to customers
Debt instruments measured at
amartised cost

Guarantees, letters of credit and
other commitments

Total Impairment loss

2020

Due from banks

Loans and advances to customers
Debt instruments measured at
amortised cost

Guarantees, letters of credit and
other commitments

Total impairment loss

The table below shows the expected credit losses (ECLs) charges on financial instruments for the year
recorded in the income statement:

Year ended 31

Stage 1 Stage 2 Stage 3 December
{70} - - {70}
{1,558) 2,921 1,276 2,639
53 - - 53
{1,093) 38 - (1,055}
{2,668) 2,959 1,276 1,567
170 (51} - 119
(767} (2,751) 7,575 4,057
225 - - 225
355 (396) (178) 81
(17) (2,898) 7,397 4,482
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9. Tax charge

Current taxation:

UK corporation tax (credit}/charge for the year
Foreign tax for current year

Adjustment in respect of prior years

Deferred tax charge for the year
Deferred tax — adjustment in respect of prior years
Rate change movement

Taxation charge

Year ended 31

Year ended 31

December 2021 December 2020
€000 £'000
776 215
32 354
{1,167} (569)
(359} -

The actual tax charge/(credit} for the year differs from the expected tax charge/{credit) for the year computed
by applying the standard rate of UK corporation tax of 19% (2020: 19%) as follows:

Profit before tax

Expected tax charge at 19% (2020: 19%)
Permanent disallowables

Foreign profits taxed at other rates
Adjustment in respect of prior years

Change in tax rate

Movement in unrecognised deferred tax asset

Actual tax charge in Income Statement

Year ended Year ended
31 December 31 December
2021 2020

€000 €000

402 520

76 99

232 61

32 354
(1,167) {569)
468 55

(359) -

At 31 December 2021, deferred tax balances were valued with reference to the corporation tax rate of 19%.
The Finance Act 2021 increases the main rate of corporate tax to 25% with effect from 1 April 2023. This has
been applied in the measurement of the Company's closing deferred tax asset as at 31 December 2021.
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Deferred tax

Deferred tax assets recognised by the Bank and movements therean during the current reporting period in

respect of:

Balance at 1 January

Recognised in Income Statement
Adjustment in respect of prior years
Rate change movement

FX {loss)/gain

Balance at 31 December

The deferred tax asset consists of:

Accelerated capital allowances
Pension costs

Unpaid remuneration

Unutilised tax losses recognised
Adoption of IFRS 9 — ECL take on
Other temporary differences

Temporary Total
differences
2021 2020 2021 2020
€000 €000 €000 €000
5,409 5,714 5,409 5,714
{776} {215) {776) {215}
(32) {354) {32) (354)
1,167 569 1,167 565
- (305) - (305)
5,768 5,409 5,768 5,409
Year ended Year ended
31 31 December
December 2020
2021 €000
€000
73 32
1,347 1,313
- 286
3,812 3,332
457 370
79 75
5,768 5,409

At the statement of financial position date, the Bank has unused tax losses of €364mn {2020: £364mn) and
other temporary differences of €12mn {2020: €22mn) available for offset against future profits. A deferred tax
asset has been recagnised on losses of €16mn (2020: €18mn) and gross temporary differences of €9mn (2020:
€11mn). No deferred tax asset has been recognised in respect of the remaining €348mn (2020: €346mn) of
losses and €3mn (2020: €11mn} of other temporary differences at the statement of financial position date due
to limited certainty with respect to forecasting profits over extended future periods.
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11.  Cash and balances at central banks

2021 2020
€000 €000
Cash 389 369
Balances with central banks 173,785 135,149
174,174 135,518
12, Due trom banks
2021 €000 2020
€000
Current accounts 410,725 617,614
Time deposits - -
Due from banks before impairment 410,725 617,614
Less: impairment loss allowances (7,767) {7.284)
402,958 610,330
Amounts above include:
Due from parent company 12,737 14,791
Due from fellow subsidiaries 4,147 4,929
Due from subsidiaries 251,999 493,515
268,883 513,235

Impairment allowance for due from banks

The table below discloses the credit quatity and maximum exposure to credit risk based en the Bank's internal
credit rating system and year-end stage classification. The amounts presented are gross of impairment

allowances.

In €000
Stage 1 Stage 2

Internal rating grade Individuai Individual Stage 3 Total
2021
1-3 ~investment grade 115,977 - - 115,577
4-5 — standard manitoring 270,475 - - 270,475
6 ~ special monitoring 16,795 - - 16,795
7 —watch - - 7,478 7,478
8-10 - classified R . . R
Total 403,247 - 7,478 410,725
2020
1-3 - investment grade 55,843 - - 55,843
4-5 — standard manitaring 554,771 - - 554,771
& - special monitoring 51 - - 51
7 ~watch - - 6,949 6,945
8-10 - classified - - - -
Total 610,665 - 6,949 617,614
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12.

Due from banks (continued)

Impairment allowance for due from banks {continued)

An analysis of changes in the gross carrying amount and the corresponding ECL allowances is as follows:

In €000

Gross carrying amount as at 1 January 2021

New assets originated or purchased

Assets derecognised or repaid (excluding write offs)
Transfers to Stage 1

Adjustments during the period

Transfers to Stage 2

Transfers to Stage 3

Amounts written off

Foraign exchange adjustments

At 31 December 2021

ECL allowance as at 1 January 2021
Charged to income relating to new facilities
Net charge to income {increase/decrease in outstanding
balances)

Transfers to Stage 1

Transfers to Stage 2

Transfers to Stage 3

Adjustments during the period

Recoveries

Amounts written off

Foreign exchange adjustments

At 31 December 2021

In €000

Gross carrying amount as at 1 January 2020

New assets ariginated or purchased

Assets derecognised or repaid (excluding write offs)
Transfers to Stage 1

Adjustments during the period

Transfars to Stage 2

Transfers to Stage 3

Amounts written off

Fareign exchange adjustments

At 31 December 2020

ECL allowance as at 1 January 2020

Charged to income relating to new facilities

Net charge to income (increase/decrease to staging)
Transfers to Stage 1

Transfers to Stage 2

Transfers to Stage 3

Adjustments during the period

Recoveries

Amounts written off

Foreign exchange adjustrments

At 31 December 2020

Stage 1 Stage 2
Individual Individual Stage 3 Total
610,665 - 6,949 617,614
137,936 - - 137,936
{325,930) - - (325,%30)
(19,425) - 529 {18,896)
403,247 - 7,478 410,725
334 - 6,949 7,283
14 - - 14
(66} - - (66)
(18} - (18)
24 - 52% 553
288 - 7478 7,766
Stage 1 Stage 2
I\ndividual Individual Stage 3 Total
139,496 31,814 7,570 178,880
538,858 - - 538,859
66,427) (20,359) - (86,786)
8,844 {8,844) N
{10,107) {2,611) (621} {13,339}
610,665 - 6,949 617,614
174 56 7,569 7,800
15 - - 15
117 - - 117
51 (51) - -
(13} - {13}
{10} {5) (620) (635)
334 - 6,949 7,284
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13.  Financial investments at fair value through profit or loss

14,

Held for trading — bonds (quoted)

Loans and advances to customers

Discounted bills

Corporate loans and advances
Other loans and advances

Impaired interest

Expected credit allowances

Impairment allowance for loans and advances to customers

2020
€000
30,911 174,601
30,911 174,601
2021 2020
€000 €000
58,112 54,273
881,695 838,970
70,070 69,358
{35,404} (24,008)
974,473 938,593
(54,629} (48,320)
919,844 890,273

The table below discloses the credit quality and maximum exposure to credit risk based on the Bank’s internal

credit rating system and year-end stage classification. The amounts presented are gross of impairment

allowances.

In €000
Internal rating grade

2021

1-3 — investment grade
4-5 — standard monitoring
b — special monitoring

7 —watch

8-10 - classified

2020

1-3 - investment grade
4-5 — standard monitoring
6 — special monitoring

7 —watch

8-10 - classified

Stage 1

Stage 2

=~ E Stage 3 Total
Individual Individual
154,523 - - 154,523
433,453 6,069 - 439,522
241,273 20,161 - 261,434
- 2,415 9,146 11,561
- 5,776 101,657 107,433
829,249 34,421 110,803 974,473
156,035 - 156,035
427,174 - - 427,174
224,202 15,329 - 239,531
- 9,315 8,499 17,814
- 3,307 94,732 58,039
807,411 27,951 103,231 938,593
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14.  Loans and advances to customers {continued}

An analysis of changes in the gross carrying amount and the corresponding ECL allowances is as follows:

Stage 1 Stage 2
tn €060 Individual individual Stage 3 Total
Gross catrying amount as at 1 January 2021 807,411 27,951 103,231 938,593
New assets originated or purchased 321,353 264 ~ 323,542
Assets derecagnised or repaid {exctuding write offs) {344,906) {5,525} - (352,367}
Adjustments during the period - - - -
Transfers to Stage 1 12 {12) - -
Transfers to Stage 2 {10,340) 10,340 - -
Transfers to Stage 3 (11) - 11 -
Foreign exchange adjustments 55,730 1,404 7.560 64,705
Amounts written off - - - -
At 31 December 2021 829,245 34,421 110,803 974,473
ECL allowance as at 1 lanuary 2021 3,994 873 43,453 43,320
Charged to income relating 10 new facilities 916 - - 916
Net charge to income (increase/decrease to staging) (1,400} 2,856 1,276 2,732
Transfers to Stage 1 - . - -
Transfers to Stage 2 (65) 65 - -
Transfers to Stage 3 - - - -
Adjustments during the period - -
Recoveries (1,010} - - {1,010}
Foreign exchange adjustments 297 65 3,309 3671
Amounts written off - - - -
At 31 December 2021 2,732 3,858 48,038 54,629
Stage 1 Stage 2

In € 00¢ Individual Individual Stage 3 Total
Gross carrying amount as at 1 January 2020 1,073,378 75,835 68,600 1,217,813
New assets originated or purchased 146,724 191 - 146,915
Assets derecognisad or repaid (excluding write offs) {339,892) (6,841} {3,313) (350,046)
Adjustments during the period - - - -
Transfers to Stage 1 - - -

Transfers 1o Stage 2 (3,211) 3,211 - -
Transfers to Stage 3 - (43,256) 43,256 -
foreign exchange adjustments (69,588) (1,189} {5,312) {76,089)
Amounts written off - - - -
At 31 December 2020 807,411 27,951 103,231 938,593
ECL allowance as at 1 January 2020 5,152 3,948 41,453 50,593
Charged to income relating 1o new facilities 922 - - 922
Net charge to income (increase/decrease to staging) (459) {629} 8,142 7,054
Transfers to Stage I - - - -
Transfers to Stage 2 (156) 16 -
Transfers to Stage 3 - - - -
Adjustments during the pericd - - - -
Recoveries (1,214) (2,138} {567) (3,913}
Foreign exchange adjustments {391) (324} {5,615} (6,330}
Amounts written off - - - -
At 31 December 2020 3,994 873 43,453 48,320

Included in the ECL allowance are assets with a balance of £€36.4m {2020: €32.4m) which have been placed under
administration and/or liquidation.
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15. Financial investments other than those measured at FVTPL

Below is an analysis of the Bank’s financial investments other than those measured at FVTPL:

Debt instruments at FV through OCI
Governmental bonds {quoted)
8anks and financial institutions bonds {quoted)

Total debt instruments at FV through OCI

Debt instruments at amortised cost

Banks and financial institutions bonds {quated)
Governmental bonds {quated)

Corporate bonds (quoted)

Impairment loss allowance

Total debt instruments at amortised cost

Total financial investments other than those measured at FVTPL

2021 2020
€000 €000
47,328 -
38,754 -
86,082 -

2021 2020
€000 €000
388,912 357,069
92,418 -
17,973 55,888
(1,574) (1,439)
497,729 411,518

583,811 411,518

The table below discloses the credit quality and maximum exposure to credit risk based on the Bank’s internal
credit rating system and year-end stage classification. The amounts presented are gross of impairment

allowances.
Debt instruments at FV through OCI

In €000

Internal rating grade

2021

1-3 - investment grade
4-5 ~ standard monitoring
& — special menitoring

7 —watch

B-10 - classified

Total

Stage 2

Individual Stage 3 Total
86,082
86,082
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15.  Financial investments other than those measured at FVTPL {continued)

Debt instruments at amortised cost

In €°000
Stage 1 Stage 2
Internal rating grade Individual Individual Stage 3 Total
2021
1-3 —investment grade 282,434 282,434
4-5 — standard monitoring 83,667 83,667
6 - special monitoring 133,202 133,202
7 ~watch - -
8-10 - classified - -
Totat 499,303 499,303
2020
1-3 —investment grade 321,882 321,882
4-5 — standard monitoring 53,232 53,232
6 - special monitoring 37,843 37,843
7 ~ watch - -
8-10 - classified - .
Total 412,957 412,957
An analysis of changes in the gross carrying amount and the corresponding ECLs is as follows:
Debt instruments at FV through OCI
Stage 1 Stage 2
In €'000 Individual Individual Stage 3 Total
Gross carrying amount as at 1 January 2021 - - - -
New assets originated or purchased 86,082 86,082
Assets derecognised or repaid (excluding write offs) - - -
Adjustments during the period - - - -
Transfers to Stage 1 - R R
Transfers to Stage 2 - - R
Transfers to Stage 3 - - - .
Foreign exchange adjustments -
Amounts written off - - -
At 31 December 2021 86,082 - - 86,082

ECL allowance as at 1 January 2021 - -
Charged to income relating to new facilities - -
Net charge to income {increase/decrease to staging) - -
Transfers to Stage 1 - -
Transfers to Stage 2 - -
Transfers to Stage 3 - -
Adjustments during the period - -
Recoveries - -
Foreign exchange adjustments - -
Amaounts written off - -

At 31 December 2021 - .
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Financial investments other than those measured at FVTPL (continued)

15.

Debt instruments at amortised cost

In €000

Gross carrying amount as at 1 January 2021

New assets originated or purchased

Assets derecognised or repaid (excluding write offs)
Adjustments during the period

Transfers to Stage 1

Transfers to Stage 2

Transfers tc Stage 3

Foreign exchange adjustments

Amounts written off

At 31 December 2021

ECL allowance as at 1 January 2021

Charged to income relating to new facitities

Net charge to income (increase/decrease to staging)
Transfers to Stage 1

Transfers to Stage 2

Transfers to Stage 3

Adjustments during the period

Recoverias

Foreign exchange adjustments

Amounts written off

At 31 December 2021

In €000

Gross carrying amount as at 1 January 2020

New assets originated or purchased

Assets derecognised or repaid (excluding write offs)
Adjustments during the period

Transfers to Stage 1

Transfers to Stage 2

Transfers to Stage 3

Foreign exchange adjustrents

Amounts written off

At 31 December 2020

ECL allowance as at 1 January 2020

Charged to income relating to new facilities

Net charge to income (intrease/decrease to staging)
Transfers to S5tage 1

Transfers to Stage 2

Transfers to Stage 3

Adjustments during the period

Recoveries

Foreign exchange adjustments

Amgcunts written off

At 31 December 2020

Stage 1 Stage 2
Individual Individual Stage 3 Total
412,957 - - 412,957
129,854 - - 129,854
(63,189) - - {63,189)
19,681 - - 19,681
499,303 - - 499,303
1,439 - - 1,439
282 - - 282
(228} - - (228)
82 - - 82
1,574 - - 1,574
Stage 1 Stage 2
Individual Individual Stage 3 Total
554,385 - - 554,385
18,939 18,939
(127,353} - - {127,353}
(33,014} - {33,014}
412,957 - - 412,957
1,305 - - 1,305
61 61
211 - - 211
(47) - - {47}
(91) - - (91}
1,439 - - 1,439
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16.

Derivatives

The Bank’s objectives and policies on managing the risks that arise in connection with derivatives are included
in note 1{i} and note 33.

The gross notional amounts represent the amounts of all outstanding contracts at year-end. It is the sum of
the absolute amount of all purchases and sales of derivative instruments. The notional amounts of the
derivatives provide a basis for comparison with instruments recognised on the statement of financial position,
but does not indicate the amounts of future cash flows involved or the current fair value of the instruments
and therefore, do not indicate the Bank’s exposure to credit or price risks.

Derivatives are measured at their fair value, which is calculated as the present value of future expected net
contracted cash flows at market related rates as of the statement of financial position date.

The Bank enters into the following main types of derivative contracts:
Interest rate swaps

These are agreements between two parties to exchange periodic payments of interest over a set period based
on notional principal amounts. The Bank enters into interest rate swaps, exchanging fixed rates for floating
rates of interest based on notional amounts.

Currency forward contracts

Forward foreign exchange contracts are over the counter (OTC) agreements to deliver, or take delivery of, a
specified amount of an asset or financizal instrument based on a specified rate applied against the underlying
asset or financial instrument, at a specified date.

Derivative financial instruments held or issued for trading purposes

Most of the Bank’s derivatives trading activities relate to deals with customers that are normally offset by
transactions with other counterparties. The Bank may also, from time to time, take limited short term
positions within the prescribed market risk limits approved by the Board of Directors.

Also included under the classification are any derivatives entered into for risk management purposes that do
not meet the |AS 39 hedge accounting criteria.

Derivative financial instruments held or issued for hedging purposes

As part of its asset and liability management, the Bank uses derivatives for hedging purposes in order to
reduce its exposure to market risk. This is achieved by hedging specific financial instruments, portfolios of
fixed rate financial instruments and forecast transactions.

The accounting treatment, explained in note 1(i) hedge accounting, depends on the nature of the item hedged
and compliance with IAS39 hedge accounting criteria.
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16.

Derivatives (continued)

The fair values and notional amounts of derivative instruments are set out in the following table:

Derivatives held for trading
Interest rate swaps
Cunrency lurwadrd Luntracts

Derivatives used as fair value
hedges

Interest rate swaps
Derivatives used as cash flow
hedges

Currency forward cantracts

Tota! recognised derjvative assets

and liabilities

Fair value hedges

2021
Fair Fair value
Notional value liability
asset
€000 €000 €000
53,333 76 249
443,794 1,885 3,987
497,127 1,961 4,237
685,195 3,574 5,299
38,130 113 &
1,220,452 5,648 9,542

2020
Fair Fair
Notional value value
asset liability
€000 €000 €000
203,172 1,529 7.016
477,653 736 8,651
80,825 2,265 15,657
503,503 939 11,936
1,184,328 3,204 27.603

Fair value hedges are used by the Bank to protect it against changes in the fair value of financial assets and
financial liabilities due to movements in interest rates. The financial instruments hedged for interest rate risk

include fixed rate loans, debt securities at amortised cost and other borrowed funds. The Bank uses interest

rate swaps and interest rate futures to hedge interest rate risk.

The impact of the hedged item on the statement of financial position as at 31 December 2021 is as follows:

Hedged item

Fixed-rate loans

Fixed-rate debt securities at amortised cost

Fixed-rate loans are included under ‘Loans and advances to customers’ whereas fixed-rate debt securities at

Carrying amount

132,230
491,401

Accumulated amount of
fair value adjustments

{1,596)
(6,351)

amortised cost are included under ‘Financial investments at amortised cost on the statement of financial

position.

Gains or losses due to changes on fair value hedges for the year:

73



Europe Arab Bank plc
Notes to the Financial Statements for
Year ended 31 December 2021

16.

17.

2021 2020
€000 €000
(Losses)/gains on:
Hedging instruments 1,037 {6,486)
Hedged items attributable to the hedged risk {1,098} 5,887
Hedge ineffectiveness {61) {599}

Hedge ineffectiveness is included under Net trading gains in the Income Statement.

Derivatives {continued)

Cash flow hedges

The table below shows the changes in fair value of hedging instrument used for measuring hedge

ineffectiveness.

Notional Asset Liabilities FV Total Recognised in Recognised in the

Amount ocCi income statement

in net trading

income

€000 €000 €000 €000 €000 €000

Currency forward 18,358 113 - 113 113 -
usb

Currency forward 18,772 - {6) {6) (6) -
GBP

Total 38,130 113 (6) 107 107 -

Investment in subsidiaries

The wholly owned subsidiaries of the Bank and their activities are noted below. The registered address of all

the subsidiaries is 13-15 Moorgate, London, EC2R 6AD, except for Europe Arab Bank SA for which the

registered address is 41 Avenue de Friedland, 75008 Paris, France.

Name Place of incorporaticn Proportion of Principal activity
ownership and
voting power

held
13-15 Moorgate No. 1 Limited England and Wales 100%  General partner to
property partnership
13-15 Moorgate No.2 Limited England and Wales 100% General partner to
property partnership
EAB Client Assets Nominee England and Wales 100% Dormant
Limited
Eurcpe Arab Bank SA France 100%* Banking

* 1 share ts owned by AB Consolidated Investments LTD

Cost
2021

£€15.1m

€15.1m

€111

€75m

Cost
2020

€14.2m

€14.2m

€111

€75m
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Movement in value of investment in subsidiaries

2021 2020

€000 €000
As at 1 January 103,308 34,962
Fair value changes 9,773 (1,617)
Additions - 69,963
As at 31 December 113,081 103,308

Movement in the value of the investment in subsidiaries will not be reclassified to the income statement.

18.  Otherintangible assets

2021 2020
€000 €000
Software
Cost
As at 1 January - 1,182
Additiohs -
As at 31 December - 1,182
Amortisation
As at 1 January - (1,079}
Charge for the year - (103)
As at 31 December - (1,182)
Net book value
As at 1 January - 103

As at 31 December - -

There are intangible assets with a cost of £1.2m, which became fully depreciated in 2020. There were no additions or
disposals of intangible assets in 2021.

75



Europe Arab Bank plc

Notes to the Financial Statements for

Year ended 31 December 2021
19.  Property, plant and equipment

Land Freehold and Furniture Computer and Total
Leasehold fixtures and  communication
Improvements fittings equipment

€000 €000 €000 €000 €000
Cost
As at 1 lanuary 2020 290 8,015 1,847 13,842 23,994
Additions - 111 82 1,812 2,005
Disposals/Write Offs (290) (2,458) (616) (861) (4,225)
At 31 December 2020 - 5,668 1,313 14,793 21,774
Accumulated depreciation and impairment losses
As at 1 January 2020 - (6,499) {1,374) {11,616} {19,488)
Depreciation - {222} {154) {966} (1,343}
Disposals/Write Offs - 2,374 614 786 3,774
At 31 December 2020 - (4,347) (914) {11,796} (17,057)
Net book value - 1,321 399 2,957 4,717
Cost
As at 1 January 2021 - 5,668 1,312 14,794 21,774
Additions - 12 33 1,629 1,674
Disposals/Write Offs - {3,734) {975) - {4,709)
At 31 December 2021 - 1,946 370 16,423 18,739
Accumulated depreciation and impairment losses
As at 1 January 2021 - {4,347) {914) {11,7956) {17,057)
Depreciation - {185} {125) {1,051) {1,361}
Disposals/Write Offs - 2,942 722 - 3,664
At 31 December 2021 - {1,590) (317) {12,847} {14,754)
Net book value - 356 53 3,576 3,985
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20. Right-of-use assets

2021 2020
€000 €000
As at 1 January 2,475 7,608
Additions 1,580 -
Disposals - (3,820}
Depreciation charge for the year (1,227) (1,313}
As at 31 December 2,828 2,475
21. Other assets
2021 2020
€000 €000
Prepayments 3,751 2,713
Current tax receivable 1,072 1,005
Accrued interest receivable 9,249 7,967
Receivables from subsidiaries 5,604 2,398
Other assets and receivables 971 -
20,647 14,083
Amounts above include:
Due from parent company 23 33
Due from fellow subsidiaries 1,635 2,156

22, Retirement benefits — defined benefit scheme

The Bank sponsors the scheme which is a funded defined benefit arrangement, closed to new members and
future accrual. This is a separate trustee administered fund holding the pension plan assets to meet long term
pension liabilities for around 371 past employees as at 31 December 2021 (31 December 2020: 417). The level
of retirement benefit is principally based on salary earned in the last three years of employment prior to
leaving active service and is linked to changes in inflation up to retirement.

The scheme is subject to the funding legislation, which came into force on 30 December 2005, outlined in the
Pensions Act 2004. This, together with documents issued by the Pensions Regulator, and Guidance Notes
adopted by the Financial Reporting Council, set out the framework for funding defined benefit occupational
pension plans in the UK.

The trustees of the scheme are required to act in the best interest of the plan’s beneficiaries. The
appointment of the trustees is determined by the plan’s trust decumentation. It is policy that one third of all
trustees should be nominated by the members.

A full actuarial valuation, usually taking place every three years, was carried out as at 31 December 2018 in
accordance with the scheme funding requirements of the Pensions Act 2004 and the funding of the plan is
agreed between the Bank and the trustees in line with those requirements. These in particular require the
surplus/deficit to be calculated using prudent, as opposed to best estimate actuarial assumptions.
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The actuarial valuation as at 31 December 2018 showed a deficit of €8.6m. The Bank has agreed with the
trustees that it will aim to eliminate the deficit over a period of 4 years from 1 lanuary 2020 by the payment of
annual contributions of €1.6mn in respect of the deficit. In addition, and in accordance with the actuarial
valuation, the Bank has agreed with the trustees that it will meet expenses of the scheme and levies to the
Pension Protection Fund.

For the purposes of IAS19 the actuarial valuation as at 31 December 2018 has been updated on an
approximate basis to 31 December 2021. There have been no changes in the valuation methodology adopted
for this period's disclosures compared to the previous period's disclosures.
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22.

Retirement benefits — defined benefit scheme {continued)

(a) Amounts for the current and previous periods

2021 2020 2019 2018 2017
€000 €000 €000 €000 €000
Defined benefit obligation (88,746} (87,584) (80,125) (66,753) {74,693)
Fair value of plan assets 82,585 72,711 70,274 55,026 65,652
Net deficit {6,161) (14,873) {9,852) (7.727) (9,040)
Net liability recognised {6.161) (14,873) {9,852} (7,727) {9,040)
{b) Changes in the present value of defined benefit ohligation
2021 2020
€000 €000
Balance as at 1 January 87,584 80,125
Interest cost 1,263 1,555
Actuarial (gains)/losses (3,499} 12,085
Benefits paid (2,318} (1,984)
Past service costs - 165
Translation adjustments 5,716 (4,362)
Balance as at 31 December 88,746 87,584
(c) Changes in the fair value of plan assets
2021 €'000 2020
€'000
Balance as at 1 January 72,711 70,274
Interest Income 1,057 1,376
Employer contributions 1,632 1,577
Return on assets excluding interest income 4,563 5,264
Benefits paid (2,318) (1,984)
Translation adjustments 4,940 (3,796)
Balance as at 31 December 82,525 72,711

The actual return on the plan assets for the year ended 31 December 2021 was €5.75m {2020: €6.59m).

79



Europe Arab Bank plc
Notes to the Financial Statements for
Year ended 31 December 2021

22.  Retirement benefits — defined benefit scheme (continued)

{d) Total expense recognised in the income statement

2021 €000 2020
€'000
Net interest cost 206 179
Service cost - 167
206 346
(e) Total amount included in other comprehensive income
2021 2020
€000 €000
Return on plan assets (excluding amounts included in net 4,563 5,265
interest cost)
Experience (losses)/gains (885) 436
Effects of change in demographic assumptions 154 (773)
Effects of change in financial assumptions 4,230 {11,747)
Translation adjustments (14) 41
{8,048} {6,778)
(f) Assets
2021 €000 2020
€000
Equity Instruments 7,270 14,023
Debt Instruments 22,346 11,127
Diversified growth fund 28,001 23,890
Property 6,473 4,976
Fixed interest - -
Cash 617 941
Insured Assets 17,878 17,754
Balance as at 31 December 82,585 72,711
(g) Principal assumptions in determining the defined benefit obligation
2021 2020
% %
Liabilities Assets Liabilities Assets
Discount rate 1.80 1.82 1.40 1.25
Expected rate of inflation {RPI) 3.35 3.55 2.95 3.00
Expected rate of inflation {CPI) 2.55 2.75 2.15 2.20
Allowance for commutation of pension for cash at 20% of pension 20% of pension

retirement
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The mortality assumptions adopted imply the following life expectancies:

Life expectancy at
age 65 {years)

Male retiring in 2021 219

Female retiring in 2021 236

Male retiring in 2041 23.2

Female retiring in 2041 25.1

(h) Sensitivity

Change in assumption Change in liabilities

Discount rate Decrease of 0.25% p.a. Increase by 4.8%
Rate of inflation increase of 0.25% p.a. Increase by 1.9%
Rate of mortality Increase of life expectancy of 1 year Increase by 3.6%

The sensitivities shown ahove are approximate. Each sensitivity considers one change in isolation. The
inflation sensitivity includes the impact of changes to the assumptions for revaluation and pension increases.

The average duration of the defined benefit obligation at the period ended 31 December 2021 is 19 years.

The scheme typically exposes the Bank to actuarial risks such as investment risk, interest rate risk, mortality
risk and longevity risk. A decrease in corporate bond yields, a rise in infiation or an increase in life expectancy
would result in an increase to plan liabilities. This would detrimentally impact the statement of financial
position and may give rise to increased charges in future. This effect would be partially offset by an increase in
the value of the plan’s bond holdings. Additionally, caps on inflationary increases are in place to protect the
plan against extreme inflation.
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23. Deposits by banks

Due to other banks

Amounts above include:

Due to parent company
Due to fellow subsidiaries
Due to subsidiaries

2021 2020

€000 €000
668.654 835,032
160,573 125,736
87,892 67,855
83,926 365,198
332,481 558,789

The deposits by banks also include repurchase agreements amounting to €60.2mn as at 31 December 2021.
These are collateralised fixed rate term deposits with interest rates ranging from 0.1% - 0.5% with maturity

dates within 4 months,

24, Customer accounts

Deposits by customers

25,  Other liabilities

Accruals

Deferred income

Accrued interest payable
Other payables and liabilities

Amounts above include:
Due to parent company

Due to fellow subsidiaries

26, Lease Liabilities

Maturity analysis — contractual undiscounted cash flows
Less than cne year

One to five years

More than five years

Total undiscounted lease liabilities at 31 December

Lease liabilities included in the balance sheet at 31 December

2021 2020
€000 €000
1,164,504 1,089,462
2021 2020
€000 €000
5,802 2,292
672 933
817 2,960
1,325 2,134
8,616 8,319
20 23
24 10
2021 2020
£'000 €000
1,196 672
1,972 2,157
3,168 2,829
2,963 2,635
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27. Subordinated liabilities

2021 2020
€000 €000

USD 125 million floating rate notes
LIBOR plus 0.50% 109,977 102,191
105,977 102,191

The Notes are perpetual, subordinated to all other creditors and are listed on the Channel Islands Stock

Exchange. The Notes count as upper tier 2 capital for the Bank’s regulatory capital base.

As discussed in note 35, the Bank has established a project to manage the transition from IBOR. The Notes
have been identified by the praject for transition. The life of USD Libor was extended in the 4% quarter of 2020

out to the end of June 2023. As a legacy contract, this did not need to be converted in 2021.

28.  Share capital

2021 2020
€'000 €000

Authorised and issued share capital
50,000 {2020 - 50,000) deferred shares of £1 each 72 72
569,925,540 (2020 - 569,925,540) fully paid up ordinary shares of €1 each 569,926 569,926
As at 31 December 569,998 569,998

29.  Contingent liabilities and commitments

In the ordinary course of business, the Bank enters into transactions which expose it to tax, legal and business
risks. Provisions are made for known liabilities which are expected to materialise. Contingent obligations and
banking commitments, which the Bank has entered into on behalf of customers and for which there are

corresponding obligations from customers, are not included in assets and liabilities.

2021 2020

€000 €000

Letters of credit 43,953 85,994
Acceptances 24,347 215
Guarantees given to third parties 505,518 589,496
Unused credit facilities and forward contract trades 49,582 62,822
Total before impairment 623,400 738,527
Impairment loss allowance {377) (1,395)
623,023 737,132
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29,

Contingent liabilities and commitments {continued)

Letters of credit, acceptances and guarantees commit the Bank to make payments on behalf of customers in
the event of a specific act including relating to imports and exports of goods. Unused credit facilities and
forward contract trades refer to commitments to make foans and revolving credits.

Commitments generally have fixed expiry dates or other termination clauses. Since commitments may expire
without being drawn upon, the total contract amounts do not necessarily represent future cash requirements.
The potential credit loss is less than the total commitments since most commitments to extend credit are
contingent upen customers maintaining specific standards. The Bank monitors the term to maturity of credit
cornmitments because longer-term commitments generally have a greater degree of credit risk than shorter-
term commitments.

Impairment losses on contingent liabilities and commitments

The table below shows the credit quality and the maximum exposure to credit risk based on the Bank’s
internal credit rating and year-end stage classification.

In €000

Internal rating grade Stage 1 Sta_ge_ 2 Stage 3 Totat
Individual Individual

2021

1-3 —~investment grade 71,434 - - 71,434

4-5 — standard monitoring 419,566 65,196 - 484,762

6 ~ special menitoring 56,198 6,504 - 63,102

7 - watch - - - -

8-10 — classified - - 4,102 4,102

Total 547,198 72,100 4,102 623,400

2020

1-3 ~investment grade 63,097 - - 63,097

4-5 — standard monitaring 571,679 32,272 - 603,951

6 ~ special monitoring 40,086 27,273 67,359

7~ watch - - - -

8-10 - classified - - 4,120 4,120

Total 674,862 59,545 4,120 738,527
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29.

Contingent liabilities and commitments {continued)

An analysis of changes in the outstanding exposures and the corresponding ECLs are as follows:

In €000

Gross carrying amount as at 1 January 2021

Mew assets originated or purchased

Assets derecognised or repaid {excluding write offs)
Adjustments during the pericd

Transfers to Stage 1

Transfers to Stage 2

Transfers to Stage 3

Foreign exchange adjustments

Amounts written off

At 31 December 2021

ECL allowance as at 1 January 2021
Charged to income relating to new facilities
Net charge to income

Assets derecognised or repaid (excluding write offs)
Adjustments during the period

Transfers to Stage 1

Transfers to Stage 2

Transfers to Stage 3

Recoveries

Foreign exchange adjustments

Amounts written off

At 31 December 2021

In €000

Gross carrying amount as at 1 January 2020

New assets originated or purchased

Assets derecognised or repaid (excluding write offs)
Adjustments during the period

Transfers to Stage 1

Transfers to Stage 2

Transfers to Stage 3

Foreign exchange adjustments

Amounts written oft

At 31 December 2020

ECL allowance as at 1 January 2020
Charged to inceme relating to new facilities
Net charge to income

Assets derecognised or repaid {excluding write offs)
Adjustments during the period

Transfers to Stage 1

Transfers to Stage 2

Transfers to Stage 3

Recoveries

Foreign exchange adjustments

Amounis written off

At 31 December 2020

Stage 1 Stage 2
Individual Individual Stage 3 Total
674,862 59,545 4,120 738,527
191,940 10,545 - 202,485
(310,413} {29,577} {38} (340,028)
(43,841) 43,841 - -
34,650 (12,254) 20 22,417
547,198 72,100 4,102 623,400
1,361 16 18 1,395
123 1 - 124
{1,126} 33 - (1,083}
(@ 4 - -
(2 2 - -
(83) {2} - (85)
35 1 - (36)
303 56 18 377
Stage 1 Stage 2
Individual Individual Stage 3 Total
1,043,427 52,841 835 1,087,103
329,660 52,768 164 382,592
(666,575) (41,740) (835) {705,150}
6,890 {6,890) - -
(3,822) 3,822 - -
(3,956) - 3,956 -
{30,762) {1,256) - (32,018)
674,862 59,545 4,120 738,527
1,049 117 178 1,344
85 - 18 103
618 {31) - 587
(346) {85) {178) (609)
19 {19) - -
(39} 39 -
(25} (5} - {30)
1,361 16 18 1,395
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Related party disclosure, including Directors’ emoluments

30.

The immediate and ultimate controlling party of the Bank and the parent of the smallest and the largest
company into which the results of the Bank are consolidated is Arab Bank plc, a company incorporated in
Jordan. Details of transactions between the Bank and related parties are disclosed below.

(a)} Trading transactions

During the year, the Bank entered into the following trading transactions with related parties:

Interest, fees and Interest, fees Guarantees,

other income and other Amounts owed by Amounts owed to acceptances and

received expense paid related parties related parties letters of credit

2021 2020 2021 2020 2021 2020 2021 2020 2020 2020

€000 €000 €000 €000 €000 €000 €000 €000 €000
Parent company 74 110 89 290 12,760 14,795 160.593 125,759 7,900 5,063
Subsidiaries 3,078 3,225 700 896 254,002 367,062 129,663 501,239 - -
Fellow subsidiaries* 785 754 869 1,981 17,210 27,476 197,95% 170,046 13,273 13,215
Associates** 2 9 - 29 18,045 19,322 - - - 943
Other related parties*** 415 792 123 430 13,371 15,923 33,076 39,873 - -
4,354 4,894 1,781 3,626 315,388 444,578 512,191 835,917 21,173 19,226

* Fellow subsidiaries include subsidiaries of parent company, Arab Bank ple.

** Associates include entities where the parent company, Arab Bank plc, has a significant influence over the
financial and operating policy decisions, and in which it holds between 20% and 50% of the voting rights.

*** Amounts owed by other related parties includes ECL of €0.5mn {2020: €0.8mn}.

The above transactions were unsecured and settled in cash. In addition, the transactions were typically made
in the ordinary course of business and substantially on the same terms as for comparable transactions with
third party counterparties. The expense recognised in the year for bad or doubtful debts in respect of the
amounts owed by a related party was €nil {2020: €nil}.

{b} Compensation of key management personnel

The remuneration of Directors and other members of key management during the year were as follows:

Key management compensation

Short-term employee benefits

Post-employment benefits

2021 2020
€000 €000
4,130 4,865

206 171

4,336 5,036
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30.

Related party disclosure, including Directors’ emoluments (continued}

The information above includes executive Directors’ remuneration detailed below.

2021 2020
€000 €'000
Directors’ emoluments
Chairman and Executive Directors - emoluments 1,540 1,579
- retirement and termination benefits 70 68
1,610 2,047
Noan-Executive Directors - emoluments 192 174
Number of Directors accruing benefits under retirement benefit schemes 1 2

The emaluments of the highest paid Director including pension and social security contributions amounted to
€1.2 million {2020: €1.5 million).

Transactions with key management personnel and each of their connected persons

Directors, other key management personnel and their connected persons have undertaken the following
transactions with the Bank in the normal course of banking business.

2021 2020
No. of No. of
persons €000 persons €000
Loans 3 549 5 595
Deposits 7 14,147 7 16,461

The transactions with directors, key management personnel and their connected persons were transacted in
the normal course of business with terms prevailing for comparable transactiens and on the same terms and
conditions applicable to other employees of the Bank.
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31,

Fair values of financial instruments

The table below provides an analysis of financial instruments that are measured subsequent to initial
recoghition at fair value, grouped into Levels 1 to 3 based on the degree to which the fair value is observable:

* Level 1 fair value measurements are those derived from quoted prices {unadjusted) in active markets for
identical assets or liabilities. This category comprises debt securities where observable prices are available

in the market.

¢ Level 2 fair value measurements are those derived from quoted prices in active markets for similar assets
or liabilities or other valuation techniques for which all significant inputs are based on cbservable market

data. This category comprises instruments such as interest rate swaps and forward currency contracts,
valued using data such as yield curves and exchange rates, requiring little management judgement; and

» Level 3 fair value measurements are those derived from valuation technigues using significant
unohservable inputs. Where the fair value cannot be reliably determined for an investment in equity
instrument, the instrument is measured at cost except for the foreign exchange movement which is

revalued through the fair value reserve.

2021 2021 2021 2021
Level 1 Level 2 Level 3 Total
€000 €000 €000 €000

Financial assets at FVPTL
- Held for trading 17,570 13,341 - 30,911
Derivative financial instruments — assets - 5,648 - 5,648
Financial assets at fair value through -OC! 86,082 - - 86,082
Investment in subsidiaries - 38,081 75,000 113,081
Total 103,652 57,070 75,000 235,722
Derivative financial instruments — liabilities - 9,542 - 9,542
Total 103,652 66,612 75,000 245,264

There have been no transfers between level 1 and level 2 (2020: nil). The Bank’s investment in Meorgate 13-
15 No.1 Limited and Moorgate 13-15 No.2 Limited has been transferred from level 3 to level 2. Thisis dueto a

change in the basis of the fair value measurement as the underlying fixed asset within the subsidiaries were

sold, the significant inputs are no longer unobservable.

2020 2020 2020 2020
Level 1 Level 2 Level 3 Total
€000 €000 €000 €000

Financial assets at FVPTL
- Held for trading 161,307 13,294 - 174,601
Derivative financial instruments — assets 3,204 - 3,204
lnvestment in subsidiaries - - 103,308 103,308
Total 161,307 16,498 103,308 281,113
Derivative financial instruments — liabilities - 27,603 - 27,603
Total - 27,603 - 27,603
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31.  Fair values of financial instruments (continued)

Reconciliation of Level 3 fair value measurements of financial assets

2021 2020

€000 €000
Balance at 1 lanuary 103,308 34,962
Net additions and settlements - 69,963
Transferred to Level 2 {28,308} -
Fair value gain/{loss) in OCI - {1,617)

75,000 103,308

Balance at 31 December

For financial assets and liabilities carried at amaortised cost, the Directors do not anticipate the fair values to be
materially different from the book values considering the underlying nature of the portfolios except for the

following:
2021 2021 2020 2020
Fair value Book value Fair value  Book value
€000 €000 €000 €000
Financial investments at amortised cost 498,409 497,729 412,455 411,518
Total 498,409 497,729 412,455 411,518

The Bank did not hold any material compound instruments or embedded derivatives at the year-end (2020:

€nil).
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32.  Operating segments

For management purposes, the Bank is organised into three strategic business units based on proeducts and
services as follows:

e  Corporate & Institutional Banking {“CIB”}: principally handling loans and other credit facilities and deposit
and current accounts for corporate and institutional customers.

s Treasury: principally handling funding and liquidity for the Bank. The main focus is on money markets,
foreign exchange and capital markets. Treasury also provides risk management and structured product
solutions for customers of other segments of the Bank.

e Private Banking: principally providing high net worth clients with persanal banking services tailored to
their needs. Key products include deposits, loans, overdrafts, credit cards facilities, funds transfer
facilities, structured investment products and offshore banking facilities.

e  Other:includes items that are not allocated to the business units.

Management monitors the operating results of each of the business units separately for the purpose of
performance assessment. Certain items of revenue and costs are managed on a central basis and are not
allocated to business units. Interest or similar income is reported net. Management primarily relies on net
interest revenue, not the gross interest revenue and expense amounts. No revenue transactions with a single
non-related customer or counterparty amounted to 10% or more of the total revenue of the Bank in 2021 or
2020.
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Operating segments {continued)

2021

Net operating income
Inter-segment revenue

Total operating revenue
Net business unit contribution after
allocated expenses

Impairment loss expense

Profit/{loss) before tax
Tax credit/(expense}

Profit/(loss) for the year

2020

Net operating income
Inter-segment revenue

Total operating revenue
Net business unit contribution after
allocated expenses

Impairment loss expense

Profit/{loss) before tax
Tax credit/{expense)

Profit/{loss} for the year

Private
(o] Treasury Banking Other Total
€'000 €'000 €000 €000 €'000
17,984 6,749 8,505 253 33,491
{945} 751 860 {613} 53
17,039 7,500 9,365 {360} 33,544
5,451 772 {2,139) (2,115) 1,969
{728) {61} {1.660) 882 (1,567}
4,723 711 (3,799) (1,233} 402
- - - 3559 359
4,723 711 {3.799) (874) 761
Private
ciB Treasury Banking Other Total
€000 €000 £'000 €000 €000
23,632 7,890 1,247 2,502 35,271
{5,709) {4,908} 8,759 640 (1,218)
17,923 2,982 10,006 3,142 34,053
7,325 (2,774) {64} 515 5,002
671 {967) {4,186} - (4,482)
7,996 (3,741) {4,250} 515 520
7,996 {3,251) {4,250) 25 520
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32.  Operating segments {continued)

The assets and liabilities held by the business units of the Bank are detailed below:

2021

Segment assets

Segment liabilities

2020

Segment assets

Segment liabilities

Private
CIB Treasury Banking Other Total
€000 €000 €000 €000 €000
762,343 800,945 363,201 337,166 2,263,655
207,805 497,591 1,112,829 152,192 1,970,417
Private
CiB Treasury Banking Other Total
€000 €000 €000 €000 €000
609,931 765,158 389,114 591,233 2,355,436
176,777 417,614 1,355,848 129,876 2,080,115
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33.

Risk management policies

The Bank’s Risk Appetite is approved by the Board of Directors, and defines the types and amounts of risk that
the Bank is willing to take in pursuit of its business strategy. This is reviewed regularly and provides qualitative
statements, quantitative measures and detailed underlying limits for the purposes of the management and
monitoring of risk appetite.

The Bank’s risks are managed taking into account the following principles:
e risk management accountability rests with each department concerned;
s thereisindependent and effective risk oversight and assurance;

* the process is underpinned by comprehensive, proportionate, transparent and objective disclosure of risk
exposures to senior management, the Board of Directors, oversight committees, regulators, rating
agencies, Arab Bank Group and other stakeholders;

s capital, liguidity and earnings are protected by the effective controlling of the risk exposures across all
material risk types and businesses; and

e astrong ethical and risk culture is maintained so that risk awareness is embedded into all activities.

The Bank maintains high standards of internal controls, with clear accauntabilities for risk management,
applying a governance model which enables oversight and management of risks.

The Board of Directors has an established Committee of the Board, the Board Audit & Risk Committee, to
assist the Board of Directors in fulfilling its oversight responsibilities. The function of the Board Audit & Risk
Committee is to encourage and safeguard the highest standards of integrity, financial reporting, risk
management and internal control on behalf of the Board of Directors.

The Chief Risk Officer {“CRO") is a senior executive who works closely with the Chief Executive Officer (“CEO”),
and liaises with the Board of Directors through the Board Audit & Risk Committee. The CRO is responsible for
ensuring that effective best practice risk mitigation is in place in the Bank. The CRO is tasked with taking a
comprehensive view of risks that might impact on the Bank, embedding an effective EAB Risk Management
(ERM) Framework into the overall strategy and operations, and continually strengthening the Bank’s approach
to risk management.

EAB’s risk governance is predicated on the industry standard three lines of defence model. Line One includes
the Strategic Business Units and Suppeort Units and has the responsibility for risk management and control.
Line Two is responsible for risk oversight, providing independent aversight and challenge of risk and
compliance issues, and includes Risk and Campliance. Line Three is Internal Audit and is responsible for risk
assurance, providing confirmation that Lines One and Two are operating effectively and in accordance with
the stipulated risk governance arrangements. The roles and responsibilities of the Risk function in Line Two
are further defined under three headings: Oversight and assurance, Challenge and Coordination.

The Bank recognises the risk posed by climate change and the importance of supporting the transition to a
carbon neutral economy. The relatively short-dated tenor and diversification of the Bank’s assets mitigates
any material climate risk exposure to the averall financial statements in the short term. However, the work te
further review the longer term risks and opportunities posed by climate change remains ongoing at present.

The infarmation in note 34 to note 38 describes the main banking risks, committees with responsibility for
these risks and the policies of the Bank to manage them. The Directors are confident that the current risk
management structure is sufficient for identification, monitoring and control of significant financial risks to the
Bank at present.
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34.

Credit risk

Credit risk refers to the risk that a counterparty will default on its contractuat obligations resulting in financial
loss to the Bank. The Bank has adopted a policy of dealing with creditworthy counterparties and obtaining
sufficient collateral where appropriate, as a means of mitigating the risk of financial less from default.

The Executive Credit Committee is responsible for approving credit recommendations and making other credit
decisions in accordance with the delegated lending authorities within the Credit Policy Manual. This includes
decisions on individual credits, and reviewing and making recommendations above the delegated authorities,
to the Board of Directors.

The Bank's lending priorities are a function of the credit skills and experience of its lending officers. For
reasans of safety and soundness and to maintain the quality of the portfolio, the Bank will concentrate in
those areas in which it has a competitive advantage, knowledge of the particular market and a good
understanding of the commercial and political risks involved within those markets.

The Credit Policy Manual refers to all direct (loans or overdrafts}, indirect (typically construction bends) and
contingent (letters of credit) credit exposures. Itincludes details on lending authorities, large exposures,
portfelio management, transactions with parent and affiliates, country risk exposure, problematic exposures,
limit management (e.g. abligor, industry & country limits), collateral and provisioning.

The Board of Directors approves the Credit Policy Manual and any interim amendments.

The Bank also measures concentration exposure to each industry sector and country of risk. Credit exposures
are alsa stress tested regularly. Portfolio risk and credit stress testing are reviewed by the Executive Risk and
Compliance Committee, chaired by the CRO.

Impairment

The Bank’s policy is to recognise an impairment allowance based on the credit losses expected to arise over
the life of the asset (the lifetime expected credit loss) or LTECL, unless there has been no significant increase
in credit risk since origination, in which case, the allowance is based on the 12 months’ expected credit loss

{12mECL).

The Bank assesses when a significant increase in credit risk has occurred based on quantitative and gualitative
assessments. Exposures are considered to have resulted in a significant increase in credit risk when (i) there is
a drop in credit rating which is mapped to the relevant PD as defined in 1(e), (ii} Accounts meet the portfalio’s
‘high risk” criteria and are subject to closer credit monitaring (Qualitative test), (i} Accounts that are 30
calendar days or more past due.

In its ECL models, the Bank relies on a broad range of forward locking information as economic inputs in the
regions in which it operates, such as:

* GDP growth

* Commodity prices

* Unemployment rates

+ Central Bank base rates

* House price and stock market indices

ECLs are calculated on an individual basis.
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34.

Credit risk (continued)
COVID-19 pandemic relief packages

In order to provide relief for the lockdown measures put in place to contain the COVID-19 outbreak, the Bank
offered capital and interest relief predominantly to customers that are within the hotel business in the form of
payments deferral during 2021. The Bank also provided this relief package to some retail clients whose cash
flows were impacted by the lockdowns across the MENA. These payments reliefs were not considered to be
substantial modification of the contractual cash fiows of the loans to which they were applied. This
assessment is in line with the PRA guideline which confirms that offering borrowers the option of a full or
partial payment deferral or any alternatives such as extension of term does not automatically signal a
significant increase in credit risk {SICR) or that credit impairment has occurred for ECL purposes. As at 31
December 2021 and 2020, the total loan exposure under COVID-19 special monitoring amounted to €162.9mn
and €171.5mn, respectively. These were all grouped into Stage 1 for the purpese of ECL.
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34.  Credit risk (continued)

Quality of Assets

Financial assets split by external ratings, where available, for 2021 and 2020:

31 December 2021
Cash, balances Loans and Guarantees,
with central banks advances to Financial assets at letters of credit
and due from banks customers amortised cost and unused Totai
credit facilities
€000 €000 €000 €000 €'000
Neither past due nor impaired
Stage 1
AAA to AA- 173,784 2,862 194,751 20,621 392,018
A+ to A- 107,580 136,771 143,531 38,078 425,960
BBB+ to B- 295,390 575,724 161,021 378,924 1,411,059
Below B - - - - -
Unrated 666 113,892 - 109,574 224,132
577,420 829,249 499,303 547,197 2,453,169
Stage 2
AAA to AA- - - - - -
A+ to A- - - - - -
BBB+ to B- - 21,283 - 61,006 82,289
Below B - 10,729 - - 10,729
Unrated - 2,409 - 11,094 13,503
- 34,421 - 72,100 106,521
Past due but not - - - - .
impaired
Stage 3
AAA to AA- - - - - -
A+ to A- - - - - -
BBB+ to B- - - - - -
Below B 7,479 - - - 7,479
Unrated - 110,803 - 4,102 114,905
7,479 110,803 - 4,102 122,384
Gross 584,899 974,473 499,303 623,399 2,682,074
ECLs
Stage 1 288 2,732 1,574 303 4,897
Stage 2 - 3,859 - 56 3,915
Stage 3 7,479 48,038 - 18 55,535
7,767 54,629 1,574 377 64,347
Net 577,132 915,844 497,729 623,023 2,617,728
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Credit risk (continued)

34.

Quality of Assets [continued)

31 December 2020

Cash, balances with Guarantees,
central banks and Loans and letters of credit
due from banks advances to Financial assets at and unused
customers amortised cost credit facilities Total
€'000 €000 €000 €000 €000
Neither past due nor impaired
Stage 1
AAA to AA- 160,625 - 210,976 1,660 373,261
A+ 10 A- 38,091 - 95,069 46,701 179,861
B8BB+to B- 542,027 10,249 106,912 184,115 843,303
Below B - 31,105 - 11,044 42,149
Unrated 5,439 766,057 - 431,341 1,202,837
746,182 807,411 412,957 674,861 2,641,411
Stage 2
AAA to AA- - - R -
A+ to A- - - - - -
BBR+ to B- - - - 49,099 49,099
Below B - - - - R
Unrated - 27,951 - 10,446 38,397
- 27,951 - 59,545 87,456
Past due but not
impaired - - - - -
Individually impaired
Stage 3
AAA to AA- - - -
At+to A- - -
BBB+ to B- - - - -
Below B 6,949 - - 1,670 8,619
Unrated - 103,231 - 2,451 105,682
6,949 103,231 - 4,121 114,301
Gross 753,131 938,593 412,957 738,527 2,843,208
ECLs
Stage 1 334 3,994 1,439 1,361 7,128
Stage 2 - 873 - 16 839
Stage 3 6,949 43,453 - 18 50,420
7,283 48,320 1,439 1,395 58,437
Net 745,848 890,273 411,518 737,132 2,784,771
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34,  Creditrisk (continued)
Quality of Assets (continued)

Internal ratings are mapped to a range of external ratings but also take into account other behavioural aspects
of the counterparty and historical performance:

Quality of assets split by Bank's internal credit rating system {excluding derivatives):

31 December 2021

Cash, balances Guarantees,
with central letters of credit
banks and Loans and and unused
due from banks advances to Financial assets credit facilities
customers at amortised cost
Total
€000 €000 €000 €000 €000
Stage 1
1-3-investment grade 289,901 154,471 282,190 71,430 797,992
4 - 5 - standard moenitoring 18,473 432,041 83,102 419,421 953,037
& - special monitoring 268,758 240,005 132,437 56,052 697,252
7 - watch - - - - -
8 - 10 - classified - - - - -
577,132 826,517 497,72% 545,903 2,448,281
Stage 2
1-3-investment grade - - - - .
4 -5 - standard monitoring - 3,230 - £5,140 68,370
6 - special monitoring - 19,247 - 6,896 26,143
7 - watch - 2,415 - - 2,415
8- 10 - classified - 5,670 - 5,670
- 30,562 - 72,036 102,598
Stage 3
1-3- investment grade - - - - -
4 - 5 - standard monitoring - - - - -
6 - special monitoring - - - - -
7 - watth - 4,573 - - 4,573
8 - 10 - classified - 58,192 - 4,084 62,276
- 62,765 - 4,084 66,849
Net 577,132 919,844 497,729 623,023 2,617,728
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34.

Credit risk {continued)

Quality of Assets (continued)

Stage 1

1-3-investment grade

4 - 5 - standard monitoring
6 - special monitoring

7 - watch

8- 10 - classified

Stage 2

1-3-investment grade

4 - 5 - standard monitoring
6 - special monitoring

7 - watch

8- 10 - classified

Stage 3

1-3-investment grade

4 -5 - standard monitoring
6 - special monitoring

7 - watch

8- 10 - classified

Net

31 December 2020

Cash, balances Guaranteaes,
with central Loans and Financial assets letters of
banks and advancesto  at amortised cost credit and
due from banks customers unused credit
facilities Total
€000 €000 €'600 €000 €000
220,828 155,976 321,617 62,146 760,567
524,969 426,221 53,027 571,381 1,575,598
51 221,220 36,874 39,973 298,118
745,848 803,417 411,518 673,500 2,634,283
- - - 32,266 32,266
- 14,511 - 27,263 41,774
- 9,277 - - 9,277
- 3,290 - - 3,290
- 27,078 - 59,529 86,607
- 4,249 - - 4,249
- 55,529 - 4,103 59,632
- 58,778 - 4,103 63,881
745,848 890,273 411,518 737,132 2,784,771
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34.  Credit risk {continued)

Quality of Assets (continued)

Derivative and other financial asset at fair value balances split by external and internal ratings for 2021 and

2020:

External ratings
AAL to AA-

At to A-

BBB+ to B-
Below B
Unrated

Internai ratings
1-3-investment grade

4 - 5 - standard monitoring
& - special monitoring

7 - watch

8- 10 - classified

31 December 2021

Financial assets at Financial assets at
fair value through fair value through
Derivative Assets profit or loss ocl Tatal
€000 €000 €000 €600
134 17,570 76,568 94,272
1,792 - - 1,792
3,167 5,053 9,514 17,734
- 8288 - 8,288
555 - - 555
5,648 30,911 86,082 122,641
31 December 2021
Financial assets at Financial assets at
fair value through fair value through
Derfvative Assets profit or loss acl
Total
€000 €000 €000 €000
4,365 17,570 86,082 108,017
223 5,053 - 5,276
1,060 - - 1,060
- 8,288 - 8,288
5,648 30,911 86,082 122,641

Debt securities under financial assets at fair value through OC! are neither past due nor impaired as at 31 December 2021.
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34.  Credit risk {continued)

Quality of Assets {continued)

External ratings
AAA to AA-

A+ 1o A-

BBB+ to B-
Below B
Unrated

Internal ratings
1-3-investment grade

4 - 5 - standard monitoring
6 - special maonitoring
7 - watch

8 - 10 - classified

31 December 2020

Financial assets at Financial assets at
fair value through fair value through

Derivative Assets profit or loss acl
Total
€000 €000 €000 €000
31 151,173 - 151,204
190 10,134 - 10,324
1,811 7,820 - 9,631
1,172 5474 6,646
3,204 174,601 - 177,805
31 December 2020
Finaneial assets at Financial assets at
fair value through fair value through
Derivative Assets profit or loss ocl
Total
€'000 €000 €000 €'000
267 161,307 - 161,574
1,464 5,474 - 6,938
1,473 - - 1,473
- 7,820 - 7,820
3,204 174,601 - 177,805
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34,  Credit risk (continued)

Concentration of Risk

Concentrations arise when a number of counterparties are engaged in similar business activities, or activities
in the same geographic region, or have similar econemic features that would cause their ability to meet
contractual obligations to be affected by changes in economic, political or other conditions. The Bank
monitors credit concentration risk through the Executive Risk and Compliance Committee and in turn reports
material exposures and concerns to the Board Audit and Risk Committee and the Board of Directors. The Bank
also uses a number of controls and processes to mitigate undue concentrations of exposure including portfolio
and counterparty limits, approval and review controls, and stress testing.

Industrial exposure to financial assets and credit related contingent liabilities and commitments as at 31

December 2021 and 31 December 2020 (excluding derivatives):

31 December 2021

Cash, balances Guarantees,
with central Loans and Financial assets letters of credit
banks and advances to at amortised and unused Total
due from banks customers cast credit facilities
€000 €000 €000 €'000 €000
Stage 1
Centrai and local - 15,720 91,669 - 107,389
government
Financial institutions 577,132 57,505 388,101 98,216 1,120,954
Individuals - 64,225 - - 64,225
Industrial and commercial - 689,067 17,959 448,687 1,155,713
577,132 826,517 497,729 546,903 2,448,281
Stage 2
Central and local - - - - -
gavernment
Financial institutions - - - i )
Individuals - 4,614 - 72,036 76,650
industrial and commercial - 25,948 - - 25,%48
30,562 - 72,036 102,598
Stage 3
Central and local - - - . R
government
Financial institutions - - - - -
Individuals - - - - R
Industrial and commercial - 62,765 - 4,084 66,849
- 62,765 - 4,084 66,849
577,132 519,844 497,729 623,023 2,617,728
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34.  Credit risk {continued)

Concentration of risk (continued)

31 December 2020

Cash, balances Loans and Financial assets Guarantees,
with central advancesta  at amortised cost letters of credit
banks and customers and unused Total
due from banks credit facilities
€000 €'000 €000 €000 €000
Stage 1
Centrat and local
government - 24,479 163,030 - 187,509
Financial institutions 745,848 53,666 240,463 85,012 1,124,989
Individuals - 64,203 - - 64,203
Industrial and commercial
- 661,069 8,025 588,488 1,257,582
745,848 803,417 411,518 673,500 2,634,283
Stage 2
Central and local R
government - - -
Financial institutions - - - -
Individuals - 4,026 - - 4,026
Industriat and commercial - -
23,052 - 59,529
- 27,078 - 59,529
Stage 3
Central and local
government - -
Financial institutions - - - -
individuals 154 - - 154
Industrial and commercial
- 59,624 - 4,103 63,727
- 59,778 - 4,103 63,881
745,848 890,273 411,518 737,132 2,784,771

As at 31 December 2021, loans and advances to industrial and commercia! customers include exposure within hotels
and restaurant industry amounting to €235mn of which €7mn is in Stage 2 and €93mn is in stage 3.
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Credit risk {continued)

Concentration of risk {continued)

Geographical exposure to financial assets and credit related contingent liabilities and commitments as at 31
December 2021 and 31 December 2020 (excluding derivatives):

31 Dacember 2021

Cash, balances Loans and Guarantees,
with central advances 10 Financial assets at letters of credit
banks and customers amortised cost and unused Total
due from banks credit facilities
€000 €000 €000 €000 €£'000
Stage 1
UK 194,034 340,675 1,968 42,566 579,243
Europe 264,953 44,301 104,173 407,966 821,393
Arab Countries 13,039 441,541 319,550 81,139 855,269
North America 104,852 - 26,275 12,758 143,885
Asia 19 - - 2,474 2,493
Other 235 - 45,763 - 45,998
577,132 826,517 497,729 546,903 2,448,281
Stage 2
UK 8,423 - - 8,423
Europe 6,912 - 20,761 27,673
Arab Countries 15,227 - - 15,227
North America - - 51,275 51,275
Asia - - - -
Other - - - -
30,562 72,036 102,598
Stage 3
UK - - -
Europe 11 4,084 4,095
Arab Countries 62,754 - 62,754
North America - - -
Asia - - -
Other - - -
- 62,765 - 4,084 66,849
577,132 919,844 497,729 623,023 2,617,728
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34. Creditrisk {continued)

Concentration of risk {continued)

31 December 2020
Cash, balances Loans and Guarantees,
with central advances to Financial assets at letters of credit Total
banks and customers amortised cost and unused credit
due frem banks facilities
€'000 €000 €'000 €000 €000
Stage 1
UK 157,104 371,654 3,015 75,868 607,681
Europe 524,837 18,909 84,718 462,578 1,091,042
Arab Countries 15,320 412,750 273,172 80,750 781,992
North Amaerica 48,306 64 8,025 53,517 109,912
Asia 222 - - 787 1,009
Other 59 - 42,588 - 42,647
745,848 803,417 411,518 673,500 2,634,283
Stage 2
UK - 5,253 - - 5,253
Europe - 7,311 - 51,403 58,714
Arab Countries - 14,514 - - 14,514
North America - - 8,126 8,126
Asia - - -
Other - - -
27,078 - 59,529 86,607
Stage 3
UK - - - - -
Europe - - - 4,103 4,103
Arab Countries - 59,778 - - 59,778
North America - - - - -
Asia - - - -
59,778 4,103 63,881
745,848 850,273 411,518 737,132 2,784,771
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34.  Credit risk (coantinued)

Concentration of risk {continued)

Industrial and geographical exposure to derivative assets, financial assets at fair value through profit or loss
and financial assets at fair value through other comprehensive income balances as at 31 December 2021 and
31 December 2020 is presented below:

Industrial exposure

Central and local government
Financial institutions
Individuals

Industrial and commercial
Others

Geographical expasure
UK

Europe

Arab Countries

North America

Asia

Others

31 December 2021

Financial assets at Financial assets at
fair value through fair value through

Derivative Assets profit or loss [s]4]]
Total
€000 €000 €000 €000
- - 68,459 68,459
5,143 22,209 17,623 44,975
505 8,702 9,207
5,648 30,911 86,082 122,641
31 December 2021
Financial assets at Financial assets at
fair value through fair value through
Derivative Assets profit or loss ocCl
Total
€000 €000 €000 €000
3,246 8,333 47,713 59,258
1,209 8,702 25,059 34,970
639 - 13,310 13,949
554 8,817 - 9,371
- 5,053 - 5,053
5,648 30,911 86,082 122,641
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34.  Credit risk {continued)

Concentration of risk (continued)

31 December 2020

Financial assets at Financial assets at
fair value through fair value through

Derivative Assets profit or loss oci
Total
€000 €000 €000 €000
Industrial exposure
Central and local government - 10,134 - 10,134
Financial institutions 2,090 151,172 - 153,262
Individuals - - - -
Industrial and commercial 1,114 13,285 14,409
Others - - - -
3,204 174,601 - 177,805
31 December 2020
Financial assets at Financial assets at
fair value through fair value through
Derivative Assets profit or loss oci
Total
€'000 €000 €000 €000
Geegraphical exposure
UK 142 16,445 - 16,587
Europe 1,589 116,958 - 118,547
Arab Countries 1,473 15,026 20,498
North America - - - -
Asia - 16,658 - 16,698
Cthers - 5,474 - 5,474
3,204 174,601 - 177,805
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34.

Credit risk (continued)

Credit derivatives and collateral

The Bank did not hold any credit derivatives during the year {2020: €nil} to reduce the exposure to credit risk on any
of the instruments.

The Bank accepts certain forms of collateral subject to legal review and appropriate documentation in accordance
with the Credit Policy Manual. As a principle, assets held as collateral in favour of the Bank must be sufficiently
liquid and their value over time sufficiently stable to provide the Bank with acceptable certainty as to the value of
the risk mitigation upon which it relies. Exceptions have to be approved through the credit process.

The Credit Department keeps a comprehensive record of collateral received. The Bank primarily accepts the
following forms of collateral, subject to meeting the necessary legal and risk requirements:

e (Cash;
& Supportinstruments including bank, corporate and personal guarantees;
»  Debt securities subject to meeting the external and/or internal rating criteria;

e Equities from companies within European Economic Area {“EEA”) subject to rating, listing and liquidity
requirements;

*  Property, residential and/or commercial situated within EEA states or the MENA region subject to meeting the
specified criteria; or

e Other security including trade and other receivables, stocks and inventories, plant and machinery and
specialised assets such as aircraft and ships, etc.

The Credit Department is respensible for regular updates to the valuation of the underlying collateral as required by
the Credit Policy Manual. The documentation entered into with the obligor specifies the Bank's rights and ability to
liguidate the collateral, if required. The Executive Credit Cammittee is responsible for decisions regarding
liquidation or appropriation of collateral based on recommendations from the Head of Credit and advice from the
Legal Department.

During the year, and also in the preceding year, there was no possession of underlying collateral by the Bank,

The carrying amount of financial assets recorded in the statement of financial position, net of any allowances for
losses, represents the Bank’s maximum exposure to credit risk without taking account of any collateral obtained.

The tables below show the maximum exposure to credit risk by class of financial asset. They also show the total fair
value of collateral, any surplus collateral {the extent to which the fair value of collateral held is greater than the
exposure to which it relates), and the net exposure to credit risk,
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34.  Credit risk (continued)

Credit derivatives and coliateral {continued}

Fair value

Net
2021 Outstanding Cash Bank  Real Estate Total Qutstanding
€000 balance Margin Shares  guarantees Other Collaterals balance ECL
Loans and
advances to 974,473 5,375 33,053 2,717 311,243 170,690 523,078 921,963 54,629
customers:
Guarantees,
letters of credit 623,400 16,320 - ) 3,828 14,935 35,083 622,474 377
and other
commitments
Total 1,587,873 21,635 33,053 6,545 311,243 185,625 558,161 1,544,167 55,006

Fair value

Net
2020 Outstanding Cash Bank Real Estat Total Qutstanding
€000 balance Margin Shares  guarantees sl Sstate Other  Collaterals balance ECL
toans and
advances to 938,593 5,335 20,419 4,553 286,532 174,249 491,088 830,273 48,320
customers:
Guarantees,
letters of credit
and other 738,527 14,637 - 3932 - 9,281 27,850 737,150 1,377
commitments
Total 1,677,120 19,972 20,419 8,485 286,532 183,530 518,938 1,627,423 49,697

Offsetting of financial assets and liabilities

The Bank does not regularly use netting agreements except those embedded within the ISDA agreements,

plus specific netting agreements with certain Arab Bank Group entities largely for contingent facilities.
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35.

Market risk

The Bank’s activities expose it primarily to the financial risks of changes in foreign currency exchange rates and
interest rates. Risks are managed individually through the use of limits and restricting product exposures. The
Asset & Liability Committee ("ALCG") sets and monitors the market risk limits and meets once a menth but
receives risk reports regularly. The Committee is also convened whenever the business encounters heightened
market risk conditions.

(a) Interest Rate Risk Management

The Bank is exposed to interest rate risk as the Bank berrows / lends funds at both fixed and floating interest
rates.

The Bank identifies the following types of interest rate risk:

*  Re-pricing Risk - This risk results from differences between the timing of interest rate fixings for assets
and liabilities.

* Yield Curve Risk - This risk arises from changes in the shape and slope of the yield curve.

e Other Risks - Other market risks that may become more relevant in the future include Basis Risk (arising
from imperfect correlation in the adjustment of the rates earned and paid on different instruments with
otherwise similar re-pricing characteristics); Optionality Risk {arising from the options embedded in bank
assets, liabilities and off- balance sheet portfolios); and Reinvestment Risk {arising from changing interest
rates generating increasing interest costs but not increasing interest revenues). The Bank recognises that
reinvestment risk may become material in future years and plans to add appropriate measurement,
manitoring and reporting capabilities when necessary.

The interest rate risks that have been identified can have an impact on both the earnings and economic value
of the Bank and as a consequence the Board of Directars seeks to manage these risks to ensure the
achievement of its business objectives.
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Market risk {continued)

(a) Interest Rate Risk Management {continued)

The ALCO manages interest rate risk by the establishment of a Market Risk Policy that reflects the overali risk
appetite. The overall risk appetite is approved by the Board of Directors and reviewed regularly.

The ALCO manages interest rate risk through the use of:
s  List of permitted products

¢ Interest Rate Risk Limits: a maximum Basis Point Value amount {segmented into sub-limits by major
currency and time bucket).

» A suite of stress tests that models changes to yield curves both in absolute terms and in terms of changes
to the shapes of the curves.

The day-to-day management of interest rate risk lies with the Treasury team. The menitoring and reporting of
interest rate risk on a daily basis is performed by an independent Treasury Valuation Control function that
reports to the CFO. The system of controls over interest rate risk is subject to oversight by the Risk Control
tearn which reports to the Chief Risk Officer.

The following tables provide a summary of the interest rate re-pricing profile of the Bank’s assets and
liabilities. Assets and liabilities have been allocated to time bands by reference to the earlier of the next
interest rate reset date and the contractual maturity date. Financial assets and liabilities with a floating rate
are exposed to cash flow interest rate risk, and this risk is reflected predominantly in the time bands below
twelve months. Financial assets and liabilities with a fixed rate are exposed to fair value interest rate risk,
which is reflected predominantly in the time bands beyond twelve months. Financial assets and liabilities not
directly exposed to interest rate risk will appear in the non-interest bearing time band. The table does not
take account of notional amount of derivative financial instruments whose effect is to alter the interest basis
of the Bank’s assets and liabilities.
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(a) Interest Rate Risk Management {continued}

Assets
Cash and balances at central banks

Oue from banks
Fair value thraugh profit or loss

Fair value through QCI

Loans and advances to customers

Financial investments at amortised
cost

Derivatives

Other assets

Total assets

Liabilities and equity
Deposits by banks
Customer accounts
Derivatives

Other liabilities
Subordinated liabilities
Sharenolders’ equity

Total liabilities and equity

Interest rate sensitivity gap

31 December 2021

1 month 3 months 6 months to Non

Within 1 to to 12 months 1to3 After 3 interest
month 3 months 6 manths years years bearing Total
€000 €000 €000 €000 €000 €000 €000 €000
- - - - - - 174,174 174,174
24,480 5,278 - - - - 373,200 402,958
5,053 17,156 8,702 - - - - 30,911
- - - 36,095 8,955 41,032 - 86,082
210,416 357,355 183,763 29,262 30,535 1,896 106,617 $19,844
30,462 115,370 4,434 46,975 81,376 219,112 - 497,729
2,337 2,133 254 63 573 288 5,648
- - - - - 146,309 146,309
272,748 497,292 197,153 112,395 121,439 262,328 800,300 2,263,655
287,995 192,638 44,431 - - 143,586 668,654
126,519 299,772 206,309 153,711 - - 378,193 1,164,504
2,720 5,985 34 266 94 136 9,542
- - - - - 17,740 17,740
- - 109,977 - - - - 109,977
- - - - - - 283,238 293,238
417,238 498,395 361,058 153,577 94 136 832,757 2,263,655

{144,490} {1,103) (163,905) (41,582) 121,345 262,192 (32,457)

112



Europe Arab Bank plc
Notes to the Financial Statements for

Year ended 31 December 2021
35.  Market risk (continued)

(a) Interest Rate Risk Management {continued)}

Assets
Cash and balances at central banks

Due from banks
Fair value through profit or ioss

Loans and advances to customers

Financial investments at amartised
coSst

Derivatives

Other assets

Total assets

Liabilities and equity
Deposits by banks
Customer accounts
Derivatives

Other liabilities
Subordinated liabilities
Sharehaolders’ equity

Totai liabilities and equity

Interest rate sensitivity gap

31 December 2020

1 month 32 months to 6 months to Non
Within 1 to 6 months 12 months 1to3 After 3 interest
month 3 months years years bearing Total
€000 €000 €000 €000 €000 €000 €000 €000
- - - - - 135,518 135,518
29,484 3,675 33 - - - 577,138 610,330
5,474 23,087 - 34,541 94,330 17,169 - 174,601
269,330 289,469 244,406 3,687 46,023 23,340 14,018 850,273
27,716 37,550 45,052 61,096 169,238 70,866 - 411,518
1,171 453 1,575 5 - - - 3,204
- - - - - 129,992 129,992
333,175 354,234 251,066 99,329 309,591 111,375 856,666 2,355,436
253,274 138,901 57,227 - - - 385,630 835,032
239,407 182,990 213,253 170,302 - - 283,510 1,089,462
9,747 13,616 3,874 366 - - - 27,603
- - - - - - 25,827 25,827
- 102,191 - - - - - 102,191
- - - - - 275,321 275,321
502,428 437,698 274,354 170,668 - - 970,288 2,355,436
(169,253} {83,464) {15,711) (71,339) 309,591 111,375 (113,622)
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Market risk {continued)
(b} Fareign Currency Risk Management

Most of the Bank’s activities fall into one of three currencies: EUR, GBP and USD. However, the Bank has
business interests in a number of different geographic regions and thus additional foreign currency positions
are held.

The Bank identifies foreign exchange rate risk as the risk to future cash-flows from adverse foreign exchange
movements.

Foreign exchange rate risk can have an impact on both the earnings and ecenomic value of the Bank and as a
consequence the Board of Directors seeks to manage these risks to ensure the achievement of its business
objectives.

The ALCO manages foreign exchange rate risk by the establishment of a Market Risk Policy that reflects the
overall risk appetite and which is approved by the Board of Directors and reviewed regularly.

The ALCO manages foreign exchange risk through the use of:
s List of permitted trading currencies;

*  Foreign exchange trading limits - maximum daylight and overnight limits are set for both spot and forward
foreign exchange trades;

*  Foreign exchange stop loss limits - maximum limits are set per book for the time horizons of day, month
and year; and

*  Asuite of stress tests that models changes to foreign exchange rates.

Management information systems are in place to measure foreign exchange risk, which is measured as the
estimate of the exposures/liabilities accepted in non-Euro currencies which are not offset by a corresponding
position or derivative transaction. The day-to-day management of foreign exchange risk lies with the Treasury
team, The monitoring and reporting of foreign exchange risk on a daily basis is performed by an independent
Treasury Valuation Control function that reports to the Head of Finance. The system of controls over forgign
exchange risk is subject to oversight by the Risk Contrel team which reports to the Chief Risk Officer. Senior
management receive market risk reports, including foreign exchange, and are notified immediately of any
breaches of the foreign exchange limits.

Utilisation of foreign exchange limits is measured as the sum of the absolute Euro equivalent values of all non-
Euro currency pasitions. Throughout the period the utilisation has not exceeded the limit.
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(b} Foreign Currency Risk Management (continued)

The net carrying amount of the Bank’s foreign currency denominated monetary assets and monetary liabilities
at the reporting date is as follows:

2021 2021 2020 2020

Currency CCY '000 €000 CCY ‘000 €'000
UAE Dirham 183 44 533 119
Australian Dollar (3) (2) 15 9
Bahraini Dinar (4) {10} 2 5
Canadian Dollar {11) (8} (16) {10}
Swiss Franc (37} (36} (33) (30}
Danish Kroner - - - -
Algerian Dinars (1,016} (6) 1,159 7
Egyptian Pounds 36 2 (17) {1}
Euro (6,530) (6,530) 4,428 4,428
Sterling (13) (15) {4) {4)
Israeli Shekel (1) - 69 18
Indian Rupee - - - -
Jordanian Dinar {55} (68} 85 a7
Japanese Yen (3,273} (25) 195 2
Kuwaiti Dinar (1) {4) 1 3
Moroccan Dirham 92 9 4 -
Norwegian Kroner - - - -
New Zealand Dollars - - - -
Omani Rial {3} {8) 1 2
Qatari Riyals 25 6 143 32
Saudi Riyals 132 31 {180) {39)
Swedish Kroner - - - -
Tunisian Dinar 7 2 22 7
Singapore Dollar - - - -
US Dollar (256} (225} 466 381
Yemen Riyals 15 - 15 -
Total utilisation of limit (excluding EUR {313) - 598

balance)
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{c) Sensitivity Analysis
The following table details the Bank's sensitivity to various risk variables. The analysis has been performed
using the following assumptions:
s Reasonable changes in interest rates are considered based on internal reporting to key management
personnel and different economic environments.

¢ The Bank has measured the EUR equivalent of movements in interest rates for GBP, EUR and USD. The
Bank does not have a material exposure to changes in other foreign currency rates and foreign interest
rates and as such sensitivity has not been performed for other currencies.

e A positive number indicates an increase in profit and a negative number indicates increase in loss.

All scenarios should be considered in isolation as they represent different risks and were calculated helding all
other variables constant.

2021 2020
Impact on Impact on
Profit/{Loss) Profit/{Loss)
€000 €'000

Interest rate sensitivity
100bps increase in interest rate {1,165) 672
100bps decrease in interest rate 1,165 (672)

The impact on the Bank’s equity of the above was not considered material.

Foreign currency risk sensitivity

The net impact of changes in foreign exchange rates on the Bank’s foreign currency assets and liabilities,
including derivative positions, at the reporting date are shown in the table below:

2021 2020

€000 €000
EUR appreciates 10% 28 (54)
EUR appreciates 20% 52 {100}
EUR depreciates 10% (28) 54

EUR depreciates 20% (52) 100

116



Europe Arab Bank plc
Notes to the Financial Statements for
Year ended 31 December 2021

35.

Market risk {continued)
IBOR reform

Following the decision by global regulators to phase out IBORs and replace them with Alternative Reference
Rates (AFR), in 2020 the Bank established a project to manage the transition for all existing contracts that
were affected. During 2021, the Bank successfully executed the transition of all legacy GBP LIBOR contracts to
GBP SONIA, the new AFR benchmark. Following on from progress during 2021, the Bank is confident that it
has the operational capability to process any remaining IBOR transitions to AFR that will be necessary during
2022. EAB has also noted the decision led by the AFR Committee to extend the daily publication of USD LIBOR
until the end of June 2023 with milestones to cease writing new business referencing USD LIBOR from 1st
lanuary 2022. For other benchmark rates such as EURIBOR that have been reformed and can therefore
cantinue, financial instruments referencing those rates will not need to transition.

IBOR reform exposes the Bank to various risks, which the project is managing and monitoring ¢losely. These
risks include but are not limited to the following:

¢ Conduct risk arising from discussions with clients and market counterparties due to the amendments
required to existing contracts necessary to effect IBOR reform;

¢ Financial risk to the Bank and its clients that markets are disrupted due to IBOR reform giving rise to
financial losses;

e  Pricing risk from the potential lack of market infermation if liquidity in IBORs reduces and RFRs are illiquid
and unabservable;

¢ Operational risk arising from changes te the Bank’s IT systems and processes; and
* Accounting risk if the Bank’s hedging relationships fail and from unrepresentative income statement

volatility as financial instruments transition to alternative reference rates.

The table below shows the Bank's exposure to significant IBOR's subject to reform that have yet to transition
AFRs as at 31 December 2021 including those exposures that transitioned immediately after the current year
end. The table excludes exposures to IBOR that will expire before transition in required.

Non-Derivative Derivatives

Financial Assets — Nominal Amount

Carrying Values €'000

€'000

GBP 3 month LIBOR 57,759 198,976
USD 3 month LIBOR - 268,095
EUR 3 month LIBOR - 120,395
57,759 587,466
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IBOR reform (continued)
Included within the table above are exposures at 31 December 2021 that were successfully transitioned from

IBORs to AFRs on 1 January 2022 which are shown in the table below. Instruments referenced to LIBOR USD
3M will transition no later than immediately after 36 June 2023.

Non-Derivative Derivatives
Financial Assets — Nominal
Carrying Values Amount €000
€000
GBP 3 month LIBOR 57,759 198,976
57,759 198,975
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Liguidity risk

The ultimate respansibility for liguidity risk management and for setting the Bank's Liquidity Risk Appetite rests with
the Board of Directors, with the ALCO having responsibility to build an appropriate liquidity risk management
framework for the management of the Bank’s short, medium and leng-term funding and liguidity management
requirements on a day-to-day basis. The Bank manages liquidity risk by maintaining adequate reserves, banking
facilities and reserve borrowing facilities by continuously monitaring actual, forecast and stressed cash flows and
matching the maturity profiles of financial assets and liabilities.

The measurement, management and monitoring of Liquidity Risk in EAB incorporates liquidity policies, systems and
controls that the Bank have implemented to manage Liquidity Risk within tolerance levels approved by the Board of
Directors. These incorporate a range of tools to calculate key liquidity metrics, measure and monitar these against
risk appetite limits and stress test the Bank’s cash flows including its contingent liabilities. The Bank's Internal
Liquidity Adequacy Assessment Process {ILAAP) document sets out the details of its approach to measuring,
monitoring and controlling liquidity risk.

The Bank follows a conservative approach to liquidity risk, and maintains a liquid asset buffer of High Quality Liquid
Assets as required by European Union (EU) regulation in addition to a portfolio of marketable securities which is
held as a liquidity buffer if short-term funds are urgently needed.

The Bank assesses its exposure to liquidity risk in three main categories and seeks to ensure that appropriate
mitigation is effected where possible, and that adequate insurance and contingency plan steps have been adopted
to address the possibility of severe liquidity shocks.

The three categories are:

*  Short-term tactical liquidity risk

The risk that the Bank's liquid assets are insufficient to meet its short term commitments.
e  Structural liquidity risk

The risk that the Bank’s business model (and consequently, its statement of financial position} develops in @ way
that causes difficulty attracting adequate funding on reasonable terms; and/ar

The risk that the structure of the statement of financial position is unduly exposed to disruption in its funding
markets

«  Contingency liquidity risk
The risk that the Bank experiences unexpected and/or acute liquidity shocks

The Bank has also identified several risk factors which form components of the Bank’s overall iquidity risk profile.
These include but are not limited to:

¢  Wholesale secured and unsecured funding risk
s  Retail funding risk

s Intra-day liquidity risk

e Intra-group liquidity risk

¢ Cross-currency liquidity risk

s Off-balance sheet liquidity risk

¢  Franchise viability risk

e Marketable assets risk

o Non-marketable assets risk

s Funding concentration risk
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Tactical Liquidity management is perfarmed by Treasury under delegated authority from ALCQ. Structural liquidity
management is carried out by ALCO, within the parameters set out in the Bank’s ILAAP document.
The Treasury team is responsible for intra-day and end-of-day liquidity. Liquidity risk is measured at an overall Bank
level through regular reporting produced by the Regulatory Reporting team within Finance. Additional reporting is
provided in the form of monthly liquidity reports submitted to the PRA. Regulatory liquidity requirements are
calculated and monitored internally on a daily basis and are complemented by other internal liquidity limits set by
the Bank. The system of controls over liquidity risk is subject to oversight by the Risk team which reports to the
Chief Risk Officer.
The ALCO is responsible for monitoring and reviewing liquidity positions and ensuring these positions are within the
limits set.
The following tables analyse assets and liabilities into relevant maturity groupings based on the remaining period to
contractual maturity. The maturity profiles disclosed below do not include the impact of behavioural characteristics
observed by the Bank. This has a material impact on the maturity profile and forms a key part of our liquidity
management and stress testing. In addition, the Bank also maintains a portfolio of marketable trading securities that
can be liquidated in the event of unforeseen interruption of cash flow.
2021
1 month 3 months to 6 months to Not tied to
Within 1 to 6 manths 12 months 1to3  After 3 years maturity
month 3 months years Total
€000 €000 €000 €'000 €000 €000 €000 €000
Assets
Cash and balances at central - - - - - - 174,174 174,174
banks
Due from banks 24,481 5,278 - - 373,199 402,958
Fair value through profit or loss - 8,817 8,872 . - 13,222 - 30,911
Fair value through OCl - - - 36,095 8,955 41,032 - 86,082
Loans and advances to 97,786 209,061 47,481 58,289 204,538 302,689 - 919,844
customers
Financial investments at 30,462 93,562 26,241 47,177 81,341 218,946 - 497,729
amortised cost
Derivatives 37 889 985 75 41 3,621 - 5,648
Other assets 777 1,134 157 675 1,199 4,855 137,512 146,309
Total assets 153,543 318,741 83,736 142,311 296,074 584,365 684,885 2,263,655
Liabilities and equity
Deposits by banks 244,009 139,862 229,201 21,995 - - 33,587 668,654
Customer acCounts 238,763 180,073 202,309 154,237 - - 388,122 1,164,504
Derivatives 1,141 2,187 667 99 5,448 - 9,542
Other liabilities 313 168 203 415 880 2,747 13,005 17,740
Subordinated tiabilities - - - - - - 108,977 109,977
Shareholders’ equity - - - - 293,238 203,238
Total liabilities and equity 485,226 322,290 432,380 176,647 988 8,195 837,929 2,263,655
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2020
1 month 3 months to 6 months to Not tied to
Within 1 to 6 months 12 months 1te3  After 3years maturity
month 3 months years Total
€000 €000 €000 €000 €000 €000 €000 £000

Assets
Cash and balances at central
banks - 135,518 135,518
Cue fram banks 29,484 3,675 33 - - - 577,138 610,330
Fair value through profit or loss

- 4,091 34,541 105,505 30,454 - 174,601
Loans and advances to
customers 115,910 74,034 53,902 17,785 310,141 303,483 14,018 890,273
Financial investments at
amortised cost 11,18¢% - 45,052 61,096 223,315 70,866 411,518
Derivatives 290 131 263 5 37 2,478 - 3,204
Other assets 863 125 155 358 2,849 2,943 122,699 129,992
Total assets 158,736 77,965 103,496 113,785 641,847 410,234 849,373 2,355,436
Liabilities and equity
Depaosits by banks 151,083 89,850 208,470 - - - 385,629 835,032
Customer accounts 239,408 182,990 213,254 170,300 - - 283,510 1,089,462
Derivatives 415 3,034 5,133 - 571 18,450 - 27,603
Other liabilities 677 630 1,601 297 200 138 22,284 25,827
Subordinated liabilities - - - - - - 102,191 102,191
Shareholders’ equity B - - - - 275,321 275,321
Total liabilities and equity 391,583 276,504 428,458 170,597 771 18,588 1,068,935 2,355,436
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Financial liabilities

The following table details the Bank’s remaining contractual maturity for its non-derivative financial liabilities.
The tables below have been drawn up based on the undiscounted contractual maturities of the financial
liabilities inciuding interest that will accrue to those liabilities except where the Bank is entitled and intends to

repay the liability before its maturity.

Gross 3 months 6 months
contractual cash flows tob to 12 Not tied
Within 1 1to3 months months 1to3 After 3 to
month months years years maturity Total
€000 €000 €000 €000 €'000 €000 €000 €000
2021
Deposits by banks 244,012 139,872 229,212 21,985 - - 33,586 663,677
Customer deposits 239,778 183,155 202,595 154,657 - - 388,122 1,165,307
Subordinated liabilities - - 110,173 110,173
Total non-derivative
financial liabilities 483,790 320,027 431,807 176,652 - - 531,881 1,944,157
2020
Deposits by banks 151,089 90,356 208,991 - - - 385,629 835,765
Customer deposits 239,471 183,155 213,872 170,904 - - 283,510 1,080,912
Subordinated liabilities - - - - - - 102,193 102,193
Total non-derivative
financial liabilities 390,560 273,211 422,863 170,904 - 771,332 2,028,870

The table below presents the contractual maturity date of letters of credit, guarantees and un-drawn
committed facilities issued by the Bank.

20

Letters of credit and acceptances
Guarantees given to third parties
Un-drawn commitments

2020

Letters of credit and acceptances
Guarantees given to third parties
Un-drawn commitments

Within 3to 1to 3 years After 3

3 months 12 months years
€000 €000 €000 €000
36,295 26,726 5,279 -
190,988 125,394 93,329 103,283
2,769 6,145 40,667

Within ito After 3

3 months 12 months 1to 3 years years
€'000 €000 €000 €000
59,197 14,986 12,026 -
274,580 194,316 91,089 25511
62,822 - - -
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Liquidity risk (continued)

The following table details the Bank’s expected maturity for its derivative financial instruments. When the
amount payable or receivable is not fixed, the amount disclosed has been determined by reference to the
projected interest rates as itlustrated by the yield curves existing at the reporting date.

The table befow presents the contractual maturity date of derivative financial instruments that will be settled
on a net basis.

Gross contractual cash flows

Within 3to 12 1to After
3 months manths 3 years 3 years
€000 €000 €000 €000
2021
Interest rate swaps — net outflow 12,942 3,214 2,353 (267}
2020
Interest rate swaps — net outflow 2,478 4,489 7.736 1,351

The table below presents the contractual maturity date of derivative financial instruments that will be settled
on a gross basis {i.e. forward currency contracts).

Gross contractual cash flows

Within 3012 1to After
3 months months 3 years 3 years
€000 €000 €000 €000
2021
Outflow 392,597 51,197 -
Inflow 394,740 51,054 -
2020
Outflow 475,157 10,425 - -
Inflow 467,231 10,422 - -

Encumbered assets

Certain assets are pledged as collateral to secure liabilities under repurchase agreements, Credit Support
Annex (“CSA”} for derivative liabilities and as security deposits relating to futures, options and exchange
memberships. The holders of these securities do not have the right to sell or re-pledge the asset except where

specifically disclosed.
The aggregate amount of collateral pledged under CSAs is €11m (2020: £€29m).

The Bank has pledged €166m {2020: €122m) worth of investment securities and cash as collateral against its
clearing operations and for secured financing transactions. This includes €67m to secure liabilities under

repurchase agreements.
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38.

Operational risk

The Bank is exposed to risk of loss arising from inadequate or failure in systems, products, processes, activities
and systems. This can inciude, but is not limited to internal and external factors, systems impacts, cyber
security incidents, regulatory or conduct breaches, payments impacts, third party involvement or, potential
personal data breaches. The Bank actively manages operational risk in accordance with regulation and
guidance from the UK Financial Conduct Authority {“FCA”) and Prudential Regulation Authority {“PRA"), as
well as guidelines stipulated by other regulatory bodies.

The Bank has limited appetite for operational losses that may arise from doing business. EAB ensures that high
levels of operational resilience are maintained through thorough operational risk assessment and
measurement, in line with the Bank’s ERM framewaork. Consequently, the Bank uses key tools such as Risk
Mapping, Risk Rating and Assessment Grids, Risk and Control Self-Assessment and Risk Incident Reporting.

Independent review and oversight of Operational Risk is provided by the Operational Risk Manager, who
reports directly to the Chief Risk Officer.

This structure is supported by close collaboration with strategic business units’ across geographical locations,
an Operational Risk Committee, an Operational Risk Policy and systems and controls which set the standards,
approach and framework for identifying, assessing, measuring, reporting, controlling and managing
operational risks.

The Bank adopts the standardised approach for calculating Operational Risk capital as set out in the CRR and
consequently embarks on rigorous risk identification exercises to establish any Pillar Two requirement for
Operational Risk.

Capital management and risk

The Bank maintains an actively managed capital base to cover risks inherent in the business. The primary
objectives of the Bank’s capital management are to ensure that the Bank complies with both external and
internal capital requirements and that the Bank maintains healthy capital ratios in order to support its
business and maximise shareholders’ value.

The Bank manages its capital structure and makes adjustments to it in the light of changes in economic
conditions, risk characteristics of its activities and regulatory requirements.

The adequacy of the Bank’s capital is monitored using, amongst others, the rules and ratios establishad by the
PRA. During the past year, the Bank had complied in full with all its externally imposed capital requirements.

Europe Arab Bank’s capital comprises net equity of €293m (2020: €275m) and perpetual subordinated
liabilities of €110m {2020: €102m). The subordinated liabilities count as upper tier 2 capital for the regulatory
capital base. The regulatory capital base differs slightly from amounts reported above due to differing
treatment of certain reserves and consolidation adjustments.

The Bank’s Internal Capita! Adequacy Assessment Process (ICAAP) document sets out the details of its
approach to measuring, monitoring and controiling capital risk and to managing its capital. The 1ICAAP is an
assessment of the Bank’s capital position, outlining both regulatory and internal capital resources and
requirements with EAB’s business model, strategy, risk to capital, and the implications of stress testing to
capital.
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT
To the Shareholders of Arab Bank Group
Amman - Jordan

Opinion

We have audited the consolidated financial statements of Arab Bank Group and its subsidiaries
(the "Group™) which comprise the consolidated statement of financial position as at 31 December
2021, and the consolidated statement of income, consolidated statement of comprehensive
income, consolidated statement of changes in equity and consolidated statement of cash flows
far the year then ended, and notes to the consaclidated financial statements, including a summary
of significant accounting policies.

In our opinion, the accompanying consolidated financial statements present fairly, in all material
respects, the financial position of the Group as of 31 December 2021, and its financial
performance and its cash flows for the year then ended in accordance with International Financial
Reporting Standards {(IFRSs).

Basis for Opinion

We conducted our audit in accordance with International Standards on Auditing (1SAs). Our
responsibilities under those standards, are further described in the Auditor's Responsibilities for
the Audit of the Consolidated Financial Statements section of our report. We are independent of
the Group in accordance with the International Ethics Standards Board for Accountants’
International Code of Ethics for Professional Accountants (including International Independence
Standards) (IESBA Code) together with the ethical requirements that are relevant to our audit of
the consolidated financial statements in Jordan, and we have fulfilled our other ethical
responsibilities in accordance with these requirements and the IESBA Code. We believe that the
audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion.
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Key Audit Matters

Key audit matters are those matters that, in our professional judgment, were of most significance
in our audit of the consolidated financial statements for the year ended 31 December 2021. These
matters were addressed in the context of our audit of the consolidated financial statements as a
whole, and in forming our opinion thereon, and we do not provide a separate opinion on these
matters. For each matter below, our description of how our audit addressed the matter provided
in that context .

We have fulfilled the jesponsibilities described in the Auditor's responsibilities for the audit of the
consolidated financial statements section of our report, including in relation to these matters.
Accordingly, our audit included the performance of procedures designed to respond to our
assessment of the risks of material misstatement of the consolidated financial statements. The
results of our audit procedures, including the procedures performed to address the matters below,
provide the basis for our audit opinion on the accompanying consclidated financial statements.

]
1. Inadequate allowances (ECL) for credit facilities
Refer to note (13) to the consolidated financial statements
Key audit matter How the key audit matter was addressed in the

audit:
This is considered as a key audit matter as the
Group exercises significant judgement to

determine when and how much to record as | we gained an understanding of the Group's key
impairment. credit processes comprising granting and booking

. - ) . and tested the operating effectiveness of key
Credit facilities form a major portion of the Group's controls over these processes.

assets, there is a risk thatinappropriate impairment
provisions are booked, whether from the use of | We read the Group’s impairment provisioning
inaccurate underlying data, or the use of | policy and compared it with the requirements of
unreasonable  assumptions. Due to the | IFRS 9 as well as relevant regulatory guidelines
significance of the judgments used in classifying | and pronouncements.

credit facilities into various stages stipulated in
IFRS 9@ and determining related provision
requirements, this audit area is considered a key
audit risk.

Cur audit procedures included the following:

+« \We assessed the Group's expected credit
loss model, in particular focusing on its
alignment of the expected credit loss model
and its underlying methodology with the

As of 31 December 2021, the Group's gross credit requirements of IFRS 9.

facilities amounted to USD 34.6 billion and the | | e examined a sample of exposures,

related impairment provision amounted to USD 2.6 assessed on an individual basis and

billion. ~ The impairment provision  policy is performed procedures to evaluate the

presented in the accounting policies in note (4) to following:

the consolidated financial statements.

o Appropriateness of the Group’s staging.

o Appropriateness of determining
Exposure at Default, including the
consideration of repaymenits in the cash
flows and the resultant arithmetical
calculations

o Appropriateness of the PD, EAD and
LGD used for different exposures at
different stages.

o Appropriateness of the internal rating
and the objectivity, competency and
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independence of the experts involved in
this exercise.

o Soundness and mathematical integrity
of the ECL Model.

o For exposures moved between stages
we have checked the appropriateness
of the Group's determination of
significant increase in credit risk and
the resultant basis for classification of
exposures inte various stages. We also
checked the timely identification of
exposures with a significant deterioration
in credit quality.

o For exposures determined to be
individually impaired, we re-preformed
the ECL calculation. We also obtained
an understanding of the latest
developments in the counterparty's
situation of the latest developments in
estimate of future cash flows, current
financial position any rescheduling or
restructuring agreements.

e For forward looking assumptions used by the
Group in its Expected Credit Loss ("ECL")
calculations, we held discussions with
management and corroborated the assumptions
using publicly available information.

» We assessed the financial statements
disclosures to ensure compliance with
IFRS 9. Refer to the accounting policies, critical
accounting estimates and judgments, disclosures
of credit facilities and on ECL in notes (4), (5}, (7}
and {13) to the consolidated financial statements.

2. Valuation of Unquoted Invesiments and Derivatives
Refer to notes (12) and (43) to the consolidated financial statements

Key audit matter

The valuation of unquoted investment and derivatives
are complex areas that require the use of models and
forecasting of future cash flows including other
factors to determine the fair value of investments and
derivatives. As of 31 December 2021, the unguoted
equities, positive and negative fair value of
derivatives amounted to USD 212 million, USD 87
million and USD 96 million, respectively.

How the key audit matter was addressed in the
audit:

Qur audit procedures included, amongst others, an
assessment of the methodology and the
appropriateness of the valuation models and inputs
used to value the unquoted equities and derivatives.
As part of these audit procedures, we assessed the
reascnableness of key inputs used in the valuation
such as the expected cash flows, discount rate by
benchmarking them with external data.

Disclosures of unquoted investments and derivatives
are detailed in notes (12) and {43) to the consolidated
financial statements.
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Other information included in the Group’s 2021 annual report.

Other information consists of the information included in the Bank’s 2021 Annual Report other
than the consolidated financial statements and our auditor's report thereon. Management is
responsible for the other information. The Bank’s 2021 Annual Report is expected to be made
available to us after the date of this auditor’s report.

Our opinion on the consolidated financial statements does not cover the other information and we
will not express any form of assurance conclusion thereon.

In connection with our audit of the consolidated financial statements, our responsibility is to read
the other information identified above when it becomes available and, in doing so, consider
whether the other information is materially inconsistent with the consolidated financial statements
or our knowledge obtained in the audit or otherwise appears fo be materially misstated.

Responsibilities of Management and Those Charged with Governance for the Consolidated
Financial Statements

Management is responsible for the preparation and fair presentation of the consolidated financial
statements in accordance with IFRSs, and for such internal control as management determines
is necessary to enable the preparation of consolidated financial statements that are free from
material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error.

In preparing the consolidated financial statements, management is responsible for assessing the
Group’s ability to continue as a going concern, disclosing, as applicable, matters related to going
concern and using the going concern basis of accounting uniess management either intends to
liquidate the Group or to cease operations, or has no realistic altemative but to do so.

Those charged with governance are responsible for overseeing the Group’s financial reporting
process.

Auditor’s Responsibilities for the Audit of the Consolidated Financial Statements

Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the consclidated financial
statements as a whole are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to
issue an auditor’s report that includes our opinion.

Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance, but is not a guarantee that an audit conducted
in accordance with ISAs will always detect a material misstatement when it exists. Misstatements
can arise from fraud or error and are considered material if, individually or in the aggregate, they
could reasonably be expected to influence the economic decisions of users taken on the basis of
these consolidated financial statements.
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As part of an audit in accordance with 1SAs, we exercise professicnal judgment and maintain
professional skepticism throughout the audit. We also:

« Identify and assess the risks of material misstatement of the consolidated financial
statements, whether due to fraud or errar, design and perfarm audit procedures responsive
to those risks, and obtain audit evidence that is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis
for our opinion. The risk of not detecting a material misstatement resulting from fraud is higher
than for one resulting from error, as fraud may involve collusion, forgery, intentional
omissions, misrepresentations, or the override of intemai control.

« Obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to the audit in order to design audit
procedures that are appropriate in the circumstances, but net for the purpose of expressing
an opinion on the effectiveness of the Group’s internal confrol.

« Evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the reasonableness of
accounting estimates and related disclosures made by management.

« Conclude on the appropriateness of management’s use of the going concern basis of
accounting and, based on the audit evidence obtained, whether a material uncertainty exists
related to events or conditions that may cast significant doubt on the Group’s ability to
continue as a going concern. If we conclude that a material uncertainty exist, we are required
to draw attention in our auditor's report to the related disclosures in the consolidated financial
statements or, if such disclosures are inadequate, to modify our opinion, Our conclusions are
based on the audit evidence obtained up to the date of our auditor’s report. However future
events or conditions may cause the Group to cease to coritinue as a going concerm.

» Evaluate the overall presentation, structure and content of the consolidated financial
statements, including the disclosures, and whether the consolidated financial statements
represent the underlying transactions and events in a manner that achieves fair presentation.

» Obtain sufficient appropriate audit evidence regarding the financial information of the entities
or business activities within the Group to express an opinion on the consolidated financial
statements. We are responsible for the direction, supervision and performance of the group
audit. We remain solely responsible for our audit opinicn.

We communicate with those charged with governance regarding, among other matters, the
planned scope and timing of the audit and significant audit findings, including any significant
deficiencies in internal control that we identify during our audit.

We also provide those charged with governance with a statement that we have complied with
relevant ethical requirements regarding independence, and to communicate with them all
relationships and other matters that may reasonably be thought to bear on our independence,
and where applicable, related safeguards.
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From the matters communicated with those charged with governance, we determine those
matters that were of most significance in the audit of the consolidated financial statements of the
current period, and are therefore the key audit matters. We describe these matters in our auditor's
report, unless law or regulation precludes public disclosure about the matter or when, in extremely
rare circumstances, we determine that a matter should not be communicated in our report
because the adverse consequences of doing so would reasonable be expected to outweigh the
public interest benefits of such communication.

Report on Other Legal and Regulatory Requirements

The Group maintains proper books of accounts, which are in agreement from all material aspects
with the consolidated financial statements.

The partner in charge of the audit resulting in this auditor’s report was Bishr Ibrahim Baker; license
number 592.

Amman — Jardan ERNST

7 February 2022



ARAB BANK GROUP

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION

ASSETS

Cash and balances with central banks
Balances with banks and financial institutions
Deposits with banks and financial institutions
Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss
Financial derivatives - positive fair value
Direct credit facilities at amortized cost
Financial assets at fair value through other comprehensive income
Orher financial assets at amortized cost
Investments in associates
Fixed asscts
Other assets
Deferred tax assets

Total Assets

LIABILITIES AND OWNERS' EQUITY

Banks' and financial institutions' deposits
Customers' deposits
Cash margin
Financial derivatives - negative fair value
Borrowed funds
Provision for income tax
Other provisions
Other liabilities
Deferred rax liabilitics
Total Liabilities

Equity
Share capital
Share premium
Statutory reserve
Voluntary reserve
General reserve
General banking risks reserve
Reserves with associates
Foreign currency translation reserve
Investments revaluation reserve
Retained eamnings
Total Equity Attributable to the Shareholders of the Bank
Perpetual tier 1 capital bonds
Non-controlling interests
Total Shareholders' Equity
TOTAL LEABILITIES AND SHAREHOLDERS' EQUITY

The accompanying notes from {1) to (62) are an integral part of these consolidated
financial statements and should be read with them.

31 December

Notes 2021 2020
USD '000 USD '000
8 12006994 10807627
9 3756284 4601165
10 275 494 288 165
11 72 343 304 054
43 86 585 91510
i3 31188786 23907 858
12 687 854 409 715
14 10561173 8762789
15 3412899 3804212
16 531955 458 518
17 976 269 763137
18 248 498 214933
63805134 54413 683
19 3992699 3974226
20 44485511 36235138
21 2607131 2483253
43 95 §09 170 956
2 622 460 609 791
23 202 477 275 406
24 217629 230 069
25 1252 771 1040 409
26 7295 5672
53483 782 45024920
27 926 615 926 615
27 1225747 1225747
28 926 615 926 615
29 977 315 977315
30 1211927 1141824
3 154171 224 274
1540896 1540896
32 (291987)  (160209)
33 (312553) (295797
35 2967984 2775635
9326730 9282915
34 438 449 ;
35 556 173 105 848
10321352 9388763
63805134 54413 683




ARAB BANK GROUP

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF INCOME

REVENUE

Interest income
Less: interest expense
Net interest income
Net commissions income
Net interest and commissions income
Foreign exchange differences
Gain from financial assets at fair value through profit or loss
Dividends on financial assets at fair value through other comprehensive income
Group's share of profits of associates
Other revenue
TOTAL INCOME

EXPENSES
Employees' expenses
Other expenses
Depreciation and amortization
Provision for impairment - ECL
Impairment of investments held for sale
Other provisions

TOTAL EXPENSES

PROFIT FOR THE YEAR BEFORE INCOME TAX
Less: Income tax expense
PROFIT FOR THE YEAR

Attributable to :

Bank's shareholders
Non-controlling inferests
Total

Eamings per share attributable to the Bank's Shareholders
- Basic and Diluted (US Dollars)

The accompanying notes from (1) to (62) are an integral part of these consolidated financial

statements and should be read with them.

Notes 2021 2020

USD 000 USD '000
36 2 208 981 2 068 368
37 858 554 865 306
1350427 1203 062
38 347956 270 398
1 698 383 1473 460
110933 100 624
39 4 197 3580
12 6088 5710
15 276 818 296 365
40 73246 51296
2 169 665 1931 035
41 597 361 509 633
42 378 504 314420
16,17 83635 63350
7 560093 658 330
50000 13 000

24 11977 22221
1 681 570 1 580 954

488 095 350 081

23 173 578 154 797
314517 195 284

306 721 192 791
35 7 796 2493
314517 195 284
57 0.46 0.30




ARAB BANK GROUP

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF COMPREHENSIVE INCOME

Profit for the Year

Add: Other comprehensive income items - after tax

litems that will be subsequently transferred to the consolidated statement of Income

Exchange differences arising from the translation of tforeign operations
Revaluation on financial assets at fair value through other comprehensive income

Items that will not be subsequently transferred to the consolidated statement of Income

Net change in fair value of financial assets at fair value through other comprehensive income
Changge in investments revaluation reserve

{Loss) from sale of financial assets at fair value throughther comprehensive income

Total Other Comprehensive Income Items - after tax

TOTAL COMPREHNSIVE INCOME FOR THE YEAR

Attributable to :
- Bank's sharcholders
- Non-controlling interests

Total

2021 2020
USD '000 USD '000
314517 195 284
(134 776) 105 061
(1 100) -
(22 057) 1 848
(17325) 4 101
(4732) (2 253)
( 157 933) 106 909
156 584 302 193
155976 285 538
608 16 655
156 584 302 193

The accompanying notes from (1) to (62) are an integral part of these consolidated

financial staterments and should be read with them,
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ARAB B/ GROUE
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CASH FL.OWS

Notes 241t 2020
CASH FLOWS FROM OPERATING ACTIVITIES USD "000 LSD '000
Profit for the year before income tax 488 095 RE I
Adjustments for:
- Depreciation 16 69 151 48 905
- Amortization of intangible asscts 17 13384 14344
- Depreciation right of use assets 7 23749 17297
- Expected credit losses on financial assets 7 361693 638 330
- Net accrued interest (110 233) { 50 B81)
- (Gain) from sale of fived assets (2114 { 795}
- {Gam} from revaluation of financial assets at fair value through profit or loss 39 (297 { 516)
- Dividends from financial assets at fair value through other comprehensis & income 12 16 08%) (5710
- Group's share of profits of associates 13 {276 818} (296 365)
- Provision for inpainnent of investments held for sale 50 000 13000
- Other provisions 1} 977 2202
Total 813 305 T2
{Increase) decrease in assets:
Balances with central banks (maturing aftec 3 months) - 68 001
Deposits with banks and financial institutions (maturing after 3 months) 48 270 3%
Durect credit faciities at amortized cost {891 783y (450 3703
Financial assets at fair value through profit and Joss 233729 215515
Onher assets and financial deriyvalises 130 131 { 329499y
Huerease (decrease) ta liabilities:
Bank and financial institutions deposits {(maturing after 3 months) {547 462) 362 743
Customel s’ deposits 1093 724 3080 143
Cash margin 123878 (599 500y
Other liabilities and financial derivaties ( 1683051y 43622
Net Cash from Operating Activities before Income Tax 837 741 3461543
Income tax paid 23 { 284 360) (284 714)
Net Cash from Operaring Activities 553 381 3176 829
CASH FLOWS FROM INVESTING ACTIVITIES
{Purchase) af financial assets at fair \ alue through ather comprehensi e income { 175 385 {23751
(Purchase) Matunty of otber financial asscts at amortized cost 11 290 286) 131029

{Increase) of investments in associates 5 ( 9&) {13%332)
Acquusition of Oman Arab Bank b 689 119 -

Trvidends received from associates 13 194 106 143 364
Dividends from financial assets at fair v alue through other comprehensive meome 12 6 088 5710
{Increase) in fixed assets - Net 16 {77 348) {47827
Proceeds from sethng fixed assets 42039 2672
(Purchase) of intangible assets - Net [ { 26 868) { I8 4255
Net Cash generated {used in) from Investing Activities { 638 631) 53 240
CaSH FLOWS FROM FINANCING ACTIVITIES
{Decrease) Increase in borrowed funds (3927 276 853
Increase in Perpetual Bonds 250 000 -
Interest on Perpetual Bonds (29 382) -
Divrdends paid to sharcholders 2 { 928;
Dividends paid to non-controlling interests {215 (1763)
Net Cash generated from Financing Activities 65013 274 164
Net (Decrease) Increase in Cash and Cash Equivalents (20238 3504233
Exchange differences - change in loreign exchange rates {31778 892716
Cash and cash equiv alent at the beginning of the year 12312068 83815 119
{ash and Cash Equivalent at the End of the Year 39 12 260 052 12412 068
Operational cash flows from interest
[nterest Receis ed 1368443 2089363
Interest Paid 809 345 937 182

The accompanying notes from (1) w162} are an integral part of these consolidated financial

statements and should be read with them.



ARAB BANK GROUP
NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
31 DECEMBER 2021

1. GENERAL

Arab Bank was established in 1930, and is registered as a Jordanian Public Shareholding Limited
Company. The Head Office of the Bank is domiciled in Amman — Hashemite Kingdom of Jordan and
the Bank operates worldwide through its 77 branches in Jordan and 130 branches abroad. Also, the
Bank operates thraugh its subsidiaries and Arab Bank {Switzerland).

Arab Bank PLC shares are traded on Amman Stock Exchange. The shareholders of Arab Bank PLC
are the same shareholders of Arab Bank Switzeriand (every 18 shares of Arab Bank PLC equal/
traded for 1 share of Arab Bank Switzerland).

The accompanying consolidated financial statements were approved by the Board of Directors in its

meeting number (1) on 30 January 2022 and are subject to the approval of the General Assembly
and the Central Bank of Jordan.

2.(A) BASIS OF PREPARATION

The accompanying consolidated financial statements are prepared in accordance with International
Financial Reporting Standards issued by the International Accounting Standards Board.

Arab Bank Group adheres to the local regulations and instructions of the Central Bank of Jordan, as
well as to the prevailing regulations in the countries where the Group cperates.

The consclidated financial statements are prepared in accordance with the historical cost principle,
except for financial assets through profit or loss, financial assets through other comprehensive income
and financial derivatives which are stated at fair value as of the date of the consclidated financial
statements.

The consolidated financial statements are presented in US dollars (USD) which is the functional
currency of the Group. For each entity in the Group, the Bank determines the functional currency
and items included in the financial statements of each entity are measured using that functional
currency.



ARAB BANK GROUP

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

31 DECEMBER 2021

2. {B) BASIS OF CONSOLIDATION

The accompanying consolidated financial statements of Arab Bank Group, presented in US dollars,
comprise the financial statements of Arab Bank plc, Arab Bank Switzerland (Limited) and the

following key subsidiaries:

Percentage of Date of Place of Paid-up
Company Name ownership {%) Acquisition Principal Activity Incorporation Capital
2021 2020
Eurcpe Arab Bank plc 100.00 100.00 2006 Banking United Kingdom € 570m
Arab Bank Australia Limited 100.00 100.00 1994 Banking Australia AU 119.3m
Islamic international Arab Bank plc 100.66 160.00 1997 Banking Jordan JO 100m
Arab National Leasing Company L.L.C. 100.00 100.00 1896 Financial
Leasing Jordan JD 50m
Al-Arabi Investment Group L.L.C. 100.00 100.00 1996 Brokerage and
Financial Services Jordan JO 14m
Arab Sudanese Bank Limited 160.06 166.00 2008 Bartking Sudan SDG 117.5m
Al Arabi Investment Group - Palestine 100.00 100.00 2009 Brokerage and
Financial Services Palestine Jo 1.7m
Arab Tunisian Bank §4.24 64.24 1982 Banking Tunisia TND 128m
Oman Arab Bank $.A.C. 49.00 49.00 1984 Banking Oman OMR 166.9m
Araty Bank Syria 51.29 5t.29 2605 Banking Syria SYP 5.05b
Al Nisr Al Arabi Insurance Company PLC 50.00 50.00 2006 Insurance Jordan JD 10m

Control is achieved when the Group is exposed, or has rights, to variable returns from its involvement
with the investee and has the ability to affect those returns through its power over the investee.
Specifically, the Group controls an investee if and only if the Group has:

+« Power over the investee {i.e. existing rights that give it the current ability to direct the relevant
activities of the investee).

s Exposure, or rights, to variable reiurns from its involvement with the investee.

« The ability to use its power over the investee to affect its returns.

When the Group has less than a majority of the voting or similar rights of an investee, the Group
considers all relevant facts and circumstances in assessing whether it has power over an investee,
including:

+ The contractual arrangement with the other vote halders of the investee.
+ Rights arising from other contractual arrangements.
+ The Group's voting rights and potential voting rights.

The Group re-assesses whether or not it controls an investee if facts and circumstances indicate that
there are changes to one or more of the three elements of control.

Consolidation of a subsidiary begins when the Group obtains control over the subsidiary and ceases
when the Group loses control of the subsidiary. Income and expenses of a subsidiary acquired or
disposed of during the year are included in the statement of comprehensive income from the date the
Group gains control until the date the Group ceases to centrol the subsidiary.

2.



ARAB BANK GRoOUP
NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
31 DECEMBER 2021

Profit or loss and each component of other comprehensive income (OCI) are attributed to the equity
holders of the parent of the Group and to the non-controlling interests, even if this results in the non-
controlling interests having a deficit balance. When necessary, adjustments are made to the financial
statements of subsidiaries to bring their accounting policies into line with the Group's accounting
policies. All intra-group assets and liabilities, equity, income, expenses and cash flows relating to
transactions between members of the Group are eliminated in full on consolidation.

A change in the ownership interest of a subsidiary without a loss of control is accounted for as an
equity transaction. If the Group loses control over a subsidiary, it:

- Derecognizes the assets (including goodwill) and liabilities of the subsidiary.

- Derecognizes the carrying amount of any non- controlling interests.

- Derecognizes the cumulative translation differences, recorded in equity.

- Recognizes the fair value of the consideration received.

- Recognizes the fair value of any investment retained.

- Recognizes the gain or loss resulted from loss of control.

- Reclassifies the parent's share of components previously recognized in OCI to profit or loss.

3. CHANGES IN ACCOUNTING POLICIES

The accounting policies adopted in the preparation of the consolidated financial statements are
consistent with those used in the preparation of the consolidated financial statements for the year
ended 31 December 2020, except for the adoption of the following new standards effective as of 1
January 2021:

Interest Rate Benchmark Reform — Phase 2: Amendments to IFRS 9, IAS 39, IFRS 7,
IFRS 4 and IFRS 16

The amendments provide temporary reliefs which address the financial reporting effects when an
interbank offered rate (IBOR) is replaced with an alternative nearly risk-free interest rate (RFR). The
amendments include the following practical expedients :

. To require contractual changes, or changes to cash flows that are directly required by the
reform, to be treated as changes to a floating interest rate, equivalent to a movement in a

market rate of interest,

. To permit changes required by IBOR reform to be made to hedge designations and hedge
documentation without the hedging relationship being discontinued,
. To provide temporary relief to entities from having to meet the separately identifiable

requirement when an RFR instrument is designated as a hedge of a risk component .

The Group expects to have a minimal impact because the transition is done and expected to be done
on economically equivalent rates and therefore no material modification gain or loss will take place.

3-



ARAB BANK GROUP
NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
31 DECEMBER 2021

Covid-19-Related Rent Concessions beyond 30 June 2021 Amendments to IFRS 16

On 28™ May 2020, the 1ASB issued Covid-19-Related Rent Concessions - amendment tc IFRS 16
Leases. The amendments provide relief to lessees from applying IFRS 16 guidance on lease
modification accounting for rent concessions arising as a direct consequence of the Covid-19
pandemic. As a practical expedient, a lessee may elect not to assess whether a Covid-18 related rent
concession from a lessor is a lease modification. A lessee that makes this election accounts for any
change in lease payments resulting from the Covid-19 related rent concession the same way it would
account for the change under IFRS 16, if the change were not a lease Modification.

The amendment was intended to apply until 30 June 2021, but as the impact of the Covid-19
pandemic is continuing, on 31% March 2021, the IASB extended the period of application of the
practical expedient to 30" June 2022. The amendment applies to annual reporting periods beginning
on or after 1% April 2021.

However, the Group has not received Covid-19-related rent concessions, but plans to apply
the practical expedient if it becomes applicable within allowed period of application.

4. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

Business combinations and goodwiil

Business combinations are accounted for using the acquisition method. The cost of an
acquisition is measured as the aggregate of the consideration transferred measured at
acquisition date fair value, and the amount of any non-controlling interests in the acquiree.
For each business combination, the Group elects whether to measure the non-controlling
interests in the acquiree at fair value or at the proportionate share of the acquiree’s
identifiable net assets. Acquisition-related costs are expensed as incurred and included in
administrative expenses.

When the Group acquires a business, it assesses the financial assets and liabilities assumed
for appropriate classification and designation in accordance with the contractual terms,
economic circumstances and pertinent conditions as at the acquisition date. This includes the
separation of embedded derivatives in host contracts by the acquiree.

If the business combination is achieved in stages, any previously held equity interest is
remeasured at its acquisition date fair value and any resulting gain or loss is recognised in
profit or loss.
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Any contingent consideration to be transferred by the acquirer will be recognised at fair value
at the acquisition date. Contingent consideration classified as an asset or liability that is a
financial instrument and within the scope of IFRS 9 Financial Instruments, is measured at fair
value with changes in fair value recognised in the consolidated statement of comprehensive
income.

Goodwill is initially measured at cost, being the excess of the aggregate of the consideration
transferred and the amount recognised for non-controlling interests, and any previous interest
held, over the net identifiable assets acquired and liabilities assumed. If the fair value of the
net assets acquired is in excess of the aggregate consideration transferred, the Group re-
assesses whether it has correctly identified all of the assets acquired and all of the liabilities
assumed and reviews the procedures used to measure the amounts to be recognised at the
acquisition date. If the reassessment still results in an excess of the fair value of net assets
acquired over the aggregate consideration transferred, then the gain is recognised in profit or
loss.

After initial recognition, goodwill is measured at cost less any accumulated impairment
losses. For the purpose of impairment testing, goodwill acquired in a business combination
is, from the acquisition date, allocated to each of the Group’s cash-generating units that are
expected to benefit from the combination, irrespective of whether other assets or liabilities of
the acquiree are assigned to those units.

Where goodwill has been allocated to a cash-generating unit and part of the operation within
that unit is disposed of, the goodwill associated with the disposed operation is included in the
carrying amount of the operation when determining the gain or loss on disposal. Goodwill
disposed in these circumstances is measured based on the relative values of the disposed
operation and the portion of the cash-generating unit retained.

Hedges directly affected by interest rate benchmark reform
Accounting relief relating to hedge accounting provided by International Accounting Standard
Board during the phase 1 and phase 2 are being considered.

At the time of the transition to risk free rates, hedge documentation, which currently refers to
Libor, will be updated to reflect the transition to the new reference rate for the hedging item
and the hedging instrument in every case. Economic equivalency will be maintained and
therefore no material P&L impact is anticipated.

For this purpose, the hedge designation is amended only to make one or more of the
following changes:
o Designating an alternative benchmark rate as the hedged risk.
o Updating the description of the hedged item, including the description of the
designated portion of the cash flows or fair value being hedged; or
Updating the description of the hedging instrument.
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Recognition of Interest Income

The effective interest rate method

In accordance with IFRS 9, interest income is recognized using the effective interest rate method for
all financial instruments at amortized cost and financial instruments at fair value through the income
statement or through other comprehensive income, The effective interest rate is the rate that
discounts estimated future cash receipts over the expected life of the financial instrument, or, shorter
period, to the net carrying amount of the financial asset.

The EIR (and therefore, the amortized cost of the asset) is calculated by taking into account any
discount or premium on acquisition, fees and costs that are an integral part of the EIR, The Group
recognizes interest income using a rate of return that represents the best estimate of a constant rate
of return over the expected life of the loan. Hence, it recognizes the effect of potentially different
interest rates charged at various stages, and other characteristics of the product life cycle (inciuding
prepayments, penalty interest and charges).

If expectations regarding the cash flows on the financial asset are revised for reasons other than
credit risk. The adjustment is booked as a positive or negative adjustment to the carrying amount of
the asset in the consolidated statement of financial position with an increase or reduction in interest
inccme. The adjustment is subsequently amortized through interest and similar income in the
consolidated statement of income,

Interest and similar income and expense

For all financial instruments measured at amortized cost, financial instruments designated at FVQCI
and FVTPL, interest income or expense is recorded using the EIR. The calculation takes into account
all of the contractual terms of the financial instrument (for example, prepayment options) and includes
any fees or incremental costs that are directly attributable to the instrument and are an integral part of
the EIR, but not future credit losses.

When the recorded value of a financial asset or a group of similar financial assets has been reduced
by an impairment loss, interest income continues to be recognized using the rate of interest used to
discount the future cash flows for the purpose of measuring the impairment loss.

The Bank also holds investments in assets of countries with negative interest rates. The Bank
discloses interest paid on these assets as interest expense.



ARAB BANK GROUP
NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
31 DECEMBER 2021

Fee and commission income
Fee income can be divided into the following two categories:
A. Fee income earned from services that are provided over a certain period of time

Fees earned for the provision of services over a period of time are accrued over that period. These
fees include commission income and private wealth and asset management fees, custody and other
management fees.

B. Fee income forming an integral part of the corresponding financial instrument

Fees that the Bank considers to be an integral part of the corresponding financial instruments include:
loan origination fees, loan commitment fees for loans that are likely to be drawn down and cther credit
related fees.

Financial instruments — Initial Recognition

Date of recognitign

Financial assets and liabilities, with the exception of loans and advances to customers and bafances
due to customers, are initially recognized on the trade date, i.e., the date that the Group becomes a
party to the contractual provisions of the instrument. This includes regular way trades: purchases or
sales of financial assets that require delivery of assets within the time frame generally established by
regulation or convention in the market place. Loans and advances to customers are recognized when
funds are transferred to the customers’ accounts. The Group recognizes balances due to customers
when funds are transferred to the Group.

Initial measurement of financial instruments

The classification of financial instruments at initial recognition depends on their contractual terms and
the business model for managing the instruments. Financial instruments are initially measured at their
fair value, except in the case of financial assets and financial liabilities recorded at FVTPL,
transaction costs are added to, or subtracted from, this amount. Trade receivables are measured at
the transaction price. When the fair value of financial instruments at initial recognition differs from the
transaction price, the Group accounts for the Day 1 profit or loss, as described below.

Day 1 profit or loss

When the transaction price of the instrument differs from the fair value at crigination and the fair value
is based on a valuation technique using only inputs observable in market transactions, the Group
recognizes the difference between the transaction price and fair value in net trading income. In those
cases where fair vaiue is based on models for which some of the inputs are not observable, the
difference between the transaction price and the fair value is deferred and is only recognized in profit
or loss when the inputs become observable, or when the instrument is derecognized.
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Measurement categaries of financial assets and liabilities

The Group classifies its financial assets (Debt Instruments) based on the business model for
managing the assets and the asset’s contractual terms, measured at either:

+  Amottized cost
«  FVOCI
+  FVTPL

The Group classifies and measures its derivative and trading portfolio at FVTPL. The Group may
designate financial instruments at FVTPL, if so doing eliminates or significantly reduces measurement
or recognition inconsistencies.

Financial labilities, other than loan commitments and financial guarantees, are measured at
amortized cost or at FVTPL when they are held for trading and derivative instruments or the fair value
designation is applied.

Financial Assets and Liabilities

The Group only measures due from banks, loans and advances to customers and other financial
investments at amortized cost if both of the following conditions are met:

+ The financial asset is held within a business model with the objective to hold financial assets in
order to collect contractual cash flows.

= The contractual terms of the financial asset give rise on specified dates to cash flows that are
solely payments of principai and interest (SPPI} on the principal amount outstanding.

The details of these conditions are outlined below.

Business model assessment

The Group determines its business model at the level that best reflects how it manages groups of
financial assets to achieve its business objective.

The Group's business model is not assessed on an instrument-by-instrument basis, but at a higher
level of aggregated portfolios and is based on observable factors such as:

+  How the performance of the business model and the financial assets held within that business
model are evaiuated and reported to the entity's key management personnel
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+ The risks that affect the performance of the business model (and the financial assets held within
that business model) and, in particular, the way those risks are managed

+  How managers of the business are compensated (for example, whether the compensation is
based on the fair value of the assets managed or on the contractual cash flows collected)

+ The expected frequency, value and timing of sales are alsc important aspects of the Group’s
assessment.

The business model assessment is based on reasonably expected scenarios without taking '‘worst
case’ or 'stress case’ scenarios into account. I cash flows after initial recognition are realized in a way
that is different from the Group's original expectations, the Group does not change the classification of
the remaining financial assets held in that business model, but incorporates such information when
assessing newly originated or newly purchased financial assets going forward.

The SPPI test

As a second step of its classification process the Group assesses the contractual terms of financial to
identify whether they meet the SPPI test.

‘Principal’ for the purpose of this test is defined as the fair value of the financial asset at initial
recognition and may change over the life of the financial asset (for example, if there are repayments
of principal or amortization of the premium/discount).

The most significant elements of interest within a lending arrangement are typically the consideration
for the time value of money and credit risk. To make the SPPI assessment, the Group applies
judgement and considers relevant factors such as the currency in which the financial asset is
denominated, and the period for which the interest rate is set.

In contrast, contractual terms that introduce a more than de minimis exposure to risks or volatility in
the contractual cash flows that are unrelated to a basic lending arrangement do not give rise to
contractual cash flows that are solely payments of principal and interest on the amount outstanding. tn
such cases, the financial asset is required to be measured at FVTPL.

Derivatives recorded at fair value through profit or loss

A derivative is a financial instrument or other contract with all three of the following characteristics:

» Its value changes in response to the change in a specified interest rate, financial instrument price,
commodity price, foreign exchange rate, index of prices or rates, credit rating or credit index, or
other variable, provided that, in the case of a non-financial variable, it is not specific to a party to
the contract (i.e., the 'underlying').
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+ It requires no initial net investment or an initial net investment that is smaller than would be
required for other types of contracts expected to have a similar response to changes in market
factors.

+ ltis settled at a future date.

The Group enters into derivative transactions with various counterparties. These include interest rate
swaps, futures and cross-currency swaps. Derivatives are recorded at fair value and carried as assets
when their fair value is positive and as liabilities when their fair value is negative. Changes in the fair

value of derivatives are included in net trading income unless hedge accounting is applied.

Debt instruments at FVOCI

The Group measures of debt instruments at FVOCI when both of the following conditions are met:

+ The instrument is held within a business model, the objective of which is achieved by both
collecting contractual cash flows and selling financial assets
« The contractual terms of the financial asset meet the SPPI test

FVOCI debt instruments are subsequently measured at fair value with gains and losses arising due to
changes in fair value recognized in OCI. Interest income and foreign exchange gains and losses are
recognized in profit or loss in the same manner as for financial assets measured at amortized cost.
Where the Group holds more than one investment in the same security, they are deemed to be
disposed of on a first-in first—out basis. On derecognition, cumulative gains or losses previously
recognized in OC{ are reclassified from GCl to profit or loss.

Equity instruments at FVOCI

Upon initial recognition, the Group occasionally elects 1o classify irrevocably some of its equity
investments as equity instruments at FVOCI when they meet the definition of definition of Equity
under 1AS 32 Financial Instruments: Presentation and are not held for trading. Such classification is
determined an an instrument-by-instrument basis.

Gains and losses on these equity instruments are never recycled o profit. Dividends are recognized
in profit or loss as other operating income when the right of the payment has been established, except
when the Group benefits from such proceeds as a recovery of part of the cost of the instrument, in
which case, such gains are recorded in OCl. Equity instruments at FVOCI are not subject to an
impairment assessment.
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Financial assets and financial liabilities at fair value through profit or loss

Financial assets and financial liabilities at FVTPL are recorded in the consolidated statement of
financial position at fair value. Changes in fair value are recorded in profit and loss with the exception
of movements in fair value of liabilities designated at FVTPL due to changes in the Group’s own credit
risk. Such changes in fair value are recorded in the Own credit reserve through OCI and do not get
recycled to the profit or loss. Interest earned or incurred on instruments designated at FVTPL is
accrued in interest income or interest expense, respectively, using the EIR, taking into account any
discount/ premium and qualifying transaction costs being an integral part of instrument. Interest earnt
on assets mandatorily required to be measured at FVTPL is recorded using contractual interest rate.
Dividend income from equity instruments measured at FVTPL is recorded in profit or loss as other
operating income when the right to the payment has been established.

Financial Quarantees, letters of credit and undrawn loan commitments

The Group issues financial guarantees, letters of credit and loan commitments.

Financial guarantees are initially recognized in the consolidated financial statements (within other
liabilities) at fair value, being the premium received. Subsequent to initial recognition, the Group’s
liability under each guarantee is measured at the higher of the amount initially recognized less
cumulative amortization recognized in the consolidated statement of income and an ECL provision.

The premium received is recognized in the consoclidated statement of income net of fees and
commission income on a straight line basis over the life of the guarantee.

Undrawn loan commitments and letters of credits are commitments under which, over the duration of
the commitment, the Group is required to provide a foan with pre-specified terms to the customer.
Similar to financial guarantee contracts, these contracts are in the scope of the ECL requirements.

The nominal contractual value of financial guarantees, letters of credit and undrawn loan
commitments, where the loan agreed to be provided is on market terms, are not recorded on in the
consclidated statement of financial position.

The Group occasionally issues loan commitments at below market interest rates drawdown. Such

commitments are subsequently measured at the higher of the amount of the ECL and the amount
initially recognized less, when appropriate, the cumulative amount of income recognized.
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Derecognition of financial assets and liabilities

Derecognition due to substantial modification of terms and conditions

The Group derecognizes a financial asset, such as a loan to a customer, when the terms and
conditions have been renegotiated to the extent that, substantially, it becomes a new loan, with the
difference recognized as a derecognition gain or loss, to the extent that an impairment loss has not

already been recorded. The newly recognized loans are classified as Stage 1 for ECL measurement
purposes.

If the modification does not result in cash flows that are substantially different, the modification does
not result in derecognition. Based on the change in cash flows discounted at the original EIR, the
Group records a madification gain or loss, to the extent that an impairment loss has not already heen
recorded.

Derecognition other than for substantial modification

A. Financial assets

A financial asset (or, where applicable, a part of a financial asset or part of a group of similar financial
assets) is derecognized when the rights to receive cash flows from the financial asset have expired.
The Group also derecognizes the financial asset if it has both transferred the financial asset and the
transfer qualifies for derecognition.

The Group has transferred the financial asset if, and only if, either:

* The Group has transferred its contractual rights to receive cash flows from the financial asset

Or

+ |t retains the rights to the cash flows, but has assumed an obligation to pay the received cash
flows in full without material delay to a third party under a ‘pass~through’ arrangement

Pass-through arrangements are transactions whereby the Group retains the contractual rights to
receive the cash flows of a financial asset (the 'original asset’), but assumes a contractual obligation
to pay those cash flows to one or more entities (the 'eventual recipients’), when all of the following
three conditions are met:
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+ The Group has no obligation to pay amounts to the eventual recipients unless it has collected
equivalent amounts from the original asset, exciuding short-term advances with the right to full
recovery of the amount lent plus accrued interest at market rates

+ The Group cannot sell or pledge the original asset other than as security to the eventual recipients

« The Group has to remit any cash flows it collects on behalf of the eventual recipients without
material delay, In addition, the Group is not entitled to reinvest such cash flows, except for
investments in cash or cash equivalents including interest earned, during the period between the
collection date and the date of required remittance to the eventual recipients.

A transfer only qualifies for derecognition if either;
= The Group has transferred substantially all the risks and rewards of the asset

Or

« The Group has neither transferred nor retained substantially all the risks and rewards of the asset,
but has transferred control of the asset

The Group considers control to be transferred if and only if, the transferee has the practical ability to
sell the asset in its entirety to an unrelated third party and is able to exercise that ability unilaterally
and without imposing additional restrictions on the transfer.

When the Group has neither transferred nor retained substantially all the risks and rewards and has
retained control of the asset, the asset continues to be recognized only to the extent of the Group's
continuing involvement, in which case, the Group also recognizes an associated liability. The
transferred asset and the associated liability are measured on a basis that reflects the rights and
obligations that the Group has retained.

Continuing involvement that takes the form of a guarantee over the transferred asset is measured at
the lower of the original carrying amount of the asset and the maximum amount of consideration the
Group could be required to pay.

If continuing involvement takes the form of a written or purchased option (or both) on the transferred
asset, the continuing involvement is measured at the value the Group would be required to pay upon
repurchase. In the case of a written put option on an asset that is measured at fair value, the extent of
the entity's continuing involvement is limited to the lower of the fair value of the transferred asset and
the option exercise price.
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B. Financial fiabilities

A financial liability is derecognized when the obligation under the liability is discharged, cancelled or
expires. Where an existing financial liabiiity is replaced by another from the same lender on
substantially different terms, or the terms of an existing liability are substantially modified, such an
exchange or modification is treated as a derecognition of the original liability and the recognition of a
new liability. The difference between the carrying value of the original financial liability and the
consideration paid is recognized in profit or loss.

Impairment of financial assets
Overview of the ECL principfes

The Group records the allowance for expected credit loss for all loans and other debt financial assets
not held at FVTPL, together with loan commitments and financial guarantee contracts, in this section
all referred to as “inancial instruments'. Equity instruments are not subject to impairment under IFRS
9.

The ECL allowance is based on the credit losses expected to arise over the life of the asset (the
lifetime expected credit loss or LTECL), unless there has been no significant increase in credit risk
since origination, in which case, the allowance is based on the 12 months’ expected credit loss.

The 12ZmECL is the portion of LTECLs that represent the ECLs that resuit from default events on a
financia! instrument that are possible within the 12 months after the reporting date.

Both LTECLs and 12mECLs are calculated on either an individual basis or a collective basis,
depending on the nature of the underlying portfolio of financial instruments.

The Group has established a policy to perform an assessment, at the end of each reporting period, of
whether a financial instrument’'s credit risk has increased significantly since initial recognition, by
considering the change in the risk of default occurring over the remaining life of the financial
instrument.
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Based on the above process, the Group groups its financial assets into Stage 1, Stage 2 and Stage 3,
as described below:

Stage 1: When financial assets are first recognized, the Group recognizes an allowance based on
12mECLs. Stage 1 loans also include facilities where the credit risk has improved and
the loan has been reclassified from Stage 2.

Stage 2: When a financial asset has shown a significant increase in credit risk since origination,
the Group records an allowance for the LTECLs. Stage 2 loans also include facilities,
where the credit risk has improved and the loan has been reclassified from Stage 3.

Stage 3: Financial assets considered credit-impaired. The Group records an allowance for the
LTECLs.

For financial assets for which the Group has no reasonable expectations of recovering either the
entire outstanding amount, or a proportion thereof, the gross carrying amount of the financial asset is
reduced. This is considered a (partial) derecognition of the financial asset.

The Group's internal credit rating system:;

The main measure of Credit Risk is at the counterparty level where the exposure is measured in line
with the bank’s credit standards applicable by the bank and detailed in the policies and procedures.
Therefore, Arab Bank implemented an Internal Rating methodology to assess the customers
financially and non-financially. In parallel, Arab Bank is using Moody's Risk Analyst (MRA}, it is a
financial analysis and ratings platform that aggregates quantitative and qualitative information on
individual obligors to obtain an assessment that can be used to determine a credit rating for each
obligor and the related probability of default (PD). The MRA model went through validation,
optimization and calibration phases which lead to the development of a new model. It worthwhile to
mention that MRA is complementing AB internal Rating to better comply with regulatory requirements
i.e BASEL.

The MRA Rating System is centrally managed by Risk Management Department at Head Office
noting that the Corparate and Investment Banking and the Credit Department are the main users. The
Customers' Ratings are being reviewed on annual basis using the two rating methodology (AB
Internal Rating and MRA) during the annual review of the customers’ facilities.
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The calculation of ECLs

The Group calculates ECLs based on a three probability-weighted scenarios to measure the expected
cash shortfalls, discounted at an approximation to the EIR. A cash shortfall is the difference between
the cash flows that are due to an entity in accordance with the contract and the cash flows that the
entity expects to receive, During 2020 and due to the recent developments and the abnormal situation
resulted from COVID-19 pandemic, an additional downside scenario was used by the management
for calculating the ECL for the year ended 31 December 2020 and until 30 June 2021. During the third
quarter of the vear 2021 the management resolved to use three scenarios using probability weight for
each scenario based on the management best estimate for their likelihood. For certain countries,
management continued to use more than three scenarios based on their judgment and as a response
for developments of COVID - 19 pandemic in these countries. Below are the weights for each
scenario for the years 2021 and 2020.

Scenario Assigned weighied average Assigned weighted average
31 December 2021 31 December 2020
Baseline 45% 35%
ﬁpside 20% 15%
Downside 1 35% 20%
Cownside 2 ~ 30%

The mechanism of the ECL calculations are outlined below and the key elements are, as foliows:

PD The Praobability of Default is an estimate of the likelihood of default over a given time
horizon. A default may only happen at a certain time over the assessed period.

EAD The Exposure at Default is an estimate of the exposure at a future default date, taking
into account expected changes in the exposure after the reporting date, including
repayments of principal and interest, whether scheduled by contract or otherwise,
expected drawdowns on committed facilities, and accrued interest from missed
payments.

LGD The Loss Given Default is an estimate of the loss arising in the case where a default
occurs at a given time. It is based on the difference between the contractual cash flows
due and those that the lender would expect to receive, including from the realization of
any collateral. It is usually expressed as a percentage of the EAD.
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When estimating the ECLs, the Group considers four scenarios. Each of these is associated with
different PDs, EADs and LGDs. When relevant, the assessment of mulliple scenarios also
incorporates how defaulted loans are expected to be recovered, including the probability that the
loans will cure and the value of collateral or the ameount that might be received for selling the asset.

With the exception of credit cards and other revolving facilities, the maximum period for which the
credit losses are determined is the contractual life of a financial instrument unless the Group has the
legal right to call it earlier.

Impairment losses and releases are accounted for and disclosed separately from medification losses
or gains that are accounted for as an adjustment of the financial asset’s gross carrying value.

The mechanism of the ECL method are summarized below:

Stage 1:

Stage 2:

Stage 3:

Loan commitments
and ietter of credit

The 12mECL is calculated as the portion of LTECLSs that represent the ECLs
that result from default events on a financial instrument that are possible
within the 12 months after the reporting date. The Group calculates the
12mECL allowance based on the expectation of a default occurring in the 12
months following the reporting date. These expected 12-month default
probabilities are applied to a forecast EAD and multiplied by the expected
LGD and discounted by an approximation to the original EIR. This calculation
is made for each of the four scenarios, as explained above.

When a financial asset has shown a significant increase in credit risk since
origination, the Group records an allowance for the LTECLs. The mechanics
are similar to those explained above, including the use of multiple scenarios,
but PDs and LGDs are estimated over the lifetime of the instrument.

The expected cash shortfalls are discounted by an approximation to the
ariginal EIR.

For financial assets which are considered credit-impaired, the Group
recognizes the lifetime expected credit losses for these loans. The method is
similar to that faor Stage 2 assets, with the PD set at 100% and with higher
LGD than the first two stages.

When estimating LTECLs for undrawn loan commitments, the Group
estimates the expected portion of the loan commitment that will be drawn
down over its expected life. The ECL is then based on the present value of
the expected shortfalls in cash flows if the loan is drawn down, based on a
probability-weighting of the four scenarios. The expected cash shortfalls are
discounted at an approximation to the expected EIR on the loan.
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Financial guarantee
contracts The Group's liability under each guarantee is measured at the higher of the
amount initially recognized less cumulative amortization recognized in the
consolidated statement of income, and the ECL provision. For this purpose,
the Group estimates ECLs based on the present value of the expected
payments to reimburse the holder for a credit loss that it incurs. The shorifalls
are discounted by the risk-adjusted interest rate relevant to the exposure.

The calculation is made using a probability-weighting of the four scenarios.
The ECLs related to financial guarantee contracts are recognized within other

liabilities.

Debt instruments measured at fair vaiue through OCI

The ECLs for debt instruments measured at FVOCI do not reduce the carrying amount of these
financial assets in the consolidated statement of financial position, which remains at fair value.
Instead, an amount equal to the allowance that would arise if the assets were measured at amortized
cost is recognized in OCI as an accumulated impairment amount, with a corresponding charge to
profit or loss. The accumulated loss recognized in OCI is recycled to the profit and loss upon
derecognition of the assets.

Credit cards and other revolving facilities

The Group's product offering includes a variety of corporate and retail overdraft and credit cards
facilities, in which the Group has the right te cancel andfor reduce the facilities with one day’s notice.
The Group does not limit its exposure to credit losses to the contractual notice period, but, instead
calculates ECL over a period that reflects the Group's expectations of the customer behavior, its
likelihood of default and the Group’s future risk mitigation procedures, which could inciude reducing or
cancelling the facilities.

The ongoing assessment of whether a significant increase in credit risk has occurred for revolving
facilities is similar to other lending products. This is based an shifts in the customer's fnternal credit
grade.

The interest rate used to discount the ECLs for credit cards is based on the effective interest rate.

The calculation of ECLs, including the estimation of the expected period of exposure and discount
rate is made, on an individual basis for corporate and on a collective basis for retail products. The
collective assessments are made separately for portfolios of facilities with similar credit risk
characteristics.
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Forward looking information

In its ECL models, the Group relies on a broad range of forward looking information as economic
inputs, such as:

+  GDP growth
+ Unemployment rates
«  Central Bank base rates

The inputs and models used for calculating ECLs may not always capture all characteristics of the
market at lhe date of the consolidated financial statements. To reflect this, qualitative adjustments or
overlays are occasionally made as temporary adjustments when such differences are significantly
material.

Collateral valuation

To mitigate its credit risks on financial assets, the Group seeks to use collateral, where possible. The
collateral comes in varipus forms, such as cash, securities, letters of credit/guarantees, real estate,
receivables, inventories, other non-financial assets and credit enhancements such as netting
agreements. Collateral, unless repossessed, is not recorded on the Group’s consolidated statement
of financial position. However, the fair value of collateral affects the calculation of ECLs. It is generally
assessed, at a minimum, at inception and re-assessed periodically. However, some collateral, for
example, cash or securities relating to margining requirements, is valued daily.

To the extent possible, the Group uses active market data for valuing financial assets held as
collateral. Other financial assets which do not have readily determinable market values are valued
using models. Non-financial collateral, such as real estate, is valued based on data provided by third
parties such as mortgage brokers, or based on housing price indices.

Collateral repossessed

The Group’s policy is to determine whether a repossessed asset can be best used for its internal
operations or should be sold. Assets determined to be useful for the internal operations are
transferred to their relevant asset category at the lower of their repossessed value or the carrying
value of the original secured asset. Assets for which selling is determined to be a better option are
transferred to assets held for sale at their fair value (if financial assets) and fair value less cost to sell
for non-financial assets at the repossession date in, line with the Group's policy.
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In its normal course of business, the Group does not physically repossess properties or other assets
in its retail portfolio, but engages external agents to recover funds, generally at auction, to settle
outstanding debt. Any surplus funds are returned to the customers/obligors. As a result of this
practice, the residential properties under legal repossession processes are not recorded on the
balance sheet.

Write-offs

Financial assels are written off either partially or in their entirety only when the Group has stopped
pursuing the recovery. If the amount to be written off is greater than the accumulated loss allowance,
the difference is first treated as an addition to the allowance that is then applied against the gross
carrying amount. Any subsequent recoveries are credited to credit loss expense.

Modified loans

The Group sometimes makes concessions or modifications to the original terms of loans as a
response to the borrower’s financial difficulties, (rather than taking possession or to otherwise enforce
collection of coflateral.} The Group considers a loan forborne when such concessions or modifications
are provided as a result of the borrower's present or expected financial difficulties and the Group
would not have agreed to them if the borrower had been financially healthy. (Indicators of financial
difficulties include defaults on covenants, or significant concerns raised by the Credit Risk
Department). Forbearance may involve extending the payment arrangements and the agreement of
new loan conditions. {Once the terms have been renegotiated, any impairment is measured using the
criginal EIR as calculated before the modification of terms). It is the Group’s policy to monitor forborne
loans to help ensure that future payments continue to be likely to occur. Derecognition decisions and
classification between Stage 2 and Stage 3 are determined on a case-by-case basis. If these
procedures identify a loss in relation to a loan, it is disclosed and managed as an impaired Stage 3
forborne asset until it is collected or written off.

Leases

The Group assesses at contract inception whether a contract is, or contains, a lease. That is, if the
contract conveys the right to control the use of an identified asset for a period of time in exchange for
consideration.

The Group applies a single recognition and measurement approach for all leases, except for short-

term leases and leases of low-value assets. The Group recognizes lease liabilities to make lease
payments and right-of-use assets representing the right to use the underiying assets.
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Right-of-use assets

The Group recognizes right-of-use assets at the commencement date of the lease (i.e., the date the
underlying asset is available for use). Right-of-use assets are measured at cost, less any
accumulated depreciation and impairment losses, and adjusted for any remeasurement of lease
liabitities.

The cost of right-of-use assets includes the amount of tease obligations recognized, initial direct costs
incurred, and lease payments made at or before the commencement date less any lease incentives
received. Unless the Group is reasgnably certain to obtain ownership of the leased asset at the end of
the lease term, the recognized right-of-use assets are depreciated on a straight-line basis over the
shorter of its estimated useful life or the lease term. Right-of-use assets are subject to impairment.

Lease liabilities

At the commencement date of the lease, the Group recognizes lease liabilities measured at the
present value of lease payments to be made over the lease term. The lease payments include fixed
payments (including in-substance fixed payments) less any lease incentives receivable, variable lease
payments that depend on an index or a rate, and amounts expected to be paid under residual value
guarantees. The lease payments also include the exercise price of a purchase option reasonably
certain to be exercised by the Group and payments of penalties for terminating a lease, if the lease
term reflects the Group exercising the option to terminate.

The variable lease payments that do not depend on an index or a rate are recognized as expense in
the period on which the event or condition that triggers the payment occurs.

Short term and low value assets lease

The Group defines short-term leases that have a term of less than 12 months or that all lease
payments have low value.

For these contracts the Group makes recognizes the lease payments as an operating expense on a
straight line basis over the period of the lease, unless another regular basis is more representative of
the time pattern in which the economic benefits from the leased assets are utilized.

Foreign currency translation

Transactions and balances

Transactions in foreign currencies are initially recorded in the functional currency at the spot rate of
exchange ruling at the date of the transaction.
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Monetary assets and liabilities denominated in foreign currencies are retransiated into the functional
currency at the spot rate of exchange at the reporting date. All foreign exchange differences arising
on non—-trading activities are taken to other operating income/expense in the income statement.

Non-monetary items that are measured at historical cost in a foreign currency are translated using
the spot exchange rates as at the date of recognition.

Group companies

On consgclidation, the assets and liabilities in foreign operations are translated inte dollars at the spot
rate of exchange prevailing at the reporting date and their income statements are translated at
average exchange rates during the year. The exchange differences arising on translation for
consglidation are recognised in OCI.

Translation of financial statements of foreign entities / branches operating under hyperinflationary
economy

The results and financial position of an entity whose functional currency is the currency of a
hyperinflationary economy shall be translated into a different presentation currency using the following
procedures :
(a) all amounts (i.e., assets, liabilities, equity items, income and expenses, including
comparatives) shall be translated at the closing rate at the date of the most recent statement
of financial position, except that

{b) when amounts are translated into the currency of a non-hyperinflationary economy,
comparative amounts shall be those that were presented as current year amounts in the
relevant prior year financial statements (i.e.. not adjusted for subsequent changes in the price
level or subsequent changes in exchange rates).

Exchange differences arising on the transtation of results and financial position of each of the Group's
consolidated entities are included in Exchange differences on translation of foreign operations in other
comprehensive income and taken to a separate component of equity which is the Fareign currency
translation reserve.

Fixed assets

Fixed assets are stated at historical cost, net of accumulated depreciation and any accumulated
impairment in value. Such cost includes expenditures that are directly attributable to the acquisition of
the asset. When parts of an item of fixed assets have different useful lives, they are accounted for as
separate items of fixed assets.
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Depreciation is charged so as to allocate the cost of assets using the straight-line method, using the
usefut lives of the respective assets

Land and assets under construction are not depreciated.

Assets under construction is carried at cost, less any accumulated impairment losses and is
depreciated when the assets are ready for intended use using the same depreciation rate of the
related category with fixed assets.

Fixed asscts are derecognized when disposed of or when no future benefits are expected from their
use or disposal.

The gain or loss arising on the disposal of an item (the difference between the net realizable value
and the carrying amount of the asset) is recognized in the consolidated statement of income in the
year that the assets were disposed. '

Impairment of non-financial assets -

The Bank assesses at each reporting date whether there is an indication that an asset may be
impaired. If any such indication exists, or when annual impairment testing for an asset is required, the
Bank makes an estimate of the asset's recoverable amount. An asset's recoverable amount is the
higher of an asset's or cash-generating unit's fair value less costs to sell and its value in use and is
determined for an individual asset, unless the asset does not generate cash inflows that are largely
independent of those from other assets or groups of assets. Where the carrying amount of an asset
exceeds its recoverable amount, the asset is considered impaired and is written down to its
recoverable amount. In assessing value in use, the estimated future cash flows are discounted to their
present value using a pre-tax discount rate that reflects current market assessments of the time value
of money and the risks specific to the asset. In determining fair value less costs to sell, an appropriate
valuation model is used.

These calculations are corroborated by valuation multiples, quoted share prices for publicly traded
subsidiaries or other available fair value indicators.
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Intangible Assets
Goodwill

Goodwill is recorded at cost, and represents the excess amount paid to acquire or purchase the
investment in an assogciate or a subsidiary on the date of the transaction over the fair value of the net
assets of the associate or subsidiary at the acquisition date. Gooadwill resulting from the investment in
a subsidiary is recorded as a separate item as part of intangible assets, while goodwill resulting from
the investment in an associated company constitutes part of the investment in that company.

Goodwill is distributed over the cash generating units for the purpose of testing the impairment in its
value.

The value of goodwill is tested for impairment on the date of the consolidated financial statements.
Goodwill value is reduced when there is evidence that its value has declined or the recoverable value
of the cash generating units is less than book value. The decline in the values is recoded in the
consolidated statement of income as impairment loss.

Other Intangible Assets

Other intangible assets acquired through mergers are stated at fair value at the date of acquisition,
while other intangible assets (not acquired through mergers) are recorded at cost.

intangible assets are to be classified on the basis of either definite or indefinite usefuli iife. Intangible
assets with definite useful economic lives are amortized over their useful lives using the straight line
method, and recorded as an expense in the consolidated statement of income. Intangible assets with
indefinite lives are reviewed in statement income for impairment as of the consolidated financial
statements date, and impairment loss is recorded in the consolidated statement of income.

Intangible assets resulting from the banks operations are not capitalized. They are rather recorded in
the consolidated statement of income in the same period.

Any indications of impairment in the value of intangible assets as of the consolidated financial

statements date are reviewed. Furthermaore, the estimated useful lives of the impaired intangible
assets are reassessed, and any adjustment is made in the subsequent period.
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Repurchase and Resale Agreements

Assets sold with a simultaneous commitment to repurchase them at a future date continue to be
recognized in the consolidated financial statements as a result of the bank’s continuous control over
these assets and as the related risk and benefits are transferred to the Bank upon occurrence. They
also continue to be measured in accordance with the adopted accounting policies. Amounts received
against these contracts are recorded within liabilities under borrowed funds. The difference between
the sale price and the repurchase price is recognized as an interest expense amortized over the
contract period using the effective interest rate method.

Purchased assets with corresponding commitment to sell at a specific future date are not recognized
in the consolidated financial statements because the bank has no control over such assets and the
related risks and benefits are not transferred to the Bank upon occurrence. Payments related to these
contracts are recoded under deposits with banks and other financial institutions or loans and
advances in accordance with the nature of each case. The difference between the purchase price and
resale price is recoded as interest revenue amortized over the life of the contract using the effective
interest rate method.

Capital

Cost of issuing or purchasing the Group's shares are recorded in retained earnings net of any tax
effect related to these costs. If the issuing or purchase process has not been completed, these costs
are recorded as expenses in the consolidated statement of income.

Perpetual bonds

Perpetual Tier 1 Capital Securities of the Group are reccgnised under equity and the corresponding
distribution on those instruments are accounted as a debit to retained earnings. The Tier 1 securities
constitute direct, unconditional, subordinated and unsecured obligations of the Bank and are
classified as equity in accordance with IAS 32: Financial Instruments. The Tier 1 securities do not
have a fixed redemption or final maturity date and is redeemable by the Bank at its sole discretion on
the first call date or thereafter on any interest payment date.

investments in Associates

An associate is an entity over which the Group has significant influence. Significant influence is the
power to participate in the financial and operating policy decisions of the investee, but is not control or
joint control over those policies.

The considerations made in determining significant influence or joint control are similar to those
necessary to determine control over subsidiaries.
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The Group's investments in its associates are accounted for using the equity method.

Under the equity method, the investment in an associates initially recognised at cost, the carrying
amount of the investment is adjusted to recognise changes in the Group's share of net assets of the
associates since the acquisition date. Goodwill relating to the associates is included in the carrying
amount of the investment and is neither amortised nor individually tested for impairment.

The consolidated income statement reflects the Group’s share of the results of operations of the
associates. Any change in other comprehensive income of those investees is presented as part of the
Group’s other comprehensive income (QCI). In addition, when there has been a change recognised
directly in the equity of the associates, the Group recognises its share of any changes, when
applicable, in the statement of changes in equity. Unrealised gains and losses resulting from
transactions between the Group and the associates are eliminated to the extent of the interest in the
associates.

The aggregate of the Group's share of profit or loss of an associate is shown on the face of the
consolidated income statement within operating profit and represents profit or loss after tax and non-
controlling interests in the subsidiaries of the associate.

The financial statements of the associates are prepared for the same reporting periad as the Group.
When necessary, adjustments are made to bring the accounting policies in line with those of the
Group.

Income Taxes
Income tax expenses represent current and deferred taxes for the year.

Income tax expense is measured on the basis of taxable income. Taxable income differs from income
reported in the consolidated financial statements, as the latter includes non-taxable revenue, tax
expenses not deductible in the current year but deductible in subsequent years, accumulated losses
approved by tax authorities and items not accepted for tax purposes or subject to tax.

Taxes are calculated on the basis of the enacted tax rates according to the prevailing laws,
regulations and instructicns of countries where the Group operates.

Taxes expected to be incurred or recovered as a result of temporary timing differences between the
value of the assets and liabilities in the consolidated financial statements and their respective tax
bases. Deferred taxes are calculated on the basis of the liability method, and according to the rates
expected to be enacted when it is anticipated that the liability will be setiled or when tax assets are
recognized.

-26-



ARAB BANK GRoOUP
NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
31 DECEMBER 2021

Deferred tax assets are reviewed on the date of the consolidated financial statements, and reduced if
it is expected that no benefit will arise from the deferred tax, partially or totally.

Fair value
The Bank measures financial instruments at fair value at each financial statements date.

Fair value is the price that would be received to sell an asset or paid to transfer a liability in an orderly
transaction between market participants at the measurement date.

The fair value measurement is based on the presumption that the transaction to sell the asset or
transfer the liability takes place either, in the principal market for the asset or liability, or in the
absence of a principal market, in the most advantageous market for the asset or liability.

The fair value of an asset or a liability is measured using the assumptions that market participants
would use when pricing the asset or liability, assuming that market participants act in their economic
best interest.

A fair value measurement of a non-financial asset takes into account a market participant's ability to
generate economic benefits by using the asset in its highest and best use or by selling it to another
market participant that would use the asset in its highest and best use.

The Bank uses valuation techniques that are appropriate in the circumstances and for which sufficient
data are available to measure fair value, maximizing the use of relevant observable inputs and
minimizing the use of unobservable inputs.

All assets and liabilities for which fair value is measured or disclosed in the financial statements are
categorized within the fair value hierarchy, described as follows, based on the lowest level input that
is significant to the fair value measurement as a whole:

+ Level 1- Quoted (unadjusted) market prices in active markets for identical assets or liabilities.

+ Level 2- Valuation techniques for which the lowest level input that is significant to the fair value
measurement is directly or indirectly observable.

« Level 3- Valuation techniques for which the lowest level input that is significant to the fair value
measurement is unobservable.
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For assets and liabilities that are recognised in the financial statements on a recurring basis, the Bank
determines whether transfers have occurred between Levels in the hierarchy by re-assessing
categorization (based on the lowest level input that is significant to the fair value measurement as a
whole) at the end of each reporting period.

For the purpose of fair value disclosures, the Bank has determined classes of assets and liabilities on
the basis of the nature, characteristics and risks of the asset or liability and the level of the fair value
hierarchy as explained above.

Financial derivatives

Financial derivatives {e.g. currency forward contracts, forward rate agreements, swaps and option
contracts) are recognized at fair value in the consolidated statement of financial position.

Financial derivatives held for hedge purposes

Fair value hedge: Represents hedging for changes in the fair value of the Group's assets and
liabilities. When the conditions for an effective fair value hedge are met, gains or losses from changes
in the fair value of financial derivatives are recognized in the consolidated statement of income.
Changes in the fair value of the hedged assets or liabilities are also recognized in the consolidated
statement of income.

Cash flow hedge: Represents hedging for changes in the current and expected cash flows of the
Group's assets and liabilities that affects the consolidated statement of income. When the conditions
for an effective cash flow hedge are met, gains or losses from changes in the fair value of financial
derivatives are recognized in other comprehensive income and are reclassified to the statement of
income in the period in which the hedge transaction has an impact on the consolidated statement of
income.

When the conditions for an effective hedge are not met, gains or losses from changes in the fair value
of financial derivatives are recognized in the consolidated statement of income.

The ineffective portion is recognized in the consolidated statement of income.
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Hedge for net investment in foreign entities when the conditions of the hedge for net investment in
foreign entities are met, fair value is measured for the hedging instrument of the hedged net assets. In
case of an effective relationship, the effective portion of the loss or profit related to the hedging
instrument is recognized in the consolidated statement of comprehensive income and recorded in the
consolidated statement of income when the investment in foreign entities is sold. The ineffective
portion is recognized in the consaolidated statement of income.

When the conditions of the effective hedge do not apply, gain or loss resulting from the change in the
fair value of the hedging instrument is recorded in the consolidated statement of income.

Financial derivatives for trading
Financial derivatives held for trading are recognized at fair value in the consolidated statement of
financial position with changes in fair value recognized in the consolidated statement of income.

Foreclosed assets

Such assets are those that have been the subject of foreclosure by the Group, and are initially
recognized among "other assets” at the foreclosure value or fair value whichever is least.

At the date of the consolidated financial statements, foreclosed assets are revalued individually (fair
value less selling cost); any decline in fair value is recognized in the consolidated statement of
income. Any subsequent increase in value is recognized only to the extent that it does not exceed the
previously recognized impairment losses.

Provisions

Provisions are recognized when the Group has an obligation as of the date of the consolidated
financial statements as a result of past events, the obligation is likely to be settled, and a reliable
estimate can be made of the amount of the obligation.

Provision for employees’ end-of-service indemnities is estimated in accordance with the prevailing
rules and regulations in the countries in which the Group operates. The expense for the year is
recoghized in the consolidated statement of income. Indemnities paid to employees are reduced from
the provision.

Segments Information

Segment business represents a group of assets and operations shared to produce products or risk
attributable services different from which related to other segments.
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Geographic sector linked to present the products or the services in a specific economic environment
attributable for risk and other income different from which related to other sectors work in other
economic environment.

Assets under Management

These represent the accounts managed by the Group on behalf of its customers, but do not represent
part of the Group’'s assets. The fees and commissions en managing these accounts are taken to the
consolidated statement of income. Moreover, a provision is taken for the decline in the value of
capital-guaranteed portfolios managed on behalf of its customers.

Offsetting

Financial assets and financial liabilities are offset, and the net amount is presented in the consolidated
statement of financial position only when there is a legal right to offset the recognized amounts, and
the Group intends to either settle them on a net basis or to realize the assets and settle the liabilities
simultaneousty

Cash and cash equivalents
Cash and cash equivalents comprise cash and balances with central banks and balances with banks
and financial institutions maturing within three months, less restricted funds and balances owing to

banks and financial institutions maturing within three months.

5. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING JUDGEMENTS, ESTIMATES AND ASSUMPTIONS

The preparation of the Group's consolidated financial statements requires management to make
judgements, estimates and assumptions that affect the reported amounts of revenues, expenses,
assets and liabilities, and the accompanying disclosures, and the disciosure of contingent liabilities.
Uncertainty about these assumptions and estimaies could result in outcomes that require a material
adjustment to the carrying amount of assets or liabilities affected in future periods.

In the process of applying the Group’'s accounting policies, management has made various
judgements. Those which management has assessed to have the most significant effect on the
amounts recognised in the consolidated financiai statements have been discussed in the individual
notes of the related financial statement line items.
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The key assumptions concerning the future and other key sources of estimation uncertainty at the
reporting date, that have a significant risk of causing a material adjustment to the carrying amounts of
assets and liabilities within the next financial year, are also described in the individual notes of the
related financial statement line items below. The Group based its assumptions and estimates on
parameters available when the consolidated financial statements were prepared.

Existing circumstances and assumptions about future developments, however, may change due to
market changes or circumstances arising that are beyond the control of the Group. Such changes are
reflected in the assumptions when they occur.

Management believes that the assumptions adopted in the consoclidated financial statements are
reasonable. The details are as follows:

Impairment loss for foreclosed assets is booked after a recent valuation of the acquired
properties has been conducted by approved surveyors. The impairment loss is reviewed
periodically.

- The fiscal year is charged with its portion of income tax expenditures in accordance with the
regulations, laws, and accounting standards. Moreover, deferred tax assets and liabilities and
the income tax provision are recorded.

- The Management periodically reassesses the economic useful life of tangible and Intangible
assets for the purpose of calculating annual depreciation and amortization based on the general
condition of these assets and assessing their expected useful life in the future. The impairment
loss is recorded in the consolidated income statement.

- A provision is set for [awsuits raised against the Group. This provision is based to an adequate
legal study prepared by the Group’s legal advisor. Moreover, the study highlights potential risks
that the Group may encounter in the future. Such legal assessments are reviewed periodically.

Fair value hierarchy:

The level in the fair value hierarchy is determined and disclosed into which the fair value
measurements are categorized in their entirety, segregating fair value measurements in accordance
with the levels defined in IFRS. The difference between Level 2 and Level 3 fair value measurements
represents whether inputs are observable and whether the unobservable inputs are significant, which
may require judgment and a careful analysis of the inputs used to measure fair value, including
consideration of factors specific to the asset or liability.
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Provisions for impairment - ECL

In determining impairment of financial assets, judgement is required in the estimation of the amount
and timing of future cash flows as well as an assessment of whether the credit risk on the financial
asset has increased significantly since initial recognition and incorporation of forward-lcoking
information in the measurement of ECL.

Hyperinflationary economies

According to the criteria established by IAS 29, in order to assess whether an economy has a
hyperinflationary inflation rate, the country’'s economic environment is evaluated, analyzing whether
certain circumstances exist, such as:

s The country's population prefers to keep its wealth or savings in non-monetary assets
or in a relatively stable foreign currency;

* Prices may be quoted in another relatively stable foreign currency;

« Sales and purchases on credit take place at prices that compensate for the expected
loss of purchasing power during the credit period, even if the period is short;

* Interest rates, wages and prices are linked to a price index; and

« The cumulative inflation rate over three years is approaching or exceeds 100%.

The Group has assessed that the economy of Yemen is considered hyperinflationary considering the
above criteria and hence the requirements of IAS 29 have been applied accordingly.

Inputs, assumptions and techniques used for ECL calculation — IFRS 9 Methodology

Key concepts in IFRS 9 that have the most significant impact and require a high level of judgment, as
considered by the Group while determining the impact assessment, are:

In accordance with IFRS 9, a significant increase in credit risk can be assessed at the group / portfolio
level if the common risk characteristics are shared. Any instruments that are collectively assessed
must have commeon credit risk characteristics. The bank has followed the foliowing criteria for
determining the ECL calculation on a collective versus individual basis as follows:

Retail Portfolio: on Collective Basis based on the product level (Loans, Housing Loans, Car
Loans, and Credit Cards).

« Corperate Portfolia: individual basis at customer/ facility lavel.

¢ Financial Institutions: Individual Basis at Bank/ facility Level.

+ Debt instruments measured at amortized cost: Individual Level at instrument level.
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+ Assessment of Significant Increase in Credit Risk (SICR)

To assess whether the credit risk on a financial asset has increased significantly since origination, the
Group compares the risk of default occurring over the expected life of the financial asset at the
reporting date to the corresponding risk of default at origination, using key risk indicators that are used
in the Group’s existing risk management processes.

Our assessment of significant increases in credit risk will be performed periodically for each individual
exposure based on three factors. If any of the following factors indicates that a significant increase in
credit risk has vccurred, the instrument wilt be moved from Stage 1 to Stage 2:

1. We have established thresholds for significant increases in credit risk based on movement in the
customer’s internal credit grade and the related PDs relative to initial recognition.

2. Restructuring and/or Rescheduling on the customers’ accounts/ facilities during the assessment
period is considered as indicator for SICR.

Movements between Stage 2 and Stage 3 are based on whether financial assets are credit-impaired
as at the reporting date. The determination of credit-impairment under IFRS 9, is mentioned in the
“Definition of default” below.

* Macroeconomic Factors, Forward Looking Information (FLI) and Multiple Scenarios

The measurement of expected credit losses for each stage and the assessment of significant
increases in credit risk must consider information about past events and current conditions as well as
reasonable and suppartable forecasts of future events and econemic conditions. The estimation and
application of forward-looking information will require significant judgment in cooperation with
international expert in this area.

PD, Loss Given Default (LGD) and Exposure At Default (EAD) inputs used to estimate Stage 1 and
Stage 2 credit loss allowances are modelled based on the macroeconomic variables (or changes in
macroeconomic variables) that are most closely correlated with credit losses in the relevant portfolio.

Each macroeconomic scenario used in our expected credit loss calculation will have forecasts of the
relevant macroeconomic variables.

The estimation of expected credit losses in Stage 1 and Stage 2 will be a discounted probability-
weighted estimate that considers a minimum of four future macroeconomic scenarios.

The base case scenario will be based on macroeconomic forecasts (e.g.: GDP, inflation, interest

rate). Upside, downside1 and downside 2 scenarios will be set relative to our base case scenario
based on reasonably possible alternative macroeconomic conditions.
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Scenarios will be probability-weighted according to the best estimate of their relative likelihood based
on historical frequency and current frends and conditions. Probability weights will be updated on a
quarterly basis. All scenarios considered will be applied io all portfolios subject to expected credit
losses with the same probabilities.

* Definition of default

The definition of defauit used in the measurement of expected credit losses and the assessment to
determine movement between stages will be consistent with the definition of default used for internal
credit risk management purposes. IFRS 9 does not define default, but contains a rebuttable
presumption that default has cccurred when an exposure is greater than 90 days past due.

Notwithstanding the above, the classification of credit facilities is governed by the Central Bank of
Jordan regulations unless local regulations in other countries are stricter, or the Bank has to adopt the
same by law.

The Group has set out the definition of default where a default is considered to have occurred when
either or both of the two following events have taken place:

= The obligor is considered unlikely to pay its credit obligations in full
+ The obligor is past due for 90 days or more on any material credit obligation.

e Expected Life

When measuring ECL, the Group must consider the maximum contractua! period over which the Bank
is exposed to credit risk. All contractual terms should be considered when determining the expected
life, including prepayment options and extension and rollover options. For certain revolving credit
facilities that do not have a fixed maturity, the expected life is estimated based on the period over
which the Group is exposed to credit risk and where the credit losses would not be mitigated by
management actions.

Compliance of the IFRS9 implementation

To ensure proper compliance of the IFRS9 implementation, a steering committee was formed
consisting of the Chief Risk Officer, Chief Financial Officer, Chief Credit Officer, Head of IT and Head
of Project Management with the responsibilities to provide decisions/ feedback on the work plan
regarding implementation and adoption of IFRS 9 to ensure all relevant policies and procedures are
updated in line with the new requirements and systems are modified / updated for the new
requirements, in addition to present the ECL results to the CEQ and related Committees of the Board
of Directors.
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6. BUSINESS COMBINATIONS

Arab Bank Group owns 49% of OAB and the investment was accounted for as an associate in prior
years. Currently, Arab Bank has the power and the ability to appoint majority of OAB Board of Directors
(five out of nine) as a result of the amendments on OAB’s Article of Association. Accordingly, the
Group has obtained control over QAB and it was classified as a subsidiary.

Accordingly, the bank performed a valuation of OAB assets and liabilities which resulted in the recognition
of core deposits intangible with a total amount of USD 38.2 million.

Below are the fair values of the identifiable assets and liabilities of OAB as of the date of acquisition:

ASSETS uUsD '000
Cash and deposits with banks 763 005
Direct credit facilities at amortized cost 6 845 338
Financial assets at fair value through QCI 122 192
Other financial assets at amortized cost 501 751
Fixed assets 121 052
Other assets 211 815
Deferred tax assets 6 367
Intangible assets * 38 228
Total assets 8 609 768
LIABILITIES

Banks and financial institutions deposits 37 457
Customers’ deposits 7 156 649
Provision for income tax 11 706
Other liabilities 192 801
Subordinated debt 51948
Perpetual bonds 188 449
Total liabilities 7 639 011
Total identifiahle net assets at fair value 970757
Non - controlling interests (520 205)
Goodwill arising on acquisition * 49 253
Purchase Consideration ** 499 805

* This amount represents the total Goodwill arising on acquisition. The Group’s share is amounted to USD 24.1 million and
the Group's share of the intangible assets amounted to USD 18.7 million.
** This amount represents the value of the associate prior to the transaction.

Analysis of cash flows resulted from the control:

UsD '000
Net cash acquired from Oman Arab Bank excluding balances 689 119
mature after 3 months (included in cash flows from investing activities}
Cash paid -
Net cash flows on acquisition 689 119
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7. PROVISION FOR TMPAIRMENT - ECL

‘The below table shows the ECL charges on financial instruments for the year recorded in the consolidated statement of income:

2021
Notes Stage | Stage 2 Stage 3 Total
USD '000 USD 000 USD '000 USD 000
249 44 ’ 2
Balances with central banks 8 { ) 60 449 66 200
-Bal:.anc?s with banks and tinancial {150 - - ( 151)
institutions 9
Pcp_om.ls with banks and tinancial (1810) - - (1810
institutions 10
80 506 72
Direct credit facilities at amortized cost 13 (36080) 185065 307208 456193
446 - [ 1039 [ 593
Diebt instruments at FVTOCT 12 ¢ } ¢ )
Deht mstrumer_)ls inelyded in financial (5 649) { 680) - (6329)
assets at amottized cost 14
7728 374 4054 2
Indirect facilities 25 ( ! ¢ 2 6403 52383
(51221} 241 91 370 223 560 093
Total
2020
Notes Stage | Stage 2 Stage 3 Tatal
USD '000 LSD 000 USD 000 USD 006
54 133 538 ’ 13359
Balances with central banks b 3 2
!Balz?nc?s with banks and financial 429 : - 429
nstitutions 9
Dep.osi%s with banks and financial 1021 R - 1021
institutions 10
26824 152915 323 39% 503 137
Direct credit facilities at amortized cost 13 - -
e . A 402
Debt 1nstrume;1l:; included in financial 11 109 ( ) 800
assets at amortized cost 14
320 12928 6103 9
Indireet facilities 25 - o 19351
28759 300 472 329 099 658 330

Total
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8 - CASH AND BALANCES WITH CENTRAL BANKS
The details of this item are as follows:

Cash in vaults

Balances with central banks:
- Current accounts
- Time and notice
- Mandatory cash reserve
- Centificates of deposit
Less: Net ECL Charges

Total

- Except for the mandatory cash reserve, there are no restricted balances at Central Banks.

- Balances and centificates of deposit maturing after three months amounted 1o USD 25 million as of 31 December 2021 {USD 25 million as of 31 December 2020 ).

31 December

2021 2020

USD '000 USD 000
774 302 673453

4 868 254 40140615

5082 189 3749222

1 484 161 1613267

- 299421

{201 912) (142 351)

12 006 994 10 807 627

The Classification of gross balances with Central Banks according to the Group's internal credit rating is as follows:

Low risk / performing
Acceptable risk / performing
Total

-Probability of default at low risk 0.0% ~ 0.22%
-Probability of default at acceptable sk 0.22% - 289

The movement on total balances with ¢entral banks is as follows:

Balance at the beginning of the year
Acquisition of Oman Arab Bank ( Note 6 )
Amended balance at the beginning of the year
New balances { Additions)

Repaid balances

Transfers to stage 1

Transfers to stage 2

Transfers to stage 3

Translation Adjustments

Balance at the end of the year

The movement of ECL charges on balances with central banks is as follows:

Balance at the beginning of the year
New ECL charges during the year
Recoveries

Transfers to stage |

Transfers to stage 2

Transfers to stage 3

Translation Adjustments

Balance at the end of the year
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31 December
31 December 2021 2020
Stage | Stage 2 Stage 3 Total Total
USD '000 USD 000 LSD '060 USD '000 USD '000
10 715 769 - - 10 715 769 9711578
- 718 835 - 718 835 564 947
10 715 769 718 835 - 11 434 604 10276 525
31 December
31 December 2021 7020
Stage | Stage 2 Stage 3 Total Total
LSD '(Ho USD '000 LSD '000 LSD '000 USD 000
9711578 564 947 - 10 276 525 7 380 833
470 346 - - 470 346 -

10 181924 564 947 - 10 746 871 7380833
1653 198 153 888 - 1 807 086 3074063
(917455} - - (917 455) ( 261 483)
(201 898} - - (201 898) 83112

10 715 769 718 838 - 11 434 604 10 276 525

31 December 2021

31 December

2020
Stage 1 Stage 2 Stage 3 Total Total
LSD 000 LSD '000 LSD 000 L'SD "000 USD '¢0o
2797 139 554 - 142 351 & 8308
EEL 60 449 - 60 788 135 117
( 588) - - ( 588) (1525)
( 639 - - ( 839 ( 49)
1909 200 003 - 201 912 142 351




9- BALANCES WITH BANKS AND FINANCIAL INSTITUTIONS
The details of this item are as follows:

Local banks and financial institutions

31 December

2020

L'SD ‘000
4241
197 091

2021
LSD 009
Current accounts 3561
Time deposits maruring within 3 months 163 197
Total 166 758

201 332

Abroad Banks and financial institutions

31 December

2021 2020
USD ‘000 USp 060
Current aceounts 1251 946 1918 206
Tume deposits maturing within 3 months 2310345 2 484 520
Total 3592291 4402 726
Less; Net ECL Charges { 2 765) (2891
Total balances with Banks and Financial Institutions Local and Abroad 3756 284 4 601 165

There are no non interest bearing halances as of 31 December 2021 and 2020.
There are ne restricted balances as of 31 December 2021 and 2020.

‘The table below shows the credit quality and the maximum exposure to credit rish based on the bank’s internal eredit rating system and vear-end stage classification. The

amounts presented are gross of impairment allowances.

Low risk / performing
Acceptable risk ¢ performung
Total

-Probatulity of detault at jow rigk 0.0% - 0.22%

-Probability of default at acceptable risk 0.22% - 7.86%

31 December 2021

31 December

An Analysis of change in the fross carrying amount and the corresponding ECL allowance is as follows:

Balance at the beginning of the year
Acquisition of (dman Arsh Bank { Note 6 )
Amended balance at the beginning of the year
New balances (Additions)

Repaid balances

Transfers to stage |

Transfers to stage 2

Transfers to stage 3

Translation Adjustments

Balance at the end of the year

The movement of ECL charges on balances with banks and financial institutions is as follows:

Balance at the beginning of the year
Acquisition of Oman Arab Bank { Note & )

A ded bal at the beginning of the year
New ECL charges during che year
Recoveries

Transfers 1o stage |

Transfers to stage 2

Transfers 10 stage 3
Adjustments duning the year
Translation Adjustments
Baiance at thie end of the vear

2026
Stage 1 Stage 2 Stage 3 Total Total
USD 000 USD '000 UsD '000 LSD 000 USD '000
2841 637 - - 2841637 3693046
917 412 - - 917412 911 012
3759 049 - - 3 755 049 4 604 058
31 December
31 December 2021 2020
Staye 1 Stage 2 Stage 3 Total Total
USD 'gad LSD '606 USD "69g L'SD "906 /8D ‘040
4 604 058 - - 4 604 058 4 260 931
181127 - - 181 127 -
4 785 185 - - 4 785 185 4 260 931
724 798 - - 724 798 303 850
(1 685 881y - (1 685 881) ( 130 416)
_ {65053 - - {65853 109 693
3 759 049 - - 3759049 4 604 058
S8 m
31 December
31 December 2021 2020
Stage | Stage 2 Stage 3 Total Total
LUSD 000 LSD '000 L'SD "000 LSD '000 LS 000
2893 - - 23893 2338
106 - - 106 ;
299% - - 2999 2338
529 - - 529 1568
( 630y - - ( 680y (1139)
| - - 1 3
[ 84 - - { 84 129
2765 - - 2 765 2893




10 - DEPOSITS WITH BANKS AND FINANCIAL INSTITUTIONS

The details of this itern are as follows:

31 December

Local banks aad financjal institutions 2021 2020
LSD ‘000 LSD 000
Time deposits maturing alter 6 months and before 9 months 21 150 20 552
Time deposits maturing after $ months and before one vear 6161 33280
Time deposits maturing after one year 47610 21 150
Total 74921 74 982

31 December

Abroad banks and financial institutions 2021 2029
USD ' LSD '000
Tune deposils maluring after 3 months and before 6 months 148112 110419
Time deposits matunng after 6 months and before 9 months 33307 100 354
Tune deposits matunng after 9 months and before one year - 3153
Total 201419 215926
Less: Net EC'L Charges  Rdt) (2 743)
Total Deposits with banks and financial institutions Local and Ahroad 275 494 288 165

There are no restricted depasits as of 31 December 2021 and 2020,

The table below shows the credit quality and the maximum exposure {o credit risk based on the bank's internal credit rating system and year-end stage classification. The

amounts presented are gross of impairment allowances.

31 December 2021

31 December

2020
Stage | Stage 2 Stage 3 Total Total
LSD '000 LSD 000 USD ‘000 USD 000 USD ‘000
Low risk / performing 182 268 - - 182 168 137258
Acceptable nsk / performing 94 072 94 072 153 650
Total 276 340 - 276 340 290 208
-Probability of defaull at low risk 0.0% - 0.22%
-Probability of default at acceptable risk 0.22%. - 7.86%%
An Analysis of change in the gross carrying ameunt and the correspoading ECL allowance is as follows:
31 December
31 December 2021 2020
Stage 1 Stage 2 Stage 3 Total Total
LUSD 000 15D '090 LSD 000 LSD '000 USD '000
Balance at the beginning of the year 290 908 B - 290 908 315234
New balanges {Additions) 27413 - 27413 110422
Repaid balances (3228 - - (3228 { 143 615)
Transfers to stage | - ~ - -
Transfers to stage 2 - - - - -
Transfers to stage 3 - - - - -
Translation Adjustments (9 699) - - {969 8 867
Balance at the end of the year 276 340 ~ - 276 340 190 908
The movement of ECL charges on Deposiis with Banks and Financial Institutions is as follows:
31 December
31 December 2021 2020
Stage 1 Stage X Stage 3 Total Total
L'SD '000 USD '00¢ USD 000 USD "000 LSD '000
Balance at the beginning of the year 1743 - - 2743 1678
New ECL charges during the year 90 - 90 i801
Recoveries (19003 - { 1900} { 780)
Transfers to stage | - - - -
Translers to stage 2 - - - -
Transfers to stage 3 - - - -
Adjustments during the year [ - (n 3
Translation Adjustments { 86y - { 86) 41
Balance at the end of the year 846_ - - 846 2 743




11 - FINANCIAL ASSETS AT FAIR VALUE THROUGH PROFIT OR LOSS

The details of this item are as follows:

Treasury bills and Government bonds
Corporate bonds

Corporate shares

Mutual funds

Total

Treasury bills and Gosemment bonds
Corporate bonds

Corporate shares

Mutual funds

Total

Treasury bills and Government bonds
Corporate bonds

Corporate shares

Mutual funds

Total

31 December

2021 2020
USD '000 LSD 008
4727 79 694
35 390 204 136
12091 2532
2G 135 17 652
72343 304 054

31 December 2021

Carried

Designated as FV Mandatorily at FV Total
LUSD "000 LSD 000 USD '000
4727 - 4727
35 390 - 35 390
- 1209 12 691
- 20135 20 135
40 117 321226 72 343
31 December 2020
Designated as FV Man dﬁ?;:iile_:lat Y Total
USD ‘000 USD '000 USD '000
79 694 - 79 694
204 136 - 204 136
- 2532 2532
- 17 692 17 692
283 830 20 224 304 054
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12 - FINANCIAL ASSETS AT FAIR YALUE THROUGH OCI

The details of this item are as follows:

Quoted shares

Un-quoted shares

Governmental bonds and bonds guaranteed by the government
Corporate bonds through OCI

Less: Net ECL Charges

Total

31 December

2021 2020
USD 000 UsSD "0
163 766 122 363
211587 287 352
219330 -
93643 -
( 472y -
687 854 409 715

* Cash dividends from the investments in shares above amounted to USD 6.1 million for the year ended 31 December 2021 (USD 5.7

million as of 31 December 2020 ).

The movement of ECL. charges on Financial Assets at OCI is as follows:

Balance at the beginning of the year
Acquisition of Oman Arab Bank ( Note 6 )
Adjusted Balance at the beginning of the year
Net ECL Charges { reversals ) for the period / year

Balance at the end of the year

31 December 2021

USD "800 USD ‘608 USD '080 USD 000
Stage 1 Stage 2 Stage 3 Total
26 - 1039 1065
26 - t 039 1063
446 - (1039) { 593)
472 - - 472

The reversal of allowance tor bonds at fair value through OCI for the year 2021 amounted to USD 593 thousands does not change the carrying amount of these
investments, which are measured at fair value but gives rise 1o an equal and opposite loss in OCL

Quoted shares

Un-quoted shares

Govemnmental bonds and bonds guaranteed by the gos ermment
Corporate bonds through OCE

Less: Net ECL Charges

Total

Quoted shares
Un-guoted shares

Total

31 December 2021

Designated Carried
esng:ﬂ:;e s Mandatorily at Total
FV
USD '000 USD '600 USD ‘060
- 163 766 163 766
- 211 587 211 587
219330 - 219 330
93 643 - 93 643
( 472) - ( 472)
312 501 375353 687 854
31 December 2020
. Carried
Des'g':f:ed as Mandatorily at Total
Fv
USD '000 ESD '000 USD 600
- 122 363 122 363
- 287 352 287 352
- 409 715 409715
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The details of the movement on the provision for impairment - ECL for direct credit facilities at amortized cost as of 31 December 2621 was as follows:

Balance a1 the beginning of the year

Acquisition of Oman Arab Bank ( Note 6 )

Amended balance at the beginning of the year
ECL charges during the year

Recoreries

Transterred 1o Stage 1

Transferred to Stage 2

Transferred 10 Stage 3

Impact on year end ECL caused by transfers betw een stages
during the vear

Used from provision (writlen off or transferred to of f statement
of financial position)

Adjustments dunng the year
Translation Adjustments

Balance at the end of the year

31 December 2021

Corporates The total includes
Consamer Ba{uks alnd Gnvemmef}t N movement on the
Banking small and an?nc_nal aond Public Total reai-es'(.a.le loans
R Large lastitutions Sector provision as
Medium follows:
uspD o0 USD ‘000 LSD 000 LiSD 000 L'SD "¢00 USD 000 LSD '00D
260 547 oo 4 1390 380 5130 7643 1964 741 36921
36973 48 852 148 319 - 4626 238770 42 044
297 510 349293 [ 539 199 5130 12 269 2203511 78 965
52993 75124 410 690 1868 {26) 540 649 15380
(25 380) (22821) (99 685) { 1398) ( 380y ( 149 664) (5523
922 { 504) { 65631 - { 443 { 6 588) -
288 (26481 (11793) - 443 (40 543) -
(1210 29983 83356 - - 47 131 -
3671 18 646 42782 - 109 65108 (Y]
{ 13235) (3103) {25 743) - - (44123 {1520y
655 {(10622) (1326) 2 330 (10%41) 331
{398} {7136) {9881 {190 { 316y {21 508) { 58)
3222 397379 1 856 016 3511 12 006 1583 134 87371

The details of the movement of the provision for impairment - ECL for direct credit facilities at amortized coit as of 31 December 202D way as follons:

Balance at the beginning of the year
ECL charges during the year
Reconeries
Transferred to Stage |
Transferred to Stage 2
Transferred to Stage 3

linpact on year end ECL caused by transfers between stages
during the year

Used from provision (written off or transferred to off statement
of financial position}

Adjustments during the year
Translation Adjustments.

Balance at the end of the year

31 December 2020

Corporates The total includes
Consumer Banksand  Government movement on the
B nlufne Financial and Public Total reql - ¢staies loans
anking Small.and Large Institutions Sector presision as
Medium follows:
LSD 000 LSD "000 LUSD 000 CSn 000 UsD 000 Usn 'odo LSD 000
163 691 236333 1232189 5013 39356 1633 162 2070
67307 92667 345 868 1601 3666 511 109 14244
(132300 (16 683) {63 756) (108 { 725) (95447 {2290)
( 343) ( 436) (2 163) - ¢tz (3676) ( 36F
[ {1716) {34170 - 1z {35 786) 298
354 2172 36 336 - - 38862 (262}
20 763 3207 60 808 - 637 87475 4157
(3430) {13513) (151 362y - - {156 329) ( 36)
30 991 (18032 123729 - - { 20 770) 130
2477 2403 ggl (33 109 5541 16
260 547 300 441 1390 830 5230 7 643 1964 41 36921

- There are no provisions no longer required as a result of settlement or repayment, transferred to non-performing direct credit facilities as of 31 December 2021 and in 31 December 2020,

- lmpairment is assessed based on indinidual customer accounts,

* Non-performing direct credit facilities translerred to off consolidated statement of financial position amounted 1o USD 33.3mullon as of 31 December 2021, { USD 173.3 nullion as of
31 December 2020 ) noting that these non-performing direct credit facilnies are fully covered by set provisions and suspended interest.



The following tables outline the impact of multiple scenarios on the provision for impairment - ECL (Without Consumer banking):

31 December 2021

Corporates Iterns off
Due from (Ohher Financial Small and Banks and Government Statement of T
Large . . R X + . atal
Banks Assets . g Medium Financial and Public Financial
Corporates Corporates Institutions Sector Position
LUSD 000 US'600 LUSD 000 USD "000 LUSD 000 USD '000 USD 000 USD 000
Upside (20%) 124 863 24 9386 1 738 685 383 960 5248 9336 130970 2418 248
Base case {453%) 132 714 26928 1 787 751 390 006 5369 10 664 136 397 2489 829
Downside 1(35%) 345226 50635 2010831 414 526 5844 15143 165 538 3007 743
31 December 2020
Corporates ltems off
Due fom Other Financial Small and Banks and Government Statement of T
Large . i , . otal
Banks Assets & Medium Financial and Public Financial
Corporates Corporates Tnstitutions Sector Position
USD 000 USD 000 USD 000 LUSD '000 USD '000 USD "0t USD '000 USD 000
Upside (15%) 126477 34214 1188717 256772 4470 6532 78 585 1695 767
Base case (35%) 135 682 36 704 1275231 275 460 4795 7007 84 305 1819184
Downside 1 (20%) 156 634 42 372 1472 154 317997 5536 5090 97 323 2 100 106
Downside 2 (30%) 167 333 45 266 1572 703 339716 5914 § 642 103970 2243544

The following tables cutline the impact of multiple scenarios on the provision for impairment - ECL (Consumer banking):

31 December 2021 31 December 2020
Upside (20%) 299 782 Upside (30%) 249214
Base case (45%) 305383 Base case {40%) 257993
Downside 1 {35%) 328127 Downside (30%) 275 286

The above table shows both the contribution to the total ECL for each probability-weighted scenarie, in addition to the total additional impact on the ECL for
applying multiple economic scenarios compared to the ECL that would have resulted from applying a 100% weighting to the base case scenario.
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Direct Credir Facilities at Amortized Cost

The table below shows the credit quality and the maximum exposure to credit risk based on the bank’s internal credit rating system.

Low risk ¢ performing
Acceptable risk / performing
Non-performing:

- Substandard

- Doubtful

- Problematic

Total

The movement on total direct credit facilities at amortized cost - Total:

Balance at the beginning of the year

Acquisition of Oman Arab Bank ( Note 6 )

Amended balance at the beginning of the year

New balances {Additions)

Repaid balances

Transfers to stage |

Transfer; to stage 2

Transfers to stage 3

Written off balances or transferred to off statement of financial position
Translation Adjustments

Balance at the end of the year

31 December 2021

31 December

The movement of ECL charges on direct credit facilities at amortized cost by stage is as follows:

Ralance at the beginning of the year
Acquisition of Oman Arab Bank { Note 6 }
Amended balance at the beginning of the year
ECL charges duning the year
Recoverieg
Transfers to stage |
Transfers to stage 2
Transfers to stage 3
Impact on year end ECL caused by transfers between stages during the year
Written off balances or transferred to off statement of financial position
Adjustments during the year
Translation Adjustments

Balance ac the end of the year

2020
Sage 1 Stage 2 Stage 3 Total Total
LSD "000 USD '000 USD "000 USD'000 LS '000
6817272 - - 6817272 5518512
19 729 551 5 148 329 - 24 877 880 18 614 936
- - 148 380 148 380 240 839
- - 297 919 297 949 448 661
- - 2 408 982 2408 982 1668919
26 546 823 5148 329 2 855311 34 550 463 26 491 867
31 December 2021 3 D;;;‘(’)‘b“
Stage | Stage 2 Stage 3 Total Total
L'SD '00) LSD ‘000 LSD 000 L'SD 000 LSD 004
20784 373 3349075 2358419 26 491 867 26 134777
5198 858 1594511 318 335 7111704 -
25983 231 4 943 586 2676 754 33603 571 26 134 777
7 466 453 985 969 270 552 8722974 6589513
(5973 225) (1237964) (1249223 (7336 111) (6 300 493)
558 642 { 547 861) {10781} - R
{1195 593) | 236334 (40 73%) - -
(39901} {176 679} 216 580 - R
- ( 954} {73 865) (74 819) (190 347)
(252782) {54 102) { 58 268) (365 152) 238417
26546 823 5148329 2855311 34 550 463 26 491 867
31 December 2021 31 D;c];l(?ber
Stage | Stage 2 Stage 3 Total Total
LSD '000 LSD 000 USD '000 UsD '000 LSD '000
120 651 440 147 1403943 1964 741 1633162
25 386 76 070 137314 238 770 -
146 037 516217 1541 257 2203511 1633162
3561 189 335 347733 540 649 511 109
(39 641) {44 730) { 65203) {149 664) {95447)
5827 (5599 { 228} -
(12 148) 14824 (2676} -
[ 267) {49 768) 50035 -
- 40 440 24 768 65 208 &7 475
. { 954 (43 169} (44 123) (156 329)
464 (3641) {7 764} (10941) (20770
{2 000) (1 144) {18 362} (21 506) 5541
10¢ 833 655 000 1826 301 2583 134 1964 741

.47



The izble below shows the credit quality and the maximum exposure to credit risk based on the bank’s internal credit rating system.

1ow nsk / performing

Acceptable nsk / performing
Non-perfprming:

- Substandard

- Doabifid

- Problematic

Total

-Probability of default at low risk 2.0% - 3.5%

-Probabulity of default at acceptuble risk 3.5%0 - 57%
-Probability of default at High risk 100%s

31 December 2021

31 December 2020

The movement on total direct credit facilities at amortized cost - consumer banking is as follows;

Balauce at the beginning of the year
Acquisition of Oman Arab Bank { Note 6 )
Amended balapce at the beginning of the year
New balances (Additions)

Repaid balances

Transfers to stage 1

Transflers to stage 2

Transfers to stage 3

Written off balances ot ransferred to ofT statement of financial posiuon
Adjustments during the year

Translation Adjustments

Balance 2t the end of the year

The mavement of ECL charges on direct credit facilities at amortized cost - cansumer banking is as follows:

Balance at the beginning of the vear
Acquisition of Oman Arab Bank ( Note 6 )
Amended balance at the beginning of the year
ECI. charges during the vear
Recoveries
Transfers to stage 1
Transfers to stage 2
Transfers to stage 3
[mpact on year end ECL caused by transfers betw een stages during the year
Witten off balances or transferred to off statement of financial posinen
Adjustments during the year
Transiation Adjustments
Balance at the end of the year

Stage 1 Stage 2 Stage 3 Total Totak
USD 000 USD *000 USD ‘900 USD ‘000 USD "040
1 540 463 - - 1 540 463 1126771
7230230 168 083 - 73381318 4719734
- - 39 845 39 845 52036
- - 41 286 41286 36538
- - 331 861 331861 280 761
8 760 693 168 085 412992 9 341 770 6215840
31 Pecember 2021 31 December 2020
Stage | Stage 2 Stage 3 Total Totak
USD ‘009 USDH "000 LSD '009 USD ‘000 USD 000
5678 575 167 930 369 335 6218840 5844211
2638 591 38929 61128 2735 048 -
8317 566 206 859 430 463 8 954 888 5844211
1809 282 17 964 50670 1877916 1315985
(1284 978) (71T} ¢ 35757 (1 394 9271 (i 611 2503
79 46 { 69993) (9751 - -
{74247 107 316 {33069} - -
(21 409) {18 508) 39917 - -
- - (21971 (21971 (7612}
(65267) (1379 (7470) (74116) 74 506
8 760 693 158 085 411992 9341 770 6215 840
31 December 2021 31 December 2020
Stage 1 Stage 2 Stage 3 Tatal Total
LSD 000 USD ‘000 UsD ‘400 LSD '000 USD "000
27135 18216 215190 260 547 165 691
10 445 3818 22710 36973 -
37 580 22034 237906 297 520 165 691
5730 7283 39978 52993 67 307
{4278) 11964 (19138 (25 380) (13230)
12 L { 1607 - -
{139 273) (2572) - -
(193 13 13522 - -
- 437 3184 34671 0 763
- - {13253 {13255) (3452)
{160 97 725 455 20 991
1228 {42y (3712 (3982) 21477
39 850 28185 244 478 3122322 260 547

8-



Direct Credit Facilities at Amortized Cost - Small & Medium Enterprises

The table below shows fre credit quality and the maximum cxposure to credit risk based on the bank's internal credit rating system.

Low nsk  performing

Acceptable risk  performing

Non-performing:

- Substandard

- Doubtful

- Problematic

Taotal

-Probability of default at low risk 0.0% - 0.12 %,

-Probability of default at acceptable risk 0 12%0 - 24%¢
-Probability of default at High risk 10025

31 December 2021

31 December 2020

The movement on total direct credit facilities at amortized cost - Small & Medium Eaterprises is as follows:

Balance at the beginning of the year

Acquisition of Oman Arab Bank { Note 6 )

Amended balance at the beginning of the vear

New balances (Additions)

Repaid balances

Transfers to stage |

Transfers to stage 2

Transfers to stage 3

Written off balances or rransferred to off statement of financial position
Translauon Adjusiments

Balance at the end of the year

The movement of ECL charges on direct credit facilities at amortized cost - Small & Medium Enterprises is as follows:

Balance at the beginning of the yeqr

Acquisition of Oman Arab Bank { Note 6 )

Amended balance at the beginning of the year

ECL charges during the year

Recoveries

Transfers to stage 1

Transfers to stage 2

Transfers to stage 3

Impact en year end ECL caused by transfers between stages during the vear
Written off balances or transferred to off statement of financial position
Adjustments dunng the year

Translation Adjustments

Balance at the end of the year

Stage 1 Stage 2 Stape 3 Total Total
USD {00 LSD '040 USD ‘000 USD ‘000 LUSD '000
1 645 083 - 1 645 083 1227985
1335759 802 066 2137825 1 695 664
- - 28279 23274 14 938
R - 33071 55071 53161
- - 488 900 488 900 350 074
2 980 842 802 066 572 250 4 355 158 3341 842
31 December 2021 31 December 2020
Stape | Stage 2 Stage 3 Total Totzl
USD ‘000 LSD 000 LSD )00 LSD '009 usp 000
23313 590 518 418 193 3341 842 3 344 680
247 944 195 790 70939 514 673 -
2581075 786 308 489 131 3856518 3 344 680
1 046 427 136 330 39 362 1242 339 578 484
{ 504 401 {12092%) (40 068) { 665 3498) { 666 826)
64 306 (63910} { 596) - -
{ 148 139} 131 948 {3 789) - -
(17052) [ 69 700} 86 752 . .
- { 954) { T} { 8 765) {5178)
(41534 (17247 (10732) {69 533) 90 682
2 980 842 E02 066 572250 4 355 158 331842
31 December 2621 31 December 2020
Stage | Stage 2 Stage 3 Taral Total
LSD '000 USD 000 USD *000 USD "G00 LSD '000
14 900 61438 224 103 300 441 236 333
2748 12748 33336 48 852 -
17 648 74 186 157 459 349 293 236333
{ 943) 27379 48 690 TS124 92 667
(4809) {2911} (15101} (22821 {16682}
414 ( 414) - - -
{ 85T) 863 { 6) - -
{6l {25930} 26991 - -
- 4541 14 103 18 646 51267
- { 954 {4 131) (510%) {1515)
{1770} (6513) (2339 (10622) (18 032)
(170} (2662} (4304} (7 136) 2403
9 450 63 583 324 3dd 397379 300 441

4%



Direct Credit Facilities at Amnrtized Cost - Large Corporates

The table below shows the credit quality and the maximum exposure 1o eredit risk based on the bank's internal credif rating system.

31 December 2021

31 December

2020
Stage | Siage 2 Sigge 3 Total Toral
LSD 000 USD 1000 USD 000 USDb 000 USDh 000
Low risk / pertonmng 2381 758 - - 211381758 12461233
Accepiable risk / performing 9690 303 4038577 - 13 728 880 11562 042
Non-performing:
- Substandard - - 80 009 &0 009 173 845
- Doubtful - - 301 592 201 592 358 462
- Problematic - - L 583 741 1583741 1033 35¢
Total 12 072 061 4038577 1 863 342 17 975 980 15 374 441
-Probability of default at low risk 0.0%, - 0.12 %
-Probability of default at acceptable risk 0.12% - 249,
-Probabifity of default at High risk [00%
‘The movement on fotal direct credis facilities at amortized ¢ost - Large Corporares is as follows:
31 December
31 December 2621 2020
Stage 1 Stage 2 Stage 3 Total Tutal
USD ‘000 USD 000 USD 000 USD '004 USD 090
Bulance at the beginning of the y car 11370 155 2438120 1366 166 15374 441 15633572
Acquisition of Oman Arab Bank { Note § ) [ 442 Gid | 349433 86 268 2977 TIS -
Amended balance at the beginning of the year 12 812 169 3787553 1 752 434 18 352 156 15633572
New halances pAddihons) 3339437 &30 581 160273 4 350 291 3890417
Repaid balances (3402 667) (1030264 {49 0001 (4481931 {4 046 167}
Transfers to stage 1 325370 (324 836) { 43h - -
‘Transfers to stape 2 (B892 807 896 688 (388N - -
Translers to slage 3 (1440 {88471 89911 - -
Written off balances or transferred to off statement of financial position - - ( 44 083) {44 083) (177 557)
Translation Adjustments 1276010y {32674 { 39 87%) { 200 453) 74 176
Balance ot the end of the yesr 12 472 061 4 038 577 1865 342 17 975 980 15374 441
The movement of ECL charges on direct credit facilities at amortized cast - Large Corporates is as follons:
31 December
31 December 2021 2020
Stage 1 Stape 2 Stage 3 Total Torat
LUSD 000 USD 000 USD 000 USD 000 LSD '000
Balance at the beginning of the y ¢ar T1 487 358429 959 973 1390 880 1222 169
Acquisition of Oman Arab Bank { Note 6 } 7372 59499 81248 148 359 -
Amended balance ag the beginning of the year 80 059 417919 1041221 1539199 1222 169
ECL charges during the ycar (1680 133 441 238929 410 690 345868
Recon eries (28959 (39677) (31 054) (99 685) { 63756)
Tramsfers o stage | 418 (4030) { 681 - -
Transfers to stage 2 (10 663y 10 76 [ 98) -
Transfers to stage 3 (13} { 18 509) 18 322 - -
Impact on vear end ECL caused by transfers betw een stages during the year - 35303 7479 42782 60 808
Written off balances or transferred to ofT staternent of financial position - - [25763) (25 763) (151 362)
Adjustments during the year 2059 2767 {6152) {1326) {23729)
[ranslation Adjustments {1379 1 633 (10 1591 {9 831) 382
Bulance at the end of the year 43 541 559 618 t 252 857 1856816 i 354 880




Direct Credit Facilities at Amortized Cost - Banks & Financial Institutions

The table below shows the credit quality and the maximum exposure to credit risk based on the bank’s internal credit rating system.

Low risk * performing
Acceptable nsk - performing
Non-performing:

- Substandard

- Doubtful

- Protlematic

Total

-Probability of default at fow risk 0.0% - 0.12 %
-Probability of defaulr at acceptable risk 0.12%s - 2%
-Probabulity of default at High risk 100°%%

31 December 2021

31 December 2020

Stape | Stage 2 Stage 3 Total Total
LSD '00d ESD 000 USD '000 USD '000 LS '000
137 290 - - 137 2%¢ 70 097
209 342 27030 - 236 972 121 790
- - 3986 3986 4171
346 632 27 630 3986 378 248 196 058

The movement 4n total direct credit facilities at amortized cost - Banks & Financial [nstitutions is as follows:

Balance at the heginning of the year
New balances { Additions)

Repaid balances

Transfers to stage |

Transfers to stage 2

Transfers to stage 3

Translation Adjustments

Balance at the end of the year

31 Decemiber 2021

31 December 2020

Stage 1 Stage 2 Stape 3 Total Total
USD '000 USD ‘000 USD '000 USD ‘00 1'SD ‘004
191 887 - 4171 196 058 256 627
472 506 - - 422 906 182 899
(238 0u9) - - {238 099 (244 468)
(27 630) 27630 - - -
(2432 - { 185} {2617) 1 004
346 632 27630 3986 373 248 196 058

The movement of ECL charges on direct eredit factlities at amortized cost - Banks & Financial Institutions is as follows:

Balance at the beginning of the year
ECI. charges duning the year
Recoveries

Transfers to stage |

Transfers Lo slage 2

Transfers to slage 3

Adjustments during the year
Transtation Adjustments

Balance at the end of the year

-51-

31 December 2021

31 December 2020

Stage | Stage 2 Stage 3 Total Total
USD 00 USD '000 USD "000 L'SD ‘000 USD '"000

Lo - 4120 5230 5013
826 1042 - 1868 1601
{1215) (183 - ( 1398) {1054)

1 6) 8 - 2 -
%) - { 183) [ 191) ( 330}
707 867 3937 5511 5230




The table below shows the ¢redit quality and the maximum exposure to credit risk based oo the bank’s internal credit rating system.

31 December 2021 31 December

2020
Stage 1 Stage 2 Stage 3 Total Total
USD ‘000 LUSD "000 LD '000 LSS0 '000 USD 000
Low risk / performing V112678 - - 1112678 847 426
Acceptable nisk / perfonining 1273917 1197 - 1385 888 515 706
Non-performing:
- Substandarg - - 247 247 -
- Doubriul - - - - -
- Probiematic - - 494 494 554
Total I 386 595 1971 141 1499 307 1363 686

-Probability of delault at low risk 0.0% - 0,12 %
-Probability of default at acceptable nisk 0.12% - 242,
-Probability of defaulr at High risk 100%,

The movement on total direct credit facilities at amortized cast - Government & Public Sector is as follows:

31 December 2021 31 December

2020
Stage 1 Stage 2 Stage 3 Total Total
LSD '000 LSD '000 USD 000 LSD '000 USD ‘o)
Balunce at the beginning of the year 1210625 152 507 554 1363 686 1055 687
Acquisition of Oman Arab Bank { Note 6 ) 865 909 10 359 - 880 263 -
Amended balance at the end of year 2080534 162 866 554 2243954 1055 687
New balances {Additions) 828 101 874 27 829522 621 728
Repaid balances { 543 080 {12 599} (5N ( 555 736) (331 182)
Transfers to stage | 8% 120 (89 120) - -
Transters to stage * {82750 32752 - - -
Transfers 10 stage 3 - - - - -
Transiation Adjustments { 13628) { 2802) {(n (18 433) 18 053
Balance at the end of the year 2386595 111971 a4 2499 307 1 363 686

The movement of ECL charges an direct credit Facilities at amortized cost - Government & Public Sector is as fallaws:

3} December 2021 3 December

2020
Stage 1 Stage 2 Stage 3 Total Total
__USD'000__ _ USD'000  _ CSD'O00__ __ USD 000 TSD 000
Balance at the beginning of the year 5019 2073 551 7643 3956
Acquisition of Oman Arab Bank { Note 6 } 4621 5 - 4626 -
Amended halance at the end of year 9640 2078 551 12269 3956
ECL charges during the year { 370 20% 136 { 26) 3666
Recavenies {38 - - { 3803 { 725}
Transfers 1o stage | 2 {21 - - -
Transfers to stage 2 {464} 464 - - -
Transfers to stage 3 - - - - -
Impact on year end ECL caused by transfers between stages during the year - 109 - 109 637
Adjustments during the year 48 2 350 -
Translation Adyustments { 219) {93) (4 { 318) 109
Balance af the end of the year 8576 2745 685 12 406 T 643

.52



i4 - OTHER FINANCIAL ASSETS AT AMORTIZEDR COST
The details of this item are as follows:

31 December

2021 2020
USD '000 USD '000
Treasury bills 2229 828 1 965 105
Government bonds and bonds guaranteed by the government 6 954 163 5583 556
Corporate bonds 1411 547 1254161
Less: Net ECL Charges (34 365) (40 033)
Total 10 561 173 8 762 789

Analysis of bonds based on interest nature:

31 December

2021 2020
USD "000 USD 000
Floating interest rate 742911 491 348
Fixed interest rate 9 852627 8311474
Less: Net ECL Charges ( 34 365) {40 033)
Total 10 561 173 8 762 789

Analysis of financial assets based on market quotation:
31 December

Financial assets quoted in the market: 2021 2020
USD '000 USD 000
Treasury bills 1099121 216 465
Government bonds and bonds guaranteed by the government 2298270 1131 354
Corporate bonds 1 286 285 1 149 860
Total 4 683 676 2 497 679

31 December

Financial assets unquoted in the market: 2021 2020
USD '000 USD '000
Treasury bills 1 130 707 1 748 640
Government bonds and bonds guaranteed by the government 4 655 893 4452202
Corporate bonds 125262 104 301
Total 5911 862 6 305 143
Less: Net ECL Charges (34 365) (40 033)
Grand Total 10 561 173 8 762 789

53



Other Financial Assets at Amortized Cost

The table below shows the credit quality and the maximum exposure to credit risk based on the bank’s internal credit rating system
and year-end stage classification. The amounts presented are gross of impairment allowances.

Internal rating grade perfonmning
Low risk / performiny
Acceptabie risk / performing
Total

-Probability of detault at low risk 0.0% -0.9 %

-Probability of default at acceptable risk 0.9% - 40.2%

-Probability of default a1 High risk 100%

An analysis of change in the gross earrying amount and the corr

Balance at the beginning of the year
Acquisition of Oman Arab Bank ( Note 0)
Amended balance at the beginning of the year
New investments {Additions}

Magured mvestments

Transfers to stage |

Transfers to stage 2

Transfers to stage 3

[nvestments written off

Adjustments during the vear

Translation Adjustments

Balance at the end of the year

31 December 2021

31 December

2020
Stage | Stage 2 Stage 3 Total Total
LUSD 000 LSD 000 LSD '000 LSD 000 LSD ‘000
10 500 203 - - 10 500 203 8430 731
16 373 8¢ 562 - 95 335 372651
10 510 576 84 962 - 10 595 538 8 802 822
ECL all ¢ is as follows:

31 December 2021

31 December

2020
Stage 1 Srage 2 Stage 3 Total Total
USD '000 LSB '000 LSD 000 USD 040 LSD ‘000
8 669 791 133031 - B 802 822 8935335
493 672 - - 493 672 -
9163 463 133 031 - 9296 494 8935335
X 797 578 - ~ ETYT 578 7220 351
(6 739 490y (53337 - (6792 827 {7 438 208)
(5639 5639 . - -
- - - - (4776)
{2) - - {2 -
(705 334) (371} - (705 105} 90 120
16510 576 84 962 - 18 595 538 8 802 822

The movement of ECL charges on other financial assets at amortized cost is as follows:

Balance at the beginning of the year
Acquisition of Gian Arab Bank ( Note 6 )
Amended balance at the beginning of the year
ECL charges dunmy the year

Recoveries from matured investments

Transfers to stage |

Transfers to stage 2

Transfers to stage 3

Investments writien off

Adjustments during the year

Translation Adjustments

Balance at the end of the year

31 December 2021

31 December

2020
Stage 1 Stage 2 Stage 3 Total Tota)
USD ‘000 LSD ‘000 LSD "000 LSD 000 USD "0
19 200 20833 - 40 033 40 717
L7 - - [§23 -
19374 20833 - 40 207 40 717
1452 { 630) - 772 13395
(700} - - (710D (12595
. - - - (43714)
1 085 { 148) - 937 2407
(422 { 28) - { 450) 483
14 388 19 977 - 34 365 40 033

During the year ended 31 December 2021 certan financial assets at amortized cost amounted to USD 62 million were 50id (LUSD 81.1 tmillion during the vear ended 31

December 20203,



15 - STMENT IN ASSOCIATES

The detals of this stem are as (ollows:

31 December 2021

Arab Nanonal Bank

Arabua hrarange Company

Commercial buldmgs
Ubhar Capital SAOC {An Assectate Company ut Arab Bank Switrerland)

Orther Assoctines {Mostly owned by Araby Tatusian Bank p*

Total

31 December 2020

Oman Arab Bank 5.4.0.
Arah Mool Bank
Arabia Insurance Company

Commwreial buildmps

Ubhar Capital $AOC 1An Asvactale Company ol Arab Bank Swite arlanly

Cnher Assoctates (Mostly ownad by Arab Tumisian Bank)*
Total

The details of mpvement pn ins estovents in associates are as follows:

Balance ar the begmmng of the year

Purchase of mvisamints m associaies

Acquisiuon of Oman Arab Bunk { Noww 6 )

Group's share of profits for the year

Drvujends rigadvist

Translation Adjustnent

Giroup's share of odhwr chanpes m aquity
Balance at the end of the year

Group's share of baxes

Ow nership and Lo estment Place of . P|l1hl|sh.ed M o
Voting Rights Carrying value Incorporation Fair Value Financial Principal Act Date of Acquisition
o = -arring it Statements Date
o LSD '
AL 33441467 Sauli Arabia 3 AST RO Rl Banking 1979
4251 IW 2L Lebanon Llognatext palkith [nsuratiee iy72
Real Estate
51 11371 Liha L el 2
3329 3 chanon uot Hi2n Operaimg Lease 1966
Investinent and
3 955y o) U tod 2 2Hé
300 man gt 21 Fuaneral Services
Vanous 14221 Vanous Vi
11412 89%
Publishedd
i f
e e o Fair Value Financial  Principal Actinity Date of dcquisition
%R ing w Statements Date
% USD iy
449.(M) 499 {15 Onan 4700 AES )Ny Bankmg 19%4
40.00 3231147 Sauch Arabig N LITH0) I Banking 1979
42.51 I8 455 Lebhanon T'nuotead 2019 Insurance 1972
15,39 9631 Lebunon Cnyunrted 19 Real Estal 1966
Onpurating Lease
3400 9678 Oman Uil 2024 Ivetuent ad w16
Financial Services
Vanmus 15 4% Vanows Yanous
3804212
2021 020
USD '00d TSD *n00
a4 212 ERIEL N
90 139532
{ 4% K0S} -
2THR1g 296 165
{194 108 i 141244
3614 1270
2207 §324
3417899 380agiz
70 356 69 862

* s account represents nostly the mvestments e Arab Tunivian Lese Company, Arabia Sical and Arab Twnsian Tvest Conmpany anowtting 16 USD 10 mallion, GSD 1.9 milhon and USD (L6XE tmllion respectively, as of 31
Decernber 2021 (As of 31 Degember 2020 these mvestments anwuntal to USD LS nullion, USD 2 million andd USD 1 nutlion respectively )

The Group's share from ehe profit and loss of the assaciates are as follaws:

Oman Arah Bunk 5.A.0.
Arab Natnal Bank
Araha bsurance Company
Olher

Total

The Group's skarc of asseciates are as follows:

Toal Assers
Total Liabilities

Total Revenue
Total Expefines
Net Profit

31 December
2021 2020
USD 000 L'SD '"do0
- 447
250 186 281 982
(4 605) 152
1n7 #51
276818 96 365
2021 2020
’\""Bl:::""" Others Total “"“b::‘;"""' Oman Arab Bank Ofhers Tatal
S0 000 USD 000 USD ik USD 000 USD "t USD a0 TSD 000
20 553 685 294 855 20 848 540 19 664 106 4224825 264 464 24 153 195
17434 996 221 768 17656 754 16432959 3724 %20 191 204 20 348 983
625 148 16 428 641 776 624315 120407 18554 73 276
45 162 19 796 164953 140333 130 4610 16 118 176911
280 186 (3368 176818 293 982 5947 1436 296 365
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16 - FIXED ASSETS

The details of this item are as follows:

Historica) Cost:

Balance as of | January 2020

Addinons

Drsposals

Adjustments during the year

Translation Adjustments

Balance as of 31 December 2020

Acquisition of Oman Arab Bank { Note 6 )

Additions

Dhsposals

Adjustments during the year

Translation Adjustments

Balanec at 31 December 2021

Accumulated Depreciation :

Balance as of 1 January 2020

Depreciation charge for the year

Disposals

Adjustments during the year

Translahon adjustments

Balance as of 31 December 2020

Acguisition of Oman Arab Bank { Note 6 )

Depreciation charge for the year

Trisposals

Adjustmenis during the year

Translation adjusmments

Balance at 31 December 2021

Net Book Value as of 31 December 2021

Net Book Value as of 31 December 2020

Furniture, (:nmpulc.rs and Motor
Land Buildings Fixlulres and (ommtmncau'nn Y ebicles Other Total
Equipment Equiproent
L'SD 00D [ISD 0D USD 000 15D ‘o0 153D ‘000 LS '00D USD ‘080
67 955 438 400 215621 174 737 15312 90 573 L 002 598
29 599 24058 360721 23 166 975 6083 121 502
99 {75004 (1 58%) { 823) { 760y (2877) (81311
- - 10 [ kb - -
(1080 27294 503 2078 168 1896 5855
96 371 390 58% 251267 199 138 15695 95 575 1048644
17722 49 348 35423 54661 824 39 395 197 379
D64 6260 10197 29023 1922 20 480 77846
(328 (37810 {28301 {2328} {272 {12 708) (56 336)
4 555 {4760 3937 42 897 - {36209 10420
(101 (9410 (3400 {6051y { 583y {2605) (23077}
Haz67 304 195 294 544 317 350 17 581 112928 1254876
155775 176 182 134 540 10 782 64 202 41481
- 10051 11 635 19 441 1 537 6242 48 906
- ()] (1647) ( 836) {640 {2630 (5759)
- L 520 42 1858 121 1457 5498
- 167 343 186 712 155 003 11797 69271 590 126
- 11 987 28 164 41 958 743 15992 98 844
- 11879 V7254 30720 1472 TIRE 69 151
- {6705y {239 (12176} L 272) ( 10 368y {21913
- { 214} 14 ' (6 52 ( 26)
(3226} (2681) (4979) {414 {19l (13261)
- 181 064 227238 220 527 13320 80772 722921
118267 213131 67306 96 813 4271 321587 531955
96 371 223245 64555 41 145 3898 26 34 458 518

* The cost of fully depreciated fixed assets amousnted to USD 424 8 milhon as of 31 December 2021 {USD 335.2 million as of 31 December 2020 )
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17 - OTHER ASSETS

The details of this item are as follows:

Acctued interest receivable
Prepaid expenses
Foreclosed assets *
[ntangible assets **
Right of use assets ***
Other miscellaneous assets

Total

31 December

2021 2020
USD'060  USD 000
351575 192113
56352 71 568
163 793 152 401
35106 34202
96 732 86 315
272691 226 468
976 269 763 137

* The Central Bank of Jordan instructions require a disposal of these assets during a maximum period of two years

from the date of forcclosure,

* The details of movement on foreclosed assets are as follows:

Balance at the beginning of the year
Additions

Disposals

Provision for impairment and impairment losses
Translation adjustments

Balance at the end of the year

Balance at the beginning of the year
Additions
Disposals
Provision for impairment and impairment losses
Translation adjustments

Balance at the End of the Year

31 December 2021

Land Buildings Other Total
USD '000 LSD 000 UsD "000 USD ‘000
69 596 82534 27 152 401
6206 23775 - 29981
(1 345) (13980 - (153125)
{1759} [ 583) - {2342)
{ 293) { 629) - { 922)
72 405 91117 271 163 793
31 December 2020
Land Buildings Other Total
USD 000 USD 000 USD '"000 USD '000
51303 69654 - 121 457
24990 16 733 271 41994
{1700) (1824} - (3524)
{3802) { 753} - (4 555)
{1693) (1276) - (2971)
69 596 82534 271 152 401

** The details of movement on intangible assets are as follows:

Balance at the beginning of the year
Additions

Amortization charge for the year

Adjustment duting the year and translation adjustments

Balance at the End of the Year

*** The details of movement of right of use assets are as follows :

Balance at the beginning of the year
Additions
Depreciation

Balance at the End of the Year

.57

31 December

2021 2020
usp 000 USD '006
34272 29 820
26 867 18 425
( 14484) (14 444)
( 11549} 471
35 106 34272

31 December

2021 2020
USD 000 LSD '000
86 315 98 608
34 186 5004
(23749)  (17297)
96 752 86 315




18 - DEFERRED TAX ASSETS

The details of this item are as follows :

ECL on direct credit facilities at amortized cost
End-of-Service indemnity
Interest m suspense
(nher
Total

FCL on direct credit facilities at amortized cost
Erd-of-Service indemnity

Interest in suspense

Other

Total

31 December 2021

Acquisition Adjustments
Balance at the cauisi Amended During the Balance at the
Beginningof S O™ hegipning  CTOUMS Amomals Fndofthe  Deferred Tax
eglning o Arab Bank 2 & Added Released . ar a . ’
the Year N Balance Translation Year
( Note 6) N
Adjustments
USD ‘000 CSD '000 USD '000 USD 000 USD ‘000 LSD 00} USD ‘000 USD '040
393 680 - 393 680 299332 (205487 (13735) 673 170 166 268
76 783 - 76 783 4 498 {10741) (8857%) 61683 I8 406
79 906 - 79 908 61021 (42 436) - 101 +41 26 300
80 427 42 589 123016 30348 (23731) 19 948 167681 37 524
330 796 42 589 873 335 418 299 ( 284 445) {2664) 1004 575 248 498
31 December 2020
Acquisition Adjustments
Balance at the cquisi Amended During the Balance at the
Beginingof & O™ heginnin Amounts — AMOWNES Ly Endof the  Deferred I
2 nn,ng ° Arab Bank # & Added Released car . ,“ ¢ ax
the Year Note 6 ) Balance Translation Year
¢ Adjustments
USD '000 L'SD '000 USD '000 USD 009 USD 000 USD '000 USD '000 USD 000
376 802 - 376 802 315 180 {99 694) 1362 593 680 147028
72173 - 72173 T2 (4087 777 76 783 22038
532497 - 31497 43 661 {16 232) - 79 906 19937
113 399 - 113 399 4772 { 33 580) (2164} 80427 25930
614 871 - 614 871 371533 (155613) 5 830 796 214933

Deferted tax results from temparary timing differences of the provisions not deducied for tax purposes in the current year or previous years. This is caleulated according to the regulations of the

countries where the Group operates,

The details of movements on deferred tax assels are as follows:

Balance at the beginning of the year

Acquisingn of Oman Arab Bank ( Note 6 )

Amended Balance at the beginning of the year
Additions during the year

Amortized during the year

Adjustments during the year and transtation adjustments

Balance at the end of the year

31 December

2021 2020
USD 000 USD 000
214 933 155 385
6387 .
221 320 155 355
1i4 379 105 382
(86 983) (45 846)
{4163 12
248 498 214 933




19 - BANKS AND FINANCTAT INSTITUTIONS DEPOQSITS
The details of this item are as follows:

31 December 2021

31 December 2020

Inside Jordan  Outside Jordan Total Inside Jordan Outside Jordan Total
USD '000 USD 000 USD '000 USD '000 USD 000 USD '000
Current and demand - 641 238 641 238 - 746 957 746 957
Time deposits 80 181 3271280 3 351 461 104 836 3122433 31227269
Total 80 181 3912518 3992 699 104 836 3 869 390 3974226

20 - CUSTOMERS' DEPOSITS
The details of this item are as follows:;

31 December 2021

Consumer Corporates Government
Banbine Small and . and Public Total
g Medium arge Sector

USD '000 USD 000 USD 000 USD 000 UsD 000
Current and demand 10 978 690 2979 364 3819526 1 309225 19 086 805
Savings 5372418 134 073 183919 51751 5577 161
Time and notice 9732761 1340172 3983992 4017431 19 074 356
Certificates of deposit 613 070 17510 114 008 2 601 747 189
Total 26 696 939 4471119 7936 445 5 381 003 44 485 511

31 December 2020
Corporates Government
Consumer and Public Total
Banking Small and Large
Medium Sector

USD 000 USD '000 USD 000 USD '000 USD '000
Current and demand O 878 466 2 482 453 2 383 737 221 441 15 166 097
Savings 3574 548 113032 15119 63 868 3 766 567
Time and notice 9202 810 1382303 31482528 2524 787 16 592 428
Certificates of deposit 507 979 69222 94 423 38422 710 046

Total 23 163 803 4047010 6 175 807 2 848 518 36235138

- Government of Jordan and Jerdanian public sector deposits amounted to USD 1197.7 million, or 2.7% of total customer deposits as of
31 December 2021 (USD 1057.7 million or 2.9 % of total custemer deposits as of 31 December 2020 ).

- Non-interest bearing deposits amounted to USD 16012.4 million, or 36.0% of total customer depoesits as of 31 December 2021 (USD

13732.4 million or 37.9% of total customer deposits as of 31 December 2020).

- Blocked deposits amounted to USD 131.5 million, or (.30% of total custorner deposits as of 31 December 2021 (USD 159.8 million or

0.4% of total customer deposit as of 31 December 2020).

- Dommant deposits amounted to USD 418 million, or 0.9% of total customer deposits as of 31 December 2021 (USD 492.1 million or

1.4% of total custemer deposits as of 31 December 2020 ).
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21 - CASH MARGIN

The details of this item are as follows: 31 December
2021 2020
LSD 000 USD "0
Against direct eredit facilities a1 amortized cost 1773 098 1 730 146
Against indirect eredit lacilities 824147 T3 870
Agamst margin trading 3049 240
Other cash marging 6 837 6816
Total 2 607 131 2483 253

22 - BORROWED FIINDS

The details of this item are as follows: 31 December
2021 2020
USD *000 USD '000
From Ceniral Banks * 159 466 167 340
From banks and financial institutions ** 462 994 2 451
Total 622 460 609 791

Analysis of berrowed funds accerding fo interest nature is as follows:
31 December

2021 2020
LSD 000 USD 000
Floating interest rate 351975 364 386
Fixed interest rate 270 485 243 405
Total 622 461 60% 791

* During 2013, Arab Bank {Jordan branches) signed a loan agreement with the Central Bank of Jordan amounting to USD 5.6 mullion, for the duration of 13
vears of which 3 years are grace penod with an interest rate of {2.3%) for the year 2013 and a floating interest rate of (1.8%6~LIBOR 6 months) for the years
atter 2013, The agreement aims to support SMEs and Extra Small Companies. The loan 1s repaid semi-annaally, with installments in March and September of
each year. The Balance of the loan as of 31 December 2021 amounted 10 USD 3.38 million (USD 3.95 million as of 31 December 2020).

* During 2014, Arab Bank (Jordan branches) signed a loan agreement with the Central Bank of Jordan amounting to USD 3.93 mitlion, for the duration of 10
years of which 3 yeays are grace period and with a fixed interest rate of 2.5%. The agreement aims 10 support SMEs and Extra Small Companies. The loan is
repaid semi-annually | with imstallments in March and September of each year. The Balance of the lean as of 3| December 2021 amounted 1o USD | 46 million
{USD 2 million as of 31 December 2020).

* Until December 31, 2020, Arab Bank {Jordan branches) granted loans against medium term advances from the Central Bank of Jordan wath fixed interest
rate equal to the discount rate disclosed on the grant day after deducting 0.5%0 for advances outside Ammman and 120 for advances inside Amman . The

ads anees are repaid in accordance with customers monthly installments, these advances amounted USD 1023 million as of 31 December 2021 {UUSD 98.2
million as of 31 December 2020)

* During 2016, Arab Bank (Jordan branches) signed 2 loan agreement with the Central Bank of Jordan amounting to USD 3.1 millian, for the duration of 15
years of which 5 years arc grace pened with a floating interest rate of {1.85% - LIBOR 6 months). The agreement aims to support SMEs and Extra Small
Companies. The 1oan 15 repaid semi-annually, with mstallments in March and September of each year. The Balance of the loan as of 31 December 2021
amounted to USD 4.3 million (USD 4822 million as of 31 December 2020).

* During 2017, Arab Bank (Jordan branches) simed a loan agreement with the Central Bank of Jordan amounting to USD 10.9 million, for the duration of 22
years of which 5 years are grace period with a fixed interest rate of 3% (CB) has the right to amend the interest rate every twe years up to 3.5%}. The
agresment 2ms 10 support SMEs and Extra Small Companes. The loan is repaid semi-annually, with mstallments in May and November of each year. The
Balance of the lvan as of 31 December 2021 amounted to USD 6,582 million {USD 6.6 millien as of 31 Decernber 2020).

During 2021, Arab Bank (Jordan branches) granted loans against diminishing advances in response o the Central Bank of Jordan program to suppor 8MEs o
face COVID-19 with 0%, fixed interest rate, These loans are repaid on long lerm extended to 42 menths, with a grace period up to 12 months. These loans as
of 31 December 2021 amounted to USD 41,4 ( USD 51,763 million of 31 December 2020 ).

* During 2018, Arab Bank {Jordan branches) signed loans agreements with Furopean investment Bank amounting to USD 33 million, for the duration of 7
years, in the same year Arab Bank withdrew the first installment in the amount of USD 100 million for the duration of 7 years wilh a floating intcrest rate of
(1.392% -LIBOR 6 months) the interest is repaid in 2 installiments duning the year. the loan is repaid semi-annually in March and September of each vear, the
first installment sturted on 15 September 2020 and the last onc will be on 15 September 2025, the Balance of the loan as of 31 December 2021 amounted to
CUSD 727 million (USD 90.88 million as of 31 December 2020}

* Dunng 2020, Arah Bank (Jordan branches) withdrew the second installment in the amount of USD 69.82 million for the duration of 7 years with a floating
interest rate of (1.6329+LIBOR 6 months) the interest is repaid m 2 installments during the year, the loan 15 repaid semi-annually in March and September of
cach year, the first instailment will be on 13 March 2022 and the last ong will be on 16 March 2026. the Balance of the loan as of 31 December 2021
amounted ro USD 62,84 million (the Balance of the Ipan as of 31 December 2020 amounted 10 US> 69 82 million.).

[during 2021, Arab Bank (Jordan branches) withdrew the third installment in the amount of USD 161,81 million for the duration of 7 vears with a floating
interest rate of (1.833%,+LIBOR 6 months) the interest is repaid in 2 installments dunng the year, the loan is repaid semi-annually in March and September of
each year, the first installment wall be on 13 September 2022 and the last one will be on 15 March 2027,

** During 2019 Arab National Leasing Co. signed 10an agreement with Jordanian Mortgage Refinance Company for a duration of two years with a fixed
interest rate of 5.6°; | the balance of the loan as of 31 December 2021 amounted 1o USD 7.} million (1i$1D 7.1 million as of 31 December 2020)

** Arab Lunisian Bank borrowed amounts from banks and financial institutions, as well issued syndicated term loans, the balance amounted to L'SD 138.6
million as of 31 Degember 2021 (USD 106.1 mullion as of 3|1 December 2020) whereas the lowest interest rate 15 {0.7%s) and the highest is (%.3%a} and the last
maturity date is on 19 May 2032, as per the following details:

31 December

021 2020
USD '000 USD '"000
Loans matuning withm one year 7522 8 086
Loans maturing after | year and less than 3 years 2691 26 478
Loans maturing after 3 years 60 666 67672
Total 158 583 106 136
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23 - PROVISIONS FOR INCOME TAX

The details of this item are as follows: 31 December
2021 2020
USD'000  USD 000
Balance at the beginning of the year 275 406 345054
Acquisition of Oman Arab Baak ( Note 6) 11706 -
Amended Balance at the beginning of the year 287112 345054
Income tax charge 199 725 215066
Income tax paid (284 360) (284 714)
Balance at the end of the year 202477 275 406

Income tax expense charged to the consolidated statement of income consists of the following:

31 December

2021 2020

USD '00¢  USD 000

Income tax charge for the vear 199 725 215 066
Deferted tax assets for the year (114 083) (104 791)
Amortization of deferred tax assets 86 270 45 648
Deferred tax liabilities for the year 1710 2364
Amortization of deferred tax liabilities (4 {3490)
Total 173578 154 797

- The Banking income tax rate in Jordan is 38% (35% income tax + 3% national contribution tax), While the income tax rate in the countries where
the Group has investments and branches ranges from zero to 38% as of 31 December 2021 and 2020 .
Arab Bank Group effective tax rate was 35 6% as of 31 December 2021 and 44.2% as of 31 December 2020,

-The subsidiaries and branches of Arab Bank Group have reached recent tax settlements ranging between 2020 such as Arab Bank United Arab
Emirates and Arab Sudanese Bank and 2019 such as Arab Bank Egypt and Arab Investment Group lordan Co.

24 - OTHER PROVISIONS

The details of this item are as follows:
31 December 2021

Balance at . Utilized Adjustments
Additions or ) Balance at
the . Released  during the Year
L. during the transferre . the End of
Beginning of | X to Income and Translation
Year d during . the Year
the Year Adjustments
the Year
USD 000 USD'000  USD'000  L'SD 000 LSD 000 USD '000
End-of-service indemnity 126 580 8795 (13 563) ( 48) {6949) 114 815
Legal cases 8 783 1096 { 290) (2763) ( 143) 8 683
Other 94 706 9321 { 776) (6 424) (2 696) 54 131
Totzal 230 D69 21212 (14 629) {9235 (9788 217 629
31 December 2020
Balance at Addition Utilized or At‘ijustments Balance at
the . transferre  Released  during the Year
- during the ) . the End of
Beginning of Year dduring  toIncome and Translation the Year
the Year the Year Adjustments
USD '0e0 UsD'oor  USD 000  USD 000 USD 000 USD 000
End-of-service indemnity 122 761 14 607 (10912) ( 38) 162 126 580
Legal cases 9 744 872 ( 627 (1249 43 4783
Other 94 016 10 737 {6907) (2 708) { 432} 94 706
Total 126 521 26216 ( 18 446) {3995) (227 230 069
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25- GTHER LIABILITIES

The details of this item are as follows:

Accrued interest payable

Notes payable

Interest and commission received in advance

Acecrued expenses

Div idends payable to shareholders

Provision for impaiment - ECL of the indirect credit facilines*
Lease Liabilines

Other miscellaneous liabilities

Total

Indirect Credit Facilities

31 December

202t 2020
USD'000  USD 000
189 031 139 822
189 180 203 883
90755 61133
131428 90 349
17138 19403
145 511 91950
98 361 84245
391 367 39622
1252771 1040409

The table below shaws the credit quality and the masimum exposure to credit risk based on the bank’s internal credit rating system and year-end stage

classification, The amouunts presented are gross of impairment allowances.

Low nsk / perfonning
Acceptable risk / performing
Non-performing:

Total

-Probability of default at Jow risk 0.0% - 0,12 %
-Prababiliiy of default at aceeptable rish 0.12%0 - 24%
-Probability of default at High risk 100%

The movement on fotal indirect credit facilities is as foffows:

Balance at beginning of the year

Acquisition of Oman Arab Bark [ Note 6 )
Amended Balance at the beginning of the year
New balances { Additions)

Malured balances

Transfers to stage |

Transfers to stage 2

Transfers to stage 3

Translation Adjustments

Balance at the end of the year

The movement of ECL charges on indirect credit facilities is as follows:

Balance at beginning of the year
Acquisition of Oman Arab Bank { Note 6)
Antended Batance at the beginning of the year
EC1. charges during the year
Recon eries
Transfers to stage |
Transfers to stage 2
Transfers to stage 3
Impact on year end ECL caused by transfers between stages during the year
Adjustments during the year
Translatien Adjustments
Balance at the end of the year

31 December 2021

31 December
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2020
Stage | Stage 2 Stage 3 Total Total
LSD 000 CSD 000 USD "00i USD ‘00 USD ‘000
818 873 - - 818 875 770 296
16061 240 974 385 - 17035825 14 697 556
- - 162 §20 162 820 168 269
16 880 115 974 585 162 820 18 017 520 15636 121
31 December
31 December 2021 2020
Stage | Stage 2 Stage 3 Total Total
LSD '000 LSD'000 _USD 000 USD 00 UsD 'gon
14 814 760 653 092 168 269 15636 121 17 161 524
1577228 790 004 604 2367 836 -
16 391 988 1443 096 168 873 18 003 957 171861 524
4690 267 178 631 18 0416 4 886 944 5600 322
(3926267)  (726918) (29082} (4 682 267) (6549 797)
139 238 {139 174 {64 - -
(244 273) 34632 { 359) - -
(1210} { 473} 1683 - -
{169 628) (25207) 3712 {191 114) 24 072
16 880 115 974 585 162 820 18 017 520 15 636 121
31 December
31 December 2021 020
Stage | Stage 2 Stage 3 Total Total
TSD 0 __ _LSD 000 _USD'0g0 _ USI 900 _USD w0 _
36 363 27457 28130 91 950 59213
571 536 42 156% -
36 934 28013 28 572 9351y 52213
4150 11174 64 168 79532 29568
{11918) {14917 { 1Le {26949 (13137
116 ( 1ia) - - -
{ 609} 708 { 99) - -
{n [ 3 - -
- - - - 2920
16 {34 175 157 12993
789 (1277 { 260) ( 748) 393
29517 23549 92 445 145 511 91 950




26 - DEFERRED TAX LIABILITIES

Hems attributable to deferred tax liabilities are as follows:

Other

Total

Other
Total

31 December 2021

Balance at Adjustments Balance at
the Amounts Amounts  during the Year Deferred
- X the End of -
Beginning Added Released  and Translation . Tax
. the Year
of the Year Adjustments
USD '000 USD ‘060 USD '000 USD 000 USD 000 USD '000
23318 8491 ( 236) { 373) 31200 7295
23318 8491 ( 236) (373) 31 200 7295
31 December 202¢
Balance at Adjustments Batance at
the Amounts  Amounss during the Year the End of Deferred
Beginning Added Released  and Translation Tax
. the Year
of the Year Adjustments
UsD '000 USD 000  USD'000 USD 000 USD 000  USD '000
31792 12 094 (21720) 1152 23 318 5672
31792 12094 (21 720) 1152 23318 5672

The details of movements on deferred tax liabilities are as follows:

Balance at the beginning of the year

Additions during the year
Amortized dunng the year

Adjustments during the year and translation adjustments

Balance at the end of the year

£3-

31 December

2021 2020
USD "000 USD '000
5672 6402
1717 2364
(44) (3542)
( 50) 443
7295 5672




27 - SHARE CAPITAL AND SHARE PREMIUM

a .Share Capital amounted 1o USD 926.6 million distributed to 640.8 million shares as of 31 December
2021 and 2020 with an authorized capital of 640,8 million shares (at a par value of USD 1.41 per share).

b. Share premium amounted to USD 1225.7 million as of 31 December 2021 and 2020.

28 - STATUTORY RESERVE

Statutory reserve amounted to USD 926.6 million as of 31 December 2021 (USD 926.6 million as of 31
December 2020) according to the regulations of the Central Bank of Jordan and Companies Law and it can
not be distributed to the shareholders of the banks.

29 - VOLUNTARY RESERVE

The voluntary reserve amounted to USD 977.3 million as of 31 December 2021 and 2020. This reserve is
used for purposes determined by the Board of Directors, and the General Assembly has the right to
distribute it in whole or part thereof to shareholders as dividends.

30 - GENERAL RESERVE

The general reserve amounted to USD 1211.9 million as of 31 December 2021 (USD 1141.8 million as of
31 December 2020) . This reserve is used for purposes determined by the Board of Directors, and the
General Assembly has the right to distribute it in whole or part thereof to shareholders as dividends.

31 - GENERAL BANKING RISK RESERVE

The general banking risk reserve amounted to USD 154.2 million as of 31 December 2021 (USD 224.3
million as of 31 December 2020 ).
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321 . FORELGN CURRENCY TRANS

The detais of this ntem are as fellows

ATION RFSERVE

31 December
2021 2021
L8512 "(HHY USD ‘000
Balance af the beginning of the yenr { 180 209) (251 9258)
Changes durmg e war {13778 91 71n
Balunce at the ¢hd of the year { 201 987} i 160 2}

33 INVES IMENT REVAI CATION R
The delulls of thivitem wre an follows:

31 December

2021 2010
USD 000 LD 000
Balance at the beginning of the year (295 797) i 298 303
Change i tar s alue dunng the year [ 18967y 1

et reahieed limses fratsterred fo retined camings

Balance ut the khad of the Year

Al ) LIEINDS

(295 797}

W1 29 Devsmibor XA, §Iman Arab Bank eed unecared perpotudl Tier | lnads 017513 77 9 amluon. The bomds are Lsted ont the hus.t Seugrities Market amd
Are iranstitable threugh tradang. The bonds earry 4 fised cospon cate uf ™ 73 per cent pur anown payibile semi-annualy and tremed as deduenon om equty Inferest 16
fon-cumulal ¢ and pavable ot Bank « discrenon 1 he honds farm part of Ticr T Capital of the Cank and comph with Easel-((L and Central fank of Oman reunfatos

by Addinenally, oo 17 Ocwber 2015, the Baah issued amsther senies ol unsecured perpetal Tier | beods ot USD T0S anlhon. 1he bonds curry o Bxed coupon e of

¥ 5 per Lenl per anman pasable ~em
Py with carlier Lssoe

) Addthonally. o 3 June 02 £, the Bank ssucd another senes of unsecured permetual Der 1 hoads of TS 250 mllon 1he bonds carmy & lixed eouen rate ol
sl apd treatisd s deducnon Fom cquis Inierest is pon< omulaiit e anid payahde at Bank s disereion The bonds are n park

Per Lent per annur parable sem
Nassy woth garher twoe

annnalhy and treated as deduction fem cqnty Interest iz ron-ciysulatse and patable at Bunk's discteton The hond. are i pan-

The Der 1 bonds consbitae duat, wnomdiienal, suburdinated and wnsecured oblpgtions of the Bank and are clovsified a5 equily i aeconlanee with TAS 32 naoaal

Instruments — Classitication The Lict 1 onds da seot buve a fived of [nal manemm date and are redeeniable s the Hatk at i sole discrainn The Bond under o
Bias Barst Call Date an 2% Fanwary 2022, the hatih tuls recatical fhese bomds aubsequently and bond under note (4 Bas Faest Call date on £ October 2402

homad under

tnrte () hts Tiest Call date n 4 Jamuary 2026 these homids may b roselled o any aterest payonent datc thereafler subicut 1 thie prioe ansent of the regalatory
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36 - INTEREST INCOME

The details of this item are as follows: 2021 2020
USD '000 USD '000
Direct credit facilities at amortized cost ¥ 1695777 1470 197
Central banks 60 136 42 558
Banks and financial institutions 16 118 38036
Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss 13 483 15 467
Financial assets at fair value through OCI 7971 -
Other financial assets at arnortized cost 415496 502 110
Total 2 208 981 2068 368
* The details of interest income eamned on direct credit facilities at amortized cost are as follows:
2021
Consumer Corporates Banks and Government
Banking S;:le Large | Financial  and Public Fotal
nstitutions Sector
Medjum
USD'000 USD'000 USD'000 USD'000 USD '000 USD '000
Discounted bills 2903 10203 3T 1Is 2238 2990 49 452
Overdrafts 7880 56 647 204 963 235 20230 289 955
Loans and advances 308072 106918 6l6 04l 2405 49 680 1083116
Real estate loans 200111 28 447 23 482 - - 252 040
Credit cards 21214 - - - - 21214
Total 540180 202215 875604 4878 72 900 1695777
2020
Consumer Corporates Banks and Government
Banling 5;:3" Lorge | Financial ~ and Public Total
nstitutions Sector
Medium
USD'000 USD'000 USD'000 USD '000 UsD '000 USD 000
Discounted bills 4286 12175 27574 3366 2033 49 434
Overdrafts 11323 75186 204 084 223 18 363 309 179
Loans and advances 254 094 108 292 538 222 3021 39679 943 308
Real estate loans 127 178 G198 L1537 - - 147 913
Credit cards 20 363 - - - - 20 363
Total 417244 204851 781 417 6610 60 075 1470197
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37 - INTEREST EXPENSE

The details of this item are as follows:

2021 2020

USD '600  USD "000

Customers' deposits * 747 636 715643
Banks' and financial institutions' deposits 38982 67 129
Cash margins 25212 41 440
Bormowed funds 20042 14 271
Deposit insurance fees 25782 26 823
Total 858 554 865 306

* The details of interest expense paid on customer deposits are as follows:

2021
Corporates Government
Consumer gpa11 and and Public Total
Banking  pedium Large Sector

UsSD'000 USD'000 USD'000 USD'000 USD '000

Current and demand 26 348 4 068 22994 17 772 71182
Savings 51477 988 91 163 52719
Time and notice 230944 25059 133 347 162 854 552 204
Certificates of deposit 60 460 2329 8 087 655 71531
Total 369 229 32 444 164 519 181 444 747 636
2020
Corporates Government
Consumer gp a1l and and Public Total
Banking  Medium Large Sector
USD'0DD  USD'0B0 USD'90D  USD 006 USD '060
Current and demand 22284 4135 14 827 5505 46 751
Savings 43 233 1 387 111 157 44 888
Time and notice 287 232 36 649 165 823 63 544 553 248
Certificates of deposit 55406 4236 10018 1076 70 756
Tatal 408 155 46 427 190 779 70 282 715 643
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38 - NET COMMISSION INCOME

The details of this item are as follows:

Commission income:
- Direct credit facilities at amortized cost

- Indirect credit facilities
- Asscts under management
- Other

Less: commission expense

Net Commission Income

2021 2020
USD '000 USD '000
95 893 75 760
122 296 110 599
31003 24 059
162413 112 568
(63 651) (52 588)
347 956 270 398

39 - GAINS FROM FENANCIAL ASSETS AT FAIR VALUE THROUGH PROFIT OR LOSS

The details of this item are as follows:

Treasury bills and bonds
Companies shares
Mutual funds

Total

Treasury bills and bonds
Companies shares
Mutual funds

Total

40 - OTHER REVENUE

The details of this item are as follows:

Revenue from customer services
Safe box rent
Gain (Loss) from derivatives
Miscellaneous revenue

Total

-B8-

2021
., Unrealized
Rg‘:iizd Gains Dividends Total
{Losses)
USD '000 UsSD 000 USD 000 USD '000
1226 1011 - 2237
- 1 960 - 1 960
1226 2971 - 4197
2020
. Unrealized
Rz‘;;f;d Gains Dividends  Total
{Losses)
USD '000 UsD '000 UsD '000 USD '000
3011 ( 224) - 2787
- 147 53 200
- 593 - 593
3011 516 53 3580
2021 2020
USD '000 usD 000
14239 14 246
3438 3936
964 ( 732)
54 605 33846
13 246 51296



41 - EMPLOYEES' EXPENSES

The details of this item are as follows:

Salaries and other benefits
Social security
Savings fund
Indemnity compensation
Medical
Training
Allowances
Other
Total

42 - OTHER EXPENSES

The details of this item are as follows:

Occupancy

Office

Services

Fees

Information technology

Other administrative expenses

Total

2021 2020
USD '000 USD '000

435 557 371 098

44 160 37265
6177 3052
3270 2058

19 521 15123
3220 1718

67 996 69 129

17 460 10 190

597 361 509 633

2021 2020
USD '000 USD '000

99 089 77 391

77 662 60 714

53 535 42 357
21019 15 656

67 966 55602
59233 62 700

378 504 314 420




43 - FINANCIAL DERIVATIVES

The details of this item is as follows:

31 December 2021

Notional amounts by maturity

Positive Fair  Negative Total
i SNegatlv i F 3 F ]
VYalue Fair Value National Within 3 mm:l(::m 1 Ye:;":n 3 More than
Amount Months 3 Years
Years Years
USD 00 USDH '000 USD '000 LSD 000 usD 000 USD 000 USD '000
Forward contracts 5068 4005 654 891 162 424 281 835 15 987 194 645
Interest rate swaps 20 338 17 657 3598 043 606 096 681 226 775 838 1534 883
Foreign currency forward contracts 30728 39 544 13151 511 10 9635 794 2105 240 80477 -
Derivatives held for trading 56 134 61 206 17 404 445 11734 314 3068 301 872 302 1729528
Interest rate swaps 30 444 34 477 1987 734 406 757 419 478 479 181 682 318
Foreign currency forward contracts - - 1225 8155 2170 - -
Derivatives held for fair value hedge 30 444 34477 1998 059 414 912 421 648 479 181 682 318
Foreign currency torward contracts 7 126 43173 10 803 32 368 - -
Derivatives held for cash flow hedge 7 126 43173 10 805 32 368 - -
Total 86 585 95 809 19 445 677 12160 931 35287 1351 483 2 411 846
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31 December 2820

Notienal amounts by maturity

Positive . Total
Fair Negaive Notional 3 F
Fair Value L From ‘rom 1
Value Amount Within 3 months to 1 Year to 3 More than 3
Months Years
Years Y ears
UsD
'060 USD 900 USD '040 UsSD '¢00 USD 000 USD '000 USD '008
Forward contracts 2 469 2412 118 065 11 023 67 D68 2017 3997
[nterest rate swaps 26028 22 634 1443 508 304 765 347 653 501948 289 142
Foreign currency forward contracts 29174 91283 11369879 9001 494 2 366 389 1 996 -
Derivatives held for trading 51671 116 329 12931 452 9 350 342 2782010 505 961 293 139
Interest rate swaps 39839 54 627 2117272 199 626 569 603 1100915 247 128
Foreign currency forward contracts - - 71444 71 431 13 - -
Derivatives held for fair value hedge 39 839 54 627 2188716 271 057 569 616 1100915 247128
Total 91 510 170 956 15120 168 9 621 399 3 351 626 1 606 876 540 267

The notional amount represents the value of the transactions at year-end and does not refer to market or credit risks.

SSETS, REVENUES AND CAPITAL EXPENDITURES ACCORDING TO THE GEOGRAPHICAL DISTRIBUTION

44- CONCENTRATION OF

The Group undertakes its banking activities through its branches in Jordan and abroad. The following are the details of the distribution of assets,
revenues and capital expenditures inside and outside Jordan:

Inside Jordan Qutside Jordan Total
2021 2020 2021 2020 2021 2020
USD'000 USD'000 USD'o00 UsD'o0 USD'000 USD'000
Revenues 607 738 609 004 1561 927 1322 031 2 169 665 1931035
Assets 18 B30 934 17 376 980 44 974 200 37036 703 63 805 134 54 413 683

Capital Expenditures 32439 20 064 72274 119 863 104 713 139 927
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ARAB BANK GRoOUP
NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
31 DECEMBER 2021

45. BUSINESS SEGMENTS

The Group has an integrated Group of products and services dedicated to serve the Group's
customers and constantly developed in response to the ongoing changes in the banking business
environment, and related state-cf-the-art tools.

The Groups management monitors the operating results of the business segments separately for
making decisions about performance assessment; segmented performance is calculated based on
operating profit or loss.

The following is @ summary of these Groups’ activities stating their business nature and future plans:

1. Corporate and Institutional Banking

This Group provides banking services and finances the following: corporate sector, private projects,
foreign trading, small and medium sized projects, and banks and financial institutions.

2. Treasury Group

This group is considered a source of financing for the Group, in general, and for the strategic business
units, in particular. It steers the financing of the Group, and manages both the Group’s cash liquidity
and market risks.

Mcreover, this group is responsible for the management of the Group's assets and labilities within the
frame set by the Assets and Liabilities Committee.

This group is considered the main source in determining the internal transfer prices within the Group’s
business units, in addition to being a central unit for the financial organization and main dealing in the
following:

- Foreign exchange.

- Foreign exchange derivatives.
- Money market instruments.

- Certificates of deposit.

- Interest rate swaps.

- Other various derivatives.

3. Consumer Banking

The Consumer Banking division is focused on offering customers an extensive range of feature-rich
value proposition through its vast branch network and integrated direct banking channels, both locally
and regicnally. Consumer Banking provides a comprehensive range of programs that are specifically
designed to cater to the needs of a diverse customer base. These range from Jeel Al Arabi, the
special program for children, to Elite, the exclusive service offered to our high net worth clients. The
bank believes in building meaningful customer relationships, placing client needs at the heart of our
services and constantly reassessing those services in line with evolving customer needs and
expectations.

Advanced digital solutions are important to our ability to serve customers efficiently and to streamline
our internal operations. New solutions are constantly under review and are introduced regularly to
ensure that customers benefit from the latest and most effective direct banking services and channels.

A key element of the bank’s long term strategy is to offer banking services at a regional level by
introducing cross-border soluticns to our Elite and Arabi Premium clients throughout the bank’s branch
network and online banking services.
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Information about the Group's Business Segments

Total income

Net inler-segment interest income
Less :ECL expense on financial assets
Other provisions

Direct administrative expenses
Result of operations of segments
Indirect expenses on seyments

Profit (Loss) for the year before income tax
Income tax expense

Profit (Loss) for the Year
Depreciation and amortjzation

Other information

Segment assets

Inter-segment assets

Investment in associates

TOTAL ASSETS

Sepment liabilities

Shareholders' equity

Inter-segment liabilities

TOTAL LIABILITIES AND SHAREHOLDERS' EQUITY

31 December 2021

Corporate Consumer Banking
lnsti::::onal Treasury — Other Totat
Banking Elite Banking
USD 000 usp 000 USD "000 USD "000 USD '000 USD *000
980 001 543 038 (67 622) 397 819 316 129 2169 6635
(116222)  (303387) 245 161 174 508 - -
477 437 51372 960 30324 - 560093
3103 1129 1 449 6294 - 11977
160 542 24 590 39747 227673 61 393 513945
222 895 162 560 135323 308 036 255036 1 083 650
251 236 7R216 52 78% 211031 2184 595 555
(28 641) 84 344 82 535 97 005 252 852 488 (195
(10 184) 29994 29 351 34 497 89 920 173578
(18 457) 54 350 53184 62 508 162 932 314 517
27 641 6 608 7130 42 256 - B3 635
22 661 176 22 491 435 4276336 3103417 2859 871 60 392 235
- - 13031 702 3 388 759 6141 152 -
- - - - 31412899 3412899
22661 176 22491 435 17 308 028 11492176 12413 922 63305134
19 346 873 1244125 17 308 038 11492176 2092 570 53 483 782
- - - - 10321 352 10 321 352
3314303 19 247 310 - - - -
22 661 176 22491435 17 308 038 11492 176 12413922 63 805 134




Information about the Group's Business Segments

Tota) income

Net inter-segment interest income

ECL expense on financial assets

Other provisions

Direct administrative expenses

Result of operations of segments

[ndirect expenses on segments

Profit for the year before income tax

Income tax expense

Profit for the Year

Depreciation and amortization

Other information

Segment assets

Inter-segment assels

Investment in associates

TOTAL ASSETS

Segment liabilities

Shareholders' equity

Inter-segment lighilities

TOTAL LIABILITIES AND SHAREHOLDERS' EQUITY

31 December 2020

Corporate Consumer Banking
lnsti?ll.l‘:ji‘onal Treasury Flite Rela.il Other Total
Banking Banking
UsD'ono LSD 000 USD '000 LUSD '000 USD 000 USD 000
G00 864 578 722 (121 126) 241 424 331151 1931035
(102131) (370277) 313 154 159 274 - -
447 649 135 844 3671 71 166 - 658 330
7 078 344 3375 8327 - 2222
137 423 24331 38203 185239 8980 394176
206 563 44 829 146 779 135 966 322171 856 308
204 338 59059 52559 174 908 15363 506 227
2225 (14 230) 94 220 (38 942) 306 808 350081
984 (6297) 41 662 (17219 135 662 154 797
1241 (7938) 52 558 (21723) 171 146 195 284
20363 5126 6431 31428 - 63 330
17 753 573 22137 997 3960 125 5056 345 1701 431 50609 471
- 12414 665 3367033 SRI7 812 -
. - - 3804212 3804 212
17 753 573 22137997 16 374 790 8423378 11323 455 54413 683
14986 (15 3305 945 16374 790 8423178 1934692 45G24 920
- - - - 9388 763 9388 763
2767 458 18832052 - - - R
17753573 22137 997 16 374 790 8423378 11323455 54 413 683




ARAB BANK GRouP
NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
31 DECEMBER 2021

46. BANKING RISK MANAGEMENT

Arab Bank Group addresses the challenges of banking risks comprehensively through an Enterprise-
Wide Risk Management Framework. This framework is built in line with leading practices, and is
supported by a risk governance structure consisting of risk-related Board Committees, Executive
Management Committees, and three independent levels of control.

As part of the risk governance structure of the Bank, and as the second level of control, Group Risk
Management is responsible for ensuring that the Bank has a robust system for the identification and
management of risk. {ts mandate is to;

- Establish risk management frameworks, policies and procedures for all types of risks and monitor
their implementation

- Develop appropriate risk measurement tools and models

- Assess risk positions against established limits

- Monitor and report to Senior Management and the Board on a timely basis

- Advise and promote risk awareness based on leading practices

a. Credit Risk Management

Arab Bank maintains a low risk strategy towards the activities it takes on. This combined with its
dynamic and proactive approach in managing credit risk are key elements in achieving its strategic
objective of maintaining and further enhancing its asset quality and credit pertfolio risk profile. The
conservative, prudent and well-established credit standards, policies and procedures, risk
methodologies and frameworks, solid structure and infrastructure, risk monitoring and control enable
the Bank to deal with the emerging risks and challenges with a high level of confidence and
determination. Portfolio management decisions are based on the Bank's business strategy and risk
appetite as reflected in the tolerance limits. Diversification is the cornerstone for mitigating perifolio
risks which is achieved through industry, geographical and customer tolerance limits.

b. Geographic Concentration Risk

The Bank reduces the geographic concentration risk through distributing its operations over various
sectors and various geographic locations inside and outside the Kingdom.

Note (47- E) shows the details of the geographical distribution of assets.
c. Liguidity Risk

Liquidity is defined by the Bank for International Settlements as the ability of a bank to fund increases
in assets and meet obligations as they come due, without incurring unacceptable losses. Arab Bank
has built a robust infrastructure of policies, processes and people, in order to ensure that all
obligations are met in a timely manner, under all circumstances and without undue cost. The Bank
uses a variety of tools to measure liquidity risk in the balance sheet. These metrics help the Bank to
plan and manage its funding and help to identify any mismatches in assets and liabilities which may
expose the Bank to roll risk.

Note (53) shows the maturities of the assets and liabilities of the Bank and note (50) shows the
maturity of the liabilities (undiscounted).
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ARAB BANK GROUP
NOTES To THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
31 DECEMBER 2021

d. Market Risk

Market risk is defined as the potential for loss from changes in the value of the Group’s portfolios due
to movements in interest rates, foreign exchange rates, and equity or commodity prices. The three
main activities that expose the Group to market risk are: Money Markets, Foreign Exchange and
Capital Markets, across the Trading and Banking books.

Note (48) shows the details of market risk sensitivity analysis.

1. Interest Rate Risk

Interest rate risk in the Group is limited, well managed, and continucusly supervised. A large
proportion of the interest rate exposure is concentrated in the short end of the yield curve, with
durations of up to one year. Exposures of more than one year are particularly limited. Interest rate risk
is managed in accordance with the policies and limits established by the ALCO.

Derivatives held for risk management purposes and hedge accounting:
The Group holds derivatives for risk management purposes, some of which are designated as
hedging relaticnships and management is in the process of assessing the impact.

Note {49) shows the details of the interest rate risk sensitivity of the Group.

2. Capital Market Exposures

Investments in capital markets instruments are subject to market risk stemming from changes in their
prices. Arab Bank Group’'s exposure to this kind of risk is limited due to its strong control over credit
and interest rate risk. The equities investment portfolio represents a very small percent of the Bank's
overall investments.

3. Foreign Exchange Risk

Feoreign exchange activity arises principally from customers' tfransactions. Strict foreigh exchange risk
limits are set to define exposure and sensitivity tolerance for trading in foreign exchange. The Bank
hedges itself appropriately against potential currency fluctuations in order to minimize foreign
exchange exposure.

Note (51) shows the net positions of foreign currencies.

Hyperinflationary economy

The ecaonomy of the Republic of Yemen where the Group has a branch is deemed as a
hyperinflationary economy, therefore the financial statements of the branch were adjusted so that they
are stated in terms of the current measuring unit at the end of the reporting period.
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ARAB BANK GROUP
NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
31 DECEMBER 2021

This involves restatement of income and expenses to reflect changes in the general price index from
the start of the reporting period, restatement of non-monetary items in the statement of financial
position in order to reflect the current purchasing power as at the period end using a general price
index from the date when they were first recognized and restatement of the components of owners’
equity, except retained earnings, by applying a general price index from the dates the components
were contributed or otherwise arose. The impact of applying the requirements of IAS 29 on the branch
resulted in an adjustment to the equity with a total amount of USD 10.7 millicn and a loss on the net
monetary position for the current year amounted to USD 10.5 million which was included in the
consolidated statement of income,

Since the operations of the branch are translated into the functional currency of the Group, which is a
non-hyperinflationary economy, comparative amounts of the branch included in 2020 financial
statements are not restated (i.e., not adjusted for subsequent changes in the price level or subsequent
changes in exchange rates).

The main implications of the above are as follows:

+ The historical cost of non-monetary assets and liabilities and various components of equity are
adjusted from their date of acquisition to the year ended 31 December 2021,

+ Income statement is adjusted to reflect the financial gain or loss caused by the impact of
inflation during the year on net monetary assets or liabilities (gain or loss of purchasing power);
and

+ The cumulative impact of the accounting restatement to adjust for the effects of hyperinflation
for year 2021 is reflected in the consolidated statement of changes in equity.

e, Operational Risk

Operational risk is defined as the loss incurred by the Bank due to disorder in work policies or
procedures, personnel, automated systems, technological infrastructure, in addition to external
accidents. Such risk is managed through a comprehensive framework, as part of the overall
strengthening and continuous improvement of the controls within the Group.
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47 - CREDIT RISK

A. Gross exposure to credit risk (net of ECL provisions and intcrest in suspense and prior to collaterals

and other risk mitigations):

Credit risk exposures relating to items on the consolidated statement of financial

position:

Balances with central banks
Balances with banks and financial institutions
Deposits with banks and financial institutions
Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss
Financial assets at fair value through OCI
Direct credit facilities at amortized cost
Consumer Banking
Small and Medium Corporate
Large Corporate
Banks and financial institutions
Govemnment and public sector
Other financial assets at amortized cost
financial derivatives - positive fair value

QOther assets

Total Credit Exposure related to items on the consolidated statement of financial

position:

31 December

Credit risk expasures relating to items off the conselidated statement of financial pesition:

Total of indirect facilities.

Grand Total for Credit Exposure

2021 2020

USD '000 USD '000
11232692 10134 174
3756 284 4601 165
275 494 288 165
40117 283 830

312 501 -
31 188 786 23 907 858
8923 264 5 862 769
3814125 2925975
15591 408 13 572296
372 688 190 775
2 487 301 1 356 043
10561 173 8 762 789
86 585 91510
407 927 263 681
57 861 559 48 333172
17 872 009 15544171
75733 568 63 877 343

The table above shows the maximun limit of the bank credit tisk as of 31 December 2021 and 2020 excluding collaterals

and risks mitigations.
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Tl disdosui €3 belor nete prepared e 1wo stages: the firsT for the total exposures of credit facilities and the second for the size at the

expected eredit loss.

Credit exposures relating 1 jtems on statement of

financial position:
Balances with central banks

Balances with banks and finaneia! institutions
Deposits with banks and financial instirudons
Financial assets at fair value throygh profi or loss
Drirect credit faciluties at amottized cost

Ottr financial assets at amonized cost

Total

Credit exposures relating to items off statement of

financial position

Grand Total

Grand Total as of 31 December 2020

Credit exposures relalting to jtems on staterment of

Financial positian:
Balances with central banks

Balances with banks and financial instinnions
Deposits with banks and financia] institutions
Financial assels at fair value through profit or foss
Direct credit facilitics at amontzed cost

Other financial assels at amonized cost

Other assets and financial derivatives - positive fair value

Total

Credit exposures relating tn items off statement of

financial position

Grand Total

Grand Total &s of 31 December 2020

31 December 2021

Srage 2 Stage 3 Totat Percentage of
i Reclassified . Reclassified Reclassified Reclassifved
Toal Ol o s ORI g pik CeeditRisk Credit Risk
Risk Exposure Exposure Risk Exposure Exposure Exposure Exposure (%]
LUSD ‘000 USD "G00 USD ‘0 USD 000 LSD ‘000 USD 000
TI¥ R8s - - (0
5148 325 511794 2RSS 165 (60 676 834 K54
844902 569 - - 3639 f.6%
5952126 517413 2 855311 165 060 682 491 1.7%
974 485 104 983 162 820 1262 106 245 2.3%
b 926 711 622 416 JOt8 L3l 166 312 788 738 7.9%
4 700 145 706 453 2 526688 585 31¢ 1291 773 17.9%
31 December 2021
Stage 2 Stage 3 Total Percentage of
Reclassified 5 Reclassified Reclassified Reclassified
TolExpected  p o od Cregit O BRI B ed Credit Expected Expected
Credit Loss Loss Credit Loss Loss CreditLess  Credit Loss (%)
USD '000 USD "0 USD '000 LUSD ‘000 USD 000 USD '000
200002 - - 0.0%
655 (KK (40543 1 826 3] 47 131 it 03%
19977 - - %%
- - - - 0 ()%
874 98¢ ( 40 543) 1326 301 47131 G 588 0.2%
13 549 590 92 448 { 96) 494 0.4%
898 52% { 39953) 1918 746 47 0335 7082 0.3%
627 991 (35403) 1432 073 38892 3 489 0.2%

- Expected Credit Lnsses for Reclassified Credit Exposures:

Credit exposures relating to items on statement of

financial position:
Balances with central banks

Balances with banks and financial institutions
Deposits with banks and financial institutions
Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss
Drirect credir facilities at amortized cost

Other financial asscts at amottized cost

Total

Credit exposures relating to items of T statement of

financial position

Grand Total

Grand Total as of 31 December 2020

31 December 2021

Reclassified Credit Exposures

Expected Credit Lasses For Reclassified Credit Exposures:

Reclassificd Reclassified
Credit Credit Total Stage 2 Stage 2 e 3
Exposures ffom  Expesures trom Reclassified {Individual} {Collective) Stage Toul
Stage 2 Stage 2 Credit Exposures
USD '000 USD 000 USD "000 USD '0H USD '000 USD '000 USD '000
511794 165 (060 676 834 [ 87% T1a 71 899 T1 796
5639 - 5619 . - - -
517433 165 060 682 493 ( 878) T8 71.89% 71 796
104 983 1262 106 245 590 - { 96) 494
622 416 166 322 783 738 { 288) 775 71803 7229
T 453 585 320 1291 773 L6016) 5 834 94 066 93 384
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D. Classification of debt securities facilities based on risk degree:

The table below analyzes the credit exposure of the debt securities using the credit ruting as per the global credit rating agencies:

Credit rating

Private sector:

AAA 0 A-
BBE+ to B-
Below B-
Unrated
Govemments and public sector

Totak

Credit rating

Private sector:
AAA to A-
BEB+ to B-
Below B-
Unrated
Goevernments and public sector

Total

31 December 2021

Financial Assets at Fair

Financial Assets at

Other Financial Assets

Yalue Thrtzfsh Profit or Fair ¥ al(t;::}“hrough at Amortized Cost Tatal
LSD 000 USp '000 USD 000 USD 000
19 894 - 972 796 S92 690
5721 93 17 302924 401 810
G 384 - - 9 384
391 - 132 091 132 482
4727 219 330 9153 362 9377419
40 117 312 501 10561 173 10 913 791
31 December 2020
Financial Assets at Fair Other Financial
Value Through Profit or Assets at Amortized Total
Loss Cost
LSD 008 L'SD 000 LSD ‘000
185 726 845 083 1031 409
217 899 217 899
9607 - 9607
B 803 182412 191 215
79694 7516795 7 596 489
283 830 8 762 789 9046 619
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F. Credit exposure categorized by economic sector and stagings according te IFRS 9:

Consumer Banking

Industry and Mming

Constructions

Real Fstate

Trade

Agriculture

Tourism and Hotels

Transportation

Shares

General Service

Banks and Financial Institutions

Government and Public Sector
Total

Taotal as of 31 December 2020

48 - MARKET RISK
Market Rask Sensitivity

Inferest rate sensitivity

Foreign exchange rate sensitivity

Equity instruments price sensitiy ity
Total

31 December 2021

Stage | Stage 2
{Individual) (Colfective) (Individualf (Coftective) Stage 3 Totat
USD '000 USD 000 LSD '0H USD '600 LSD 000 LSD 000
32402 8720693 - 136 165 66 400 8 955 660
3 BBB 969 - 935225 - 10053 4834247
1460 550 - 790 546 - 63311 2314 507
1336113 - 303080 - 8172 1857 365
3242694 - 835378 - 46518 4124590
576 596 - 137254 - 52132 719082
555727 - 405422 - 60262 1021411
386 27 - 139 759 - 3210 529243
33939 - - - 35939
4232400 437753 - 25585 4 695 798
5563777 26763 - - 5 590 540
22 430 081 - 653 043 - 53 23183177
43 811 582 8 720 693 4 904 223 136 165 288 8% 57 861 559
38 89% 712 5651 051 3 276 149 147 79% 358 461 48 333172
Assuming market prices as at December 31, 2021 and 2020 change by 5%, the impact on statement of income and shareholders equity will be as follows:
31 December 2021 31 December 2020
Statement of Shareholders’ Statement of Sharehalders'
3 Taotal N Total
Income Equity Income Equity
UsD 000 LSD '000 LSD ‘000 USD ‘00 LSD 000 USD ‘000
H 340 - 44 340 34215 - 34215
1461 6 189 7650 668 6 730 7448
1611 18 768 203719 1011 20 486 21497
47412 24 957 72 369 35 894 27 266 63 160
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ARAB BANK GRoUP
NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
31 DECEMBER 2021

Inter Bank Offered Rate (IBOR) Reforms

A fundamental reform of major interest rate benchmarks is being undertaken globally, including the
replacement of some interbank offered rates (IBORs) with alternative nearly risk-free rates (referred to
as 'IBOR reform”). The Group has exposures to IBORs on its financial instruments, some of which
have already been transitioned, and others which will be replaced at the transition date and as part of
these market-wide initiatives.

The Group closely monitars the market and the output from the varicus industry working groups
managing the transition to new benchmark interest rates. This includes announcements made by the
IBOR rcgulators,

LIBOR referenced in Arab Bank contracts will be replaced by the following overnight Risk Free Rates
(RFRY}), as per market best practice:

Currency IBOR Alternative Reference Rate Transition Date
usb USD LIBOR {3 / 6 Months) Secured Overnight Financing Rate {SOFR) June 2023

GBP GBP LIBOR Sterling Overnight Index Average {(SONIA) December 2021
EUR EURIBOR / EUR LIBOR Euro Short-Term Rate (€STR) December 2021
CHF CHF LIBOR Swiss Average Rate Overnight (SARON) December 2021
JPY JPY LIBOR Tokyo Qvernight Average Rate (TONAR) December 2021

It is the aim of the Bank to maintain economic equivalency, by ensuring that the financial terms of the
migration are in line with market practice on spread adjustments. ISDA’s spread adjustments fixed on
5" of March 2021, will be added to the original spread over LIBOR at the time of the transition. As a
result, no material profit or loss impact is anticipated.

For contracts denominated in EUR, GBP, CHF or JPY, migration tock place at the time of the
transition. For contracts denominated in USD, and referencing 1M, 3M, 6M and 12M LIBOR,
migration will take place on or before 30™ of June 2023.

Derivatives

The bank confirms adherence to the ISDA IBOR Protocol. All derivatives adhere to the contractual
fallback provisions which will take effect for derivatives contracts referencing LIBOR rates at the
transition and upon cessation events.

Hedge Accounting

Hedge documentation, which currently refers to LIBOR, will be updated to refiect the transition to the
new reference rate for the hedging item and the hedging instrument in every case. Economic
equivalency will be maintained at the time of transition and therefore no material profit or loss impact
is anticipated.

Total amounts of unreformed contracts, including those with an appropriate faliback clause is around
USD 2.4 billion.
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53- ANALYSIS FOR ASSETS AND LIABILITIES MATURITIES

The below is an analysis for assets and liabilities maturities according to the expected period 1o be recovered or settled as at 31

December 2021:
Up to onc year More than one Total
year
USD 000 USD 00 USD '000
Assets
Cash at vauhs 774 302 - 774 302
Mandatory cash reserve 1484 161 - 1484 16!
Balances with central banks 9 748 531 - 9 748 531
Balances and deposits with banks and financial institutions 3984 168 47 610 4031778
Tinancial assels at fair value through profit or loss 56384 15959 72343
Direct credit facilities at amortized cost 14 156 360 17 032 426 31 188 786
Financial assets at fair value through other comprehensive income 49 180 638 674 687 854
Other financial assets at amortized cost 4 546 391 6014 782 10 561 173
Investment in subsidiaries and associates - 3412 899 3412899
Fixed assets 69 151 462 804 531955
Other assets and tinancial derivatives - positive fair vatue 945 856 116998 1062 854
Deferred tax assets 248 498 - 248 498
Total assets 36062 982 27 742 152 63 805 134
Liabilities
Banks' and financial institutions’ deposils 3991 801 898 3992 699
Customer deposits 41536018 2949 493 44485511
Cash margin 2318636 288 4953 2607 131
Borrowed funds 131428 491 032 622 460
Provision for income tax 202477 - 202 477
Other Provisions 217 629 - 217629
Other liabilities and tinancial derivatives - negative fair value 1 230046 118 534 1348 580
Deferred tax liabilities 7263 - 7295
Total liabilities 49 635 330 3 848 452 53 483 782
Net {13 572 348) 23 §93 706 10 321 352
The below is an analysis for assets and liabilities maturities according to the expected
period to be recovered or settled as at 31 December 2020;
More than one -
UP 0 one year T'otal
year
USDh 000 UsSD 000 LSD 000
Assets
Cash at vaulis 673453 - 673 453
Mandatory cash reserve 1613267 - 1613267
Balances with central banks 8495907 25000 8 520907
Balances and deposits with banks and financial institutions 4 868 180 21150 4 889 330
Financial assets at fair value through profit er loss 77 805 226 249 304 054
Direct credit facilities at amortized cost 11774 548 12133310 23907 858
Financial assets at fair value through other comprehensive income - 409 715 409 713
Other financial assets at amortized cost 4 488 236 4274 553 8 762 789
Investment in subsidiaries and associates - 3804 212 3 804 212
Fixed assets 48 906 409 612 458 518
Other assets and tinancial derivatives - positive fair value 649 365 205 082 854 647
Deferred tax asscts 214933 - 214933
Total assets 32904 800 21 508 883 54 413 683
Liabilities
Banks' and financial institutions' deposits 3890499 83727 3974226
Customer deposits 35371384 863 754 36235 138
Cash margin 2442 532 40 721 2483 253
Borrowed funds 49116 360 673 609 791
Other Provisions 275 406 - 275 406
Provision for Ingcome Tax 230 069 - 230 069
Other liabilities and financial derivatives - negative fair value 1177 486 33879 1211365
Deferred tax liabilities 5672 - 5672
Total liabilities 43 442 164 1582 7156 45024 920
Net (10 537 364) 19926127 9 338 763
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54 - CONTRACTUAL MATURITY OF THE CONTINGENT ACCOUNTS

The table below details of expected liabilities and commitments on the basis of contractual maturity:

31 December 2021

More than 1 More than 5
Within 1 year year and upto$5 Total
years years
USD '000 USD '000 USD 000 USD '000

Letters of credit 2 663 930 131 063 - 2794 993
Acceptances Q00 903 21 616 - 922 519
Letters of guatantee:
- Payment guarantees 1014941 90 828 170 167 1275936
- Performance guarantees 3352075 1293 348 151 150 4796 573
- Other guarantees 2334414 352522 35372 2722308
Unutilized credit facilities 5363 722 110 777 30 692 5505191

Total 15 629 985 2 000 154 387 381 18 017 520
Constructions projects contracts 3385 - - 3385
Procurement contracts 16 336 1673 2262 2027

Total 19 721 1673 2262 23 656

31 December 2020
More than 1
Within 1 year year andupto 5 More than 5 Total
years
vears
USD '000 USD 000 USD 000 USD '000

Letters of credit 1618 727 92 907 - 1711 634
Acceptances 584 809 5743 - 590 352
Letters of guarantee:
- Payment guarantees 1190935 121 408 74 204 1386 547
- Performance guarantees 3319003 1228 769 183 237 4 731 009
- Other guarantees 20615665 316 772 34 233 2 966 670
Unutilized credit facilities 3 901 956 314 266 33487 4 249 709

Total 13 231 095 2 079 865 325 161 15 636 121
Constructions projects contracts 3502 - - 3502
Procurement contracts 10 537 3033 2 528 16 098

Total 14 039 3033 2 528 19 600
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55 - CAPITAL MANAGEMENT AN LIQUIDUTY

The Group manages its capital to safeguard its ability to continue its operating activities while maximizing the return
to shareholders. The composition of the regulatory capital, as defined by Basel Il standards is as follows:

31 December

2021 2020

USD '000 UsD '000
Common Equity Tier 1 9376735 9006 760
Regulatory Adjustments { Deductions from Common Equity Tier 1) (2 894 909) {3356 130)
Additional Tier 1 273 411 439
Deductions from Additional Tier 1 {12987) -
Supplementary Capital 388 384 416 260
Regulatory Capital 7 130 634 6 067 329
Risk-weighted assets (RWA) 43 132 067 36 180 487
Common Equity Tier 1 Ratio %15.03 %15.62
Tier 1 Capital Ratio %6 15.63 %15.62
Capital Adequacy Ratio %16.53 %016.77

- The Board of Directors performs an overall review of the capital structure of the Group on a quarterly basis. As part
of this review, the Board takes into consideration matters such as cost and risks of capital as integral factors in
managing capital through setting dividend policies and capitalization of reserves.

- The liquidity coverage ratio is 222% as of 31 December 2021 and 254% as of 31 December 2020 ( According to
Central Bank of Jordan Memo no. 5/2020 the minimum liquidity coverage ratio is 100% ).



56 - TRANSACTIONS WITH RELATED PARTIES
The details of this item are as follows:

31 December 2021

Deposits owed Direct credit Deposits owed LCs, ,L,GS’

. Unutilized

from related facilities at to related . ihe
. . . credit facilities

parties amortized cost parties

and acceptances

USsD 000 USD '000 UsD '000 USD '000
Associated companies 154 301 - 8 851 25861
Major Shareholders and Members of the Board of Directors - 291 628 975382 43 875
154 301 291 628 984 233 69 736

31 December 2020

L M
Deposits owed Direct credit Deposits owed Cs, 'L.("s,
- Unutilized
from related facilities at to related . o
. . . credit facilities
parties amortized cost parties
and aceeptances
USD '000 USD 000 UsD 000 USD 000
Associated companies 197 484 - 20940 71 161
Major Shareholders and Member of the Board of Directors - 279057 671215 89512
197 484 279 057 692 155 160 673

- All facilities granted to related parties are performing loans in accordance with the credit rating of the Group. No provisions for the year
have been recorded in relation to impairment in value.

The details of transactions with related parties are as follows:
31 December 2021

Interest Income Interest Expense

USD 000 USD '000

Associated companies 469 48

31 December 2020

Interest Income Interest Expense

USD '¢00 USD ‘000

Associated companies 1 750 127

- Direct credit facilitates granted to key management personnel amounted to USD 1.4 million and indirect credit facilities amounted to USD 14.1
thousand as of 31 December 2021 {USD 1.8 million direct credit facilities and USD 217.1 thousand indirect credit facilities as of 31 December
2020).

- Deposits of key management personnel amounted to USD 4.2 million as of 31 December 2021 (USD 5.4 million as of 31 December 2020).

- Interest on credit facilities granted to major shareholders and members of the Beard of Directors is recorded at arm's length.

- The salaries and other fringe benefits of the Group's key management personnel, inside and outside Jordan, amounted to USI} 65.6 million for the
year ended on 31 December 2021 (USD 68.9 million for the year ended on 31 December 2020 ).



57 - EARNINGS PER SHARE

The details of this item are as follows:

Profit for the year attributable to Shareholders of the Bank
Less : The Group’s share of Interest on Perpetuai Bonds

Net Profit for the year attributable to Shareholders of the Bank

Average number of shares

Earnings Per Share (Basic and diluted)

2021 2020
USD '000 USD '000

306 721 192791
(14397) -

292324 192 791

Thousand Shares

640 800 640 800
USD / Share
0.46 0.30

There are no instruments that could potentially dilute basic earnings per share in the future.

58 - ASSETS UNDER MANAGEMENT

Assets under management as of 31 December 2021 amounted to USD 5971 million (USD 5094 million as of 31
December 2020 ). These assets are not included in the Group's consolidated financial statements.

59 - CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENT

The details of this item are as follows:

Cash and balances with central banks maturing within 3 months

Add: balances with banks and financial institutions maturing within 3
months

Less: banks and financial institutions deposits maturing within 3 months

Total

-96-

31 December

2021 2020
USD "000 USD '000
12 183 906 10624 978
3759049 4604 658
3 682903 3116968
12 260 052 12 412 068




ARAB BANK GROUP
NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
31 DECEMBER 2021

60. LEGAL CASES

There are lawsuits filed against the Group totaling USD 334.3 million as of 31 December 2021,
(USD 289.1 million as of 31 December 2020). In the opinion of the management and the lawyers
representing the Group in the litigation at issue, the provisions taken in connection with the
lawsuits are adequate.

61. STANDARDS ISSUED BUT NOT YET EFFECTIVE

The standards and interprelalions that are issued but not yet effective, up to the date of issuance of
the Group's financial statements are disclosed below. The Group intends to adopt these standards, if
applicable, when they become effective.

IFRS 17 Insurance Contracts

In May 2017, the |ASB issued IFRS 17 Insurance Contracts (IFRS 17), a comprehensive new
accounting standard for insurance contracts covering recognition and measurement, presentation and
disclosure. Once effective, IFRS 17 will replace IFRS 4 Insurance Contracts {IFRS 4) which was
issued in 2005. IFRS 17 applies to all types of insurance contracts (i.e., life, non-life, direct insurance
and re-insurance), regardless of the type of entities that issue them, as well as to certain guarantees
and financial instruments with discretionary participation features. A few scope exceptions will apply.
The overall objective of IFRS 17 is to provide an accounting model for insurance contracts that is
more useful and consistent for insurers. In contrast to the requirements in IFRS 4, which are largely
based on grandfathering previcus local accounting policies, IFRS 17 provides a comprehensive
model for insurance contracts, covering all relevant accounting aspects. The core of IFRS 17 is the
general model, supplemented by:

+ A specific adaptation for contracts with direct participation features (the variable fee

approach),
+ A simplified approach (the premium allocation approach) mainly for short-duration contracts.

IFRS 17 is effective for reporting periods beginning on or after 1 January 2023 and must be applied
retrospectively. Early application is permitted, provided the entity also applies IFRS 2@ and IFRS 15 on
or before the date it first applies IFRS 17. This standard is not applicable to the Group.

Amendments to IAS 1: Classification of Liabilities as Current or Non-current

In January 2020, the IASB issued amendments to paragraphs 69 to 76 of IAS 1 to specify the
requirements for classifying liabilities as current or non-current. The amendments clarify:

+ What is meant by a right to defer settlement,

+ That a right to defer must exist at the end of the reporting period,

That classification is unaffected by the likelihood that an entity will exercise its deferral right,
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ARAB BANK GROUP
NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
31 DECEMBER 2021

+ That only if an embedded derivative in a convertible liability is itself an equity instrument would
the terms of a liability not impact its classification.

The amendments are effective for annual reporting periods beginning on or after 1 January 2024 and
must be applied retrospectively. The Group is currently assessing the impact the amendments will
have on current practice and whether existing loan agreements may require renegotiation.

The amendments are not expected to have a material impact on the Group.

Reference to the Conceptual Framework — Amendments to IFRS 3

In May 2020, the IASB issued Amendments to IFRS 3 Business Combinations - Reference to the
Conceptual Framework. The amendments are intended to replace a reference to the Framework for
the Preparation and Presentation of Financial Statements, issued in 1989, with a reference to the
Conceptual Framework for Financial Reporting issued in March 2018 without significantly changing its
requirements.

The Board also added an exception to the recognition principle of IFRS 3 to avoid the issus of
potential ‘day 2’ gains or losses arising for liabilities and contingent liabilities that would be within the
scope of IAS 37 or IFRIC 21 Levies, if incurred separatiely.

At the same time, the Board decided to clarify existing guidance in IFRS 3 for contingent assets that
would not be affected by replacing the reference to the Framework for the Preparation and
Presentation of Financial Statements.

The amendments are effective for annual reporting pericds beginning on or after 1 January 2022 and
apply prospectively.

The amendments are not expected to have a material impact on the Group.
Property, Plant and Equipment: Proceeds before Intended Use — Amendments to |AS 16

In May 2020, the IASB issusd Property, Plant and Equipment — Proceeds before Intended Use,
which prohibits entities from deducting from the cost of an item of property, plant and equipment, any
proceeds from seiling items produced whife bringing that asset to the location and condition
necessary for it to be capable of operating in the manner intended by management. Instead, an entity
recognises the proceeds from selling such items, and the costs of producing those items, in profit or
loss.

The amendment is effective for annual reporting periods beginning on or after 1 January 2022 and
must be applied retrospectively to items of property, plant and equipment made available for use on
or after the beginning of the earliest period presented when the entity first applies the amendment.

The amendments are nat expected to have a material impact on the Group.
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Onerous Contracts — Costs of Fulfilling a Contract — Amendments to |AS 37

In May 2020, the IASB issued amendments to IAS 37 to specify which costs an entity needs to
include when assessing whether a contract is onerous or loss-making.

The amendments apply a “directly related cost approach”. The costs that relate directly to a contract
to provide goods or services include both incremental costs and an allocation of costs directly related
to contract activities. General and administrative costs do not relate directly to a contract and are
excluded unless they are explicitly chargeable to the counterparty under the contract.

The amendments are effective for annual reperting periods beginning on or after 1 January 2022. The
Group will apply these amendments to contracts for which it has not yet fulfilled all its obligations at
the beginning of the annual reporting period in which it first applies the amendments.

The amendments are not expected to have a material impact on the Group.

IFRS 1 First-time Adoption of International Financial Reporting Standards — Subsidiary as a
first-time adopter

As part of its 2018-2020 annual improvements to IFRS standards process, the IASB issued an
amendment to IFRS 1 First-time Adoption of International Financial Reporting Standards. The
amendment permits a subsidiary that elects to apply paragraph D16(a} of IFRS 1 to measure
cumulative translation differences using the amounts reported by the parent, based on the parent’s
date of transition to IFRS. This amendment is also applied to an associate or joint venture that elects
to apply paragraph D16(a) of IFRS 1.

The amendment is effective for annual reperting periods beginning on or after 1 January 2022 with
earlier adoption permitted.

The amendments is not applicable to the Group.

IFRS 9 Financial Instruments — Fees in the 10 per cent’ test for derecognition of financial
liabilities

As part of its 2018-2020 annual improvements to IFRS standards process the IASB issued
amendment to IFRS 9. The amendment clarifies the fees that an entity includes when assessing
whether the terms of a new or modified financial liability are substantially different from the terms of
the original financial liability. These fees include only those paid or received by the borrower and the
lender, including fees paid or received by either the barrower or lender on the other's behalf. An entity
applies the amendment to financial liabilities that are modified or exchanged on or after the beginning
of the annual reporting period in which the entity first applies the amendment.

The amendment is effective for annual reporting periods beginning on or after 1 January 2022 with
earlier adoption permitted. The Group will apply the amendments to financial liabilities that are
modified or exchanged on or after the beginning of the annual reporting

period in which the entity first applies the amendment.

The amendments are not expected to have a material impact on the Group.
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Definition of Accounting Estimates - Amendments to IAS 8

In February 2021, the IASB issued amendments to IAS 8, in which it introduces a definition of
‘agcounting estimates'. The amendments clarify the distinction between changes in accounting
estimates and changes in accounting policies and the correction of errors. Also, they clarify how
entities use measurement techniques and inputs to develop accounting estimates.

The amendments are effective for annual reporting periods beginning on or after 1 January 2023 and
apply to changes in accounting policies and changes in accounting estimates that occur on or after
the start of that period. Earlier application is permitted as long as this fact is disclosed.

The amendments are not expected tc have a material impact on the Group.

Disclosure of Accounting Policies - Amendments to 1AS 1 and IFRS Practice Statement 2

in February 2021, the 1ASB issued amendments to IAS 1 and \FRS Practice Statement 2 Making
Materiality Judgements, in which it provides guidance and examples to help entities apply materiality
judgements to accounting policy disclosures. The amendments aim to help entities provide
accounting policy disclosures that are more useful by replacing the requirement for entities to disclose
their ‘significant’ accounting policies with a requirement o disclose their ‘material’ accounting policies
and adding guidance on how entities apply the concept of materiality in making decisions about
accounting policy disclosures.

The amendments to |AS 1 are applicable for annual pericds beginning on or after 1 January 2023 with
earlier application permitted. Since the amendments to the Practice Statement 2 provide non-
mandatory guidance on the application of the definition of material to accounting policy information,
an effective date for these amendments is not necessary.

The Group is currently assessing the impact of the amendments to determine the impact they will
have on the Group's accounting pelicy disclosures.

62. COMPARATIVE FIGURES

Some of the comparative figures in the consolidated financial statements for the year 2020 have been
reciassified to be consistent with the year 2021 presentation, with no effect on profit and equity for the
year 2020,
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